TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THEIR EFFICACY IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS IN MASERU SECONDARY SCHOOLS

BY:

TŠELE ISHMAEL SETAI

(Student Number: 201905487)

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF EDUCATION (SPECIALISATION IN PSYCHOLOGY OF EDUCATION)

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS IN THE FACULTY OF EDUCATION, NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF LESOTHO

SUPERVISOR: DR. RETŠELISITSOE MATHEOLANE

AUGUST 2023

DECLARATION

I, Tšele Ishmael Setai hereby declare that this dissertation titled 'Teachers' perceptions of their

efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools' is the result of my own

independent research and intellectual endeavor. I affirm that this work has not been submitted, in

whole or in part, for the award of any other degree or qualification at any institution of higher

learning.

I further declare that all sources used in the preparation of this dissertation have been duly

acknowledged and cited. Any material, whether directly quoted or paraphrased from the works of

others has been appropriately referenced and attributed. The contributions of other researchers and

scholars are duly recognised and acknowledged through proper references. Therefore, I declare

this work as originally mine and it is hereby presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for

the degree of Master of Education (M. ED).

The Work was done under the guidance and supervision of Dr. Retšelisitsoe Matheolane, at the

Faculty of Education; Department of Educational Foundations; National University of Lesotho.

By signing this declaration, I affirm that the statements made herein are to the best of knowledge

and belief true and accurate.

Tšele Ishmael Setai

201905487

SIGNATURE DATE

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest appreciation and gratitude to those who have supported me throughout the journey of completing this dissertation. Their guidance, encouragement and assistance have been invaluable in shaping this study.

First and foremost, I am immensely grateful to my supervisor Dr. Retšelisitsoe Matheolane for her continuous support, expertise and valuable insights. Her guidance and constructive feedback have been instrumental in shaping the direction of this research. I am thankful for her dedication, patience and willingness to go above and beyond in assisting me throughout the process

I am deeply grateful to my family and friends for their unwavering support, love and encouragement throughout this journey. To my mother, 'Masophia Setai, I am grateful for your support, continuous love and prayers. I am further grateful to my sisters Sophia Setai and Tsietso Sutha for their valuable support and assistance throughout this research. To my former students Adv. Tiisetso Challa and Malefetsane Matekane thank you for your unwavering support, encouragement and motivation throughout this journey.

I am grateful to the principals of different secondary schools in Maseru that afforded me the opportunity to undertake this research in their schools through interviewing teachers. To the teachers that generously created time to partake in the study, your valuable insights and contributions have provided significant depth and richness to this study. Without your contributions this research would not have been possible.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the Board and Principal of Qoaling High School for allowing me to further my studies and I am sure that the expertise gained in this qualification will be of significant benefit to the school.

DEDICATION

My dedication goes first and foremost to God; the ultimate source of wisdom and guidance. It is through his divine grace that all my endeavours related to study were a success. To my mother; Mrs. 'Masophia Setai and my brothers, thank you for your unwavering encouragement, moral support and understanding throughout my studies.

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

- **B. ED** Bachelor of Education
- **B. ED (Honours)** Bachelor of Education (Honours)
- M. ED- Masters of Education
- **MOET-** Ministry of Education and Training
- NGOs- Non-Governmental Organisations
- **PGDip** Post Graduate Diploma
- **DES** Diploma in Education Secondary

ABSTRACT

Lesotho is reported to have a high number of orphaned learners with 49, 698 orphans enrolled in Secondary Schools. Out of this number, 12, 846 orphans are in schools in the Maseru district. The gross enrolment rate of orphaned learners in secondary schools stands at 51.2%, with a completion rate at 37.5%. These figures point to the need for teachers who can take care of such learners and ensure that they complete their studies. The aim of the current study is to determine teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. In this qualitative research, data was collected using semi-structured interviews with twelve teachers selected from six secondary schools in Maseru district. Thematic data analysis was used to analyse the data collected. The study's findings revealed that teachers perceive themselves to be highly efficacious because they are skilled in various areas such as communication, classroom management, parenting, interpersonal, referral, and counselling. The findings further disclosed that the sources of their efficacy beliefs include teaching experience, training, support from colleagues and school management, previous experience, subjects taught, reading books, policies, and mentorship. Participants in this study further asserted that their positive efficacy beliefs make them confident, stay motivated, happy, patient, prepared, open-minded and empathic in dealing with orphaned learners. The strategies used by the teachers to support orphaned learners include zero tolerance toward discrimination, provision of counselling, extracurricular activities for orphaned learners' social integration, competitions and positive reinforcements. The current study recommends that principals provide teachers with requisite professional development opportunities update their skills regularly to deal with orphaned learners. Moreover, the study recommends that higher education institutions develop specialised training programs to equip student teachers with skills to address the needs of different vulnerable learners, including orphans. Lastly, the study recommends that the Ministry of Education and Training offer support systems and resources necessary to secondary school teachers.

Keywords: Teachers' perceptions, Efficacy, Teaching, Orphan, Learner, Secondary Schools.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS	v
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND TH	IE CONTEXT OF THE STUDY1
1.1 INTRODUCTION	
1.2 BACKGROUND OF THE STUD	PY2
1.3 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLE	EM 5
1.4 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF T	HE STUDY6
1.5 RESEARCH QUESTIONS	6
1.6 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUD	Y
1.7 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	Z7
1.7.1 Mastery Experience	8
1.7.2 Vicarious Experience	8
1.7.3 Verbal Persuasion	8
1.7.4 Physiological States	9
1.8 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	9
1.8.1 Research Paradigm	9
1.8.2 Research Design	
1.8.3 Research Approach	
1.8.4 Participants	
1.8.5 Data Collection Techniques.	11
1.8.6 Data Processing	
1.8.7 Data Analysis	
1.8.8 TRUSTWORTHINESS	
1.8.11 Confirmability	14
1.8.12 Transferability	
1.9 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
1.9.1 Permission to conduct the stu	ıdy15
1.9.2 Voluntary participation	
1.9.3 Confidentiality and Anonym	ity16
1.9.4 Beneficence	16

	1.9.5	Plagiarism	17
	1.9.6	Honesty	17
	1.10	DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS	17
	1.11	ORGANISATION OF THE STUDY	18
	1.12	SUMMARY	19
C	HAPT:	ER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	21
	2.1	INTRODUCTION	21
	2.2	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	21
	2.2.1	Sources of self-efficacy	22
	2.4	TEACHER'S EFFICACY IN TEACHING LEARNERS	27
	2.5 FA	ACTORS THAT INFORM TEACHERS' EFFICACY IN TEACHING LEARNERS	29
	2.5.1	Training	29
	2.5.2	Mentorship	30
	2.6 LEAR	THE INFLUENCE OF TEACHERS' EFFICACY IN HOLISTICALLY SUPPORTING THE INFLUENCE OF TEACHERS	
		TRATEGIES THAT EFFICACIOUS TEACHERS USE TO SUPPORT LEARNERS .	
	2.7.1	Creation of a nurturing learning atmosphere	32
	2.7.2	Using visual aids	
	2.7.3	Using innovative teaching approaches	34
	2.7.4	Using learner-centered pedagogy	34
	2.7.5	Using mastery-based approach	35
	2.7.6	Using individualised and collaborative learning	36
	2.7.7	Positive discipline	37
	2.8	SUMMARY	37
C	HAPT	ER 3: METHODOLOGY	39
	3.1	INTRODUCTION	39
	3.2	RESEARCH PARADIGM	39
	3.3	RESEARCH DESIGN	41
	3.4	RESEARCH APPROACH	41
	3.4.1	Qualitative Approach	41
	3.5	PARTICIPANTS	42
	3.6	DATA GENERATION METHODS	44
	3.7	PILOTING	44
	3.8	DATA PROCESSING	45
	3.9	DATA ANALYSIS	46

3.9.1	Thematic analysis	47
3.10	TRUSTWORTHINESS	48
3.10.1	Dependability	48
3.10.2	Confirmability	48
3.10.3	Transferability	49
3.10.4	Credibility	49
3.10.5	Member Checking	49
3.11	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	50
3.11.1	Authorisation to conduct the research in the target community	50
3.11.2	Voluntary participation	50
3.11.3	Informed consent	51
3.11.4	Honesty	52
3.11.5	Beneficence	53
3.12	SUMMARY	53
CHAPTEF	R 4: PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	54
4.1 IN	NTRODUCTION	54
	EACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THEIR EFFICACY IN TEACHING ORF	
4.2.1	Effective Communication Skills	
4.2.2	Classroom Management	56
4.2.3	Parenting Skills	57
4.2.4	Interpersonal skills	59
4.2.5	Referral Skills	60
4.2.6	Character	61
4.2.7	Counselling Skills	62
4.2.8	Spiritual values	62
	EACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON THE FACTORS THAT INFORM TEAC ACY BELIEFS IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS	
4.3.1	Teaching experience	63
4.3.2	Training	
4.3.3	Support	
4.3.4	Background	67
4.3.5	Subjects Taught	
4.3.6	Reading books	69
	110001112	

4.3.8	Mentorship	70
	ARCHERS PERCEPTIONS ON HOW THEIR EFFICACY BELIEFS INFLUED HOLISTICALLY SUPPORT ORPHANED LEARNERS	
4.4.1	Confidence	71
4.4.2	Motivation	72
4.4.3	Happiness	73
4.4.4	Patience	73
4.4.5	Preparation	74
4.4.6	Open-mindedness	74
4.4.7	Empathy	75
	RATEGIES THAT EFFICACIOUS TEACHERS USE TO SUPPORT ORPHA	
4.5.1	Ensuring zero tolerance toward discrimination	75
4.5.2	Provision of Counselling	77
4.5.3	Using extra-curricular activities for orphaned learners' social integrations	77
4.5.4	Use of competitions and positive reinforcements	78
4.5.5	Progression	80
4.6 Su	mmary	80
CHAPTER	5: DISCUSSIONS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	82
5.1 IN	TRODUCTION	82
5.2 DIS	SCUSSIONS	82
5.2.1	Teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners	
5.2.2 I	Factors that inform teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners	
5.2.2.1	Teaching experiences	87
5.2.2.2	Training	88
5.2.2.3	Support	
5.2.2.4	Background	
5.2.2.5	Subjects taught	
5.2.2.6	Reading Books	
5.2.2.7	Policies	
5.2.2.8	Mentorship	90
5.2.3 learners 9	The influence of teachers' efficacy beliefs in holistically supporting orphaned	
5.2.3.1	Confidence	91
5.2.3.2	Patience	91

5.2.3.3	Preparation	92
5.2.3.4	Open-mindedness	92
5.2.3.5	Empathy	92
5.2.3.6	Motivation	93
5.2.3.7	Happiness	93
5.2.4	Strategies that efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners	94
5.2.4.1	Ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination	94
5.2.4.2	Provision of counselling	94
5.2.4.3	Using extra-curricular activities for orphaned learners' social integrations	95
5.2.4.4	Use of competitions and positive reinforcements	95
5.2.4.5	Retaining orphaned learners through progression	96
5.3 C	CONCLUSIONS	97
5.4 L	IMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	98
5.5 R	RECOMMENDATIONS	98
5.5.1	Recommendation to the teachers	98
5.5.2	Recommendations to the principals	99
5.5.3	Recommendations to the Higher Institutions	100
5.5.4	Recommendations to the Ministry of Education and Training	100
5.6 S	UMMARY	101
REFEREN	NCES	102
APPENDI	CES	133
APPEN	DIX A: Interview questions	133
APPEN	DIX B: A letter to MOET	134
APPEN	DIX C: Letter from MOET	135
APPEN	DIX D: Letter to the principals	136
APPEN	DIX E: Consent letter to the participants	137
APPEN	DIX F: Sample of Transcriptions	138
APPEN	DIX G: Originality Report	143
APPEN	DIX H: Certificate of Language Editing	144

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND THE CONTEXT OF THE STUDY

1.1 INTRODUCTION

In the context of education globally, teachers have a crucial role in influencing the educational journeys of their learners. One crucial factor that influences their ability to create an effective classroom environment is their perceived efficacy in teaching. The influence of teacher efficacy on student outcomes has been documented in educational studies (Fullan, 2014; Mieghem et al, 2018; Miller et al., 2017). When teachers possess a strong sense of efficacy, they can adeptly engage and guide their students, even those facing challenges such as low motivation or difficult circumstances (Woolfolk, 2004). However, for orphaned learners who often grapple with the loss of parents and experience other challenges, the presence of efficacious teachers becomes even more crucial.

In accordance with the Ministry of Education and Training (2018), Maseru secondary schools are a home to approximated 12, 846 orphaned learners who experience many challenges due to loss of parents. These challenges include amongst others, lack of necessities such as school uniforms as well as psychological conditions like depression and anxiety which hinder such learners' ability to engage in the learning process without distractions (Ntuli et al., 2020). These hardships can hinder their ability to effectively engage in the learning process, leading to lower retention rates and an alarming prevalence of dropouts. The Ministry of Education and Training (2016) highlights the severity of the situation, revealing that in 2015, the gross enrolment rate of orphaned learners in secondary schools was 51.2%, with a completion rate of only 37.5%. These figures underscore the urgent need to address the challenges faced by orphaned learners and improve their educational outcomes. Against this backdrop, this study seeks to shed light on the existing situation in Maseru secondary schools, where teachers may not be aware of their efficacy in addressing the needs of orphaned learners.

This chapter first outlines the background of the study and the statement of the problem. It then outlines the aims, objectives and research questions. The chapter ends by providing a brief

explanation of the underlying theoretical framework guiding this study and the research methodologies employed.

1.2 BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY

In Maseru, secondary schools serve as home to approximated 12, 846 orphaned learners (Ministry of Education and Training, 2018). According to the Ministry of Education and Training (2016) in its Education Sector Plan of 2021-2023, the gross enrolment rate of orphaned learners in secondary schools was 51.2% in 2015, while the completion rates of such orphans was 37.5%. This suggests that orphaned learners' retention and completion rates need attention. Such high attrition rates are attributed to numerous challenges that orphaned learners face both at home and at school.

One of the challenges which orphaned learners may encounter at school may be psycho-social difficulties. According to Ntuli et al. (2020), orphaned learners experience more unfavourable psycho-social difficulties than their peers. Ansell and Young (2004) reiterate that orphaned learners face numerous challenges such as mental health issues, educational challenges, and instability. Ansell and Young (2004) stipulate that the loss of parent(s) leads to loss of income and stability. As a result, orphaned learners are at a higher risk of developing psychological challenges like depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress which may affect their ability to attend school regularly and actively participate in learning. Parents' death results in emotional suppression in children and likelihood of depression, despair, loneliness, and hostility. These conditions can negatively affect their educational achievements (Stroebe et al., 2000). The psychological impacts stated earlier can make it difficult for teachers to ensure orphaned learners' high academic performance. This is because the early loss of a significant caregiver tends to render such learners to stress that may hinder them from grasping the content being delivered in the classroom.

Since parents are family breadwinners, their deaths may cause economic disruptions that may lead to limited concentration of orphaned learners in the classroom. This is because orphaned learners are susceptible to being taken advantage of as they lack essential needs like parental affection, proper school attire, and study materials (Oyedele et al., 2016). Orphaned learners are likely

exposed to financial abuse because sometimes guardians may often deprive them of their inheritance (Oyedele et al., 2016). As a result of this financial abuse, orphaned learners may find ways of generating income to meet their needs often at the detriment of their educational commitments. Consequently, orphaned learners may not perform according to the required standards and their abilities due to a lack of study time (Gökçe, 2019). Hence teachers' efficacy is of necessity in the teaching of orphaned learners in schools.

Due to inability to provide for necessities such as food, Kafwa (2005) stipulates that orphaned learners are more likely to be malnourished. Malnourishment can negatively impact the physical health of orphaned learners in various ways. Lack of essential nutrients can weaken their immune system thus making them more susceptible to infections and diseases (Drah, 2012). This can make orphaned learners face significant barriers in attending school regularly (Yosef et al., 2023). Malnourishment can also lead to cognitive deficits and hinder learning abilities as proper nutrition is essential for brain development, memory retention, and concentration (Drah, 2012). Malnourished learners may struggle with comprehension, retention of information, and overall academic achievement, leading to lower grades and decreased motivation to attend school (Iwaloye et al., 2022). Therefore, it is important for orphaned learners to be provided with vital nutrients for them to be able to perform better at school.

The incompleteness of families undermines the role of a family, leading orphaned learners to occasionally face challenges in their learning process. This is because of absence of daily nurturing, affection, assistance, and encouragement from their parents as those essential to every child. This makes it hard for orphaned learners to engage with the content delivered at school as family incompleteness and disharmony at home caused by the absence of parents due to death are non-academic factors that can make even a brilliant learner to underachieve (Oyedele et al., 2016). Due to the challenges that orphaned learners experience, there is a need for teachers who work with orphaned learners to have a high level of self-efficacy in order to address the challenges that such learners face in all spheres of their lives, both at home and at school. (Epstein, 2002; McBride, 2002). Hence the existence of the current study in the context of secondary schools.

1.2.1 Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy represents an individual's belief in their ability to impact their surroundings and sustain their motivation when confronted with obstacles. As per Bandura (1977, 1986, 1997), an individual's self-efficacy pertains to their confidence in their capacity to carry out the necessary actions essential for attaining specific performance outcomes. Having confidence in one's ability to influence personal driving forces, actions, and social surroundings signifies self-reliance. Such self-assessments of cognitive capabilities influence various facets of human existence, including the objectives individuals establish, the level of exertion they invest in pursuing those objectives, and the likelihood of attaining particular behavioural levels. Teachers possessing strong levels of self-efficacy cultivate a school atmosphere that provides students with psycho-social support, thereby contributing to the establishment of conducive conditions for effective teaching and learning. The challenges, such as mental health issues, encountered by orphaned learners become even more pronounced for those who prematurely abandon their education. Ntuli et al. (2020) affirm that orphans contend with psychological difficulties and exhibit heightened internalising problems. Teachers characterised by elevated self-efficacy are better equipped to address the needs of these orphaned learners in this context. As a result, capable and innovative educators exert a positive influence on learners' performance by establishing a resilient and sustainable learning environment, utilising strategies that facilitate improved comprehension and learning outcomes (Nelson, 2007). This then could suggest the essence of teachers' self-efficacy regarding orphaned learners in secondary schools.

Despite the fact that teaching orphaned learners requires teachers with high levels of efficacy, there seems to be paucity of information with regards to how teachers perceive their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners who face many challenges due to orphanhood in the context of Lesotho. Studies relating to efficacy in Lesotho focus on principals' self-efficacy in their managerial competencies and teachers' efficacy in teaching and supporting visually impaired learners among others (Mphutlane, 2018; Mosola, 2020; Tseeke, 2021). Therefore, the current study aims to fill the information gap in the literature by exploring teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools.

1.3 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Education is essential in determining learners' future as it widens their opportunities (Holfender, 2019). Despite its importance, some learners do not adequately have access to it due to different challenges that they face (Walton & Engelbrecht, 2022). Amongst such learners are orphans who experience challenges such as emotional trauma, lack of stability, stress, anxiety, and lack of both necessities and learning materials (Ntuli et al., 2020). These challenges negatively affect their academic performance and participation in learning.

Within the estimated number of orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools by the Ministry of Education and Training (2018), some orphans drop out of school due to different challenges which they face. In 2018, it was reported that the completion rates in secondary schools were poor (Ministry of Education and Training, 2018). This indicates high dropout rates as the completion rates are meager. Therefore, teaching orphaned learners require highly skilled and motivated teachers. Amongst such teachers are those who possess self-efficacy to ensure successful access to education and academic success of such learners despite the challenges that they face (Good & Brophy, 2003). This is because efficacious teachers positively impact learners' performance by creating a robust and a conducive learning environment that improves students' productivity by implementing strategies that pave the way for better learning and understanding (Nelson, 2007). Efficacious teachers enhance a school atmosphere that affords students psycho-social support, contributing to developing constructive conditions for efficient teaching and learning (Epstein, 2002). These attributes of efficacious teachers can enable them to ensure orphaned learners' academic success regardless of the challenges that such learners' experience.

In as much as self-efficacy is essential for teaching orphaned learners, it is unclear as to the existence of self-efficacy in teachers with regards to teaching orphaned learners as well as how teachers feel about their efficacy beliefs in teaching such learners in Lesotho. Studies conducted in Lesotho seem to have focused on self-efficacy in relation to principals' managerial competencies and teachers' support to visually impaired learners (Mphutlane, 2018; Mosola, 2020; Tseeke, 2021). Therefore, this study seeks to investigate how teachers view their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools.

1.4 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY

The aim of this study was to explore teacher's perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. The particular objectives arising from this aim are:

- 1.4.1 To determine teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools.
- 1.4.2 To investigate teachers' perceptions on the factors that inform their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools.
- 1.4.3 To determine teachers' perceptions on how their efficacy beliefs influence them to holistically support orphaned learners.
- 1.4.4 To determine strategies that efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners.

1.5 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The study's main research question is: What are teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools? This research question is divided into the following sub-questions:

- 1.5.1 How do teachers perceive their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools?
- 1.5.2 What are teachers 'perceptions on the factors that inform teachers' efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools?
- 1.5.3 How does the perceived teachers' efficacy influence them to holistically support orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools?
- 1.5.4 What strategies do efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners?

1.6 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY

Currently, there seems to be paucity of information on Maseru secondary schools' teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. Available literature (Mphutlane, 2018; Mosola, 2020; Tseeke, 2021) speaks to principals' efficacy perceptions in their managerial

competencies and teachers' self-efficacy in supporting visually impaired learners respectively but appears not to explicitly deal with how teachers perceive their level of efficacy in dealing with orphaned learners. The findings of this study intent to close the knowledge gap on teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. The current study findings may inform the development of policies and interventions aimed at improving the educational experiences and outcomes of orphaned learners. The findings can also foster collaboration between teachers, schools, NGOs and government agencies to create a more supportive educational environment for orphaned learners in order to ensure their academic achievement. In essence, the current study can contribute to better educational practices, policies, and support systems for orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools, ultimately enhancing their educational experiences and outcomes.

1.7 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The present study investigated how teachers view their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners within Maseru secondary schools, employing Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory as a conceptual framework. Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory emphasises the importance of an individual's belief in their own capabilities as a key element in achieving positive results. Through an exploration of teachers' perspectives on their efficacy beliefs, the aim was to ascertain their capacity to establish an inclusive classroom atmosphere that fosters academic achievement, especially among orphaned learners.

Self-efficacy, according to Bandura (1994), refers to an individual's assessment of their capability to carry out the necessary actions to manage potential situations. It signifies an individual's beliefs in their ability to control their motivation, conduct, and social surroundings. Bandura's theory of self-efficacy emphasises the connection between an individual's belief in their capabilities and their readiness to perform a specific task effectively (Bahmanabadi & Buluchzade, 2013). Bandura's self-efficacy theory is rooted in understanding the correlation between an individual's confidence in their abilities and their willingness to proficiently perform a given task (Shooter, 2013).

Self-efficacy perceptions play a pivotal role in motivating individuals to persist in their actions (Bandura, 1977). When individuals have higher confidence in their abilities, they are more motivated to undertake tasks and achieve success. The stronger an individual's perceived self-efficacy, the more resolute and committed they become to accomplishing a task successfully, irrespective of the surrounding circumstances. In the context of the current study, teachers who have high efficacy beliefs are able to successfully teach orphaned learners and ensure their academic achievement despite the challenge that the said learners face. In the current study, the self-efficacy theory is pertinent as it serves as a framework to examine teachers' perceptions of their self-efficacy in teaching orphaned learners within Maseru secondary schools. Bandura (1977) has outlined four distinct sources of self-efficacy: mastery experience, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and physiological states, each of which is explained in detail below.

1.7.1 Mastery Experience

Morris et al. (2017) point out that the most influential source of self-efficacy is mastery experience, which entails achieving objectives through direct personal engagement in specific actions. The theory proposes that in order for an individual's confidence in their efficacy to strengthen, they must have confronted and surmounted the challenges associated with the particular task.

1.7.2 Vicarious Experience

Vicarious experience involves observing others as they engage in a task and then forming perceptions about one's own capabilities to undertake that task. If the observed individual accomplishes the task successfully, the observer gains confidence in their ability to similarly succeed. Conversely, if the observed person fails at the task, the observer might become disheartened (Paulus et al., 2013). Jung et al. (2020) suggest that witnessing others who are comparable in some way perform a specific task and excel in it can heighten the observer's belief in their self-efficacy. However, when similar individuals fail at that task, the observer may develop a notion that they themselves cannot triumph in that particular task.

1.7.3 Verbal Persuasion

As per Bandura (1977), verbal persuasion refers to the act of persuading an individual that they possess the capability to effectively complete a task. An individual's self-efficacy beliefs can grow if they are persuaded and hold a strong conviction that they possess the necessary attributes to succeed in performing a task. Contrarywise, in the absence of such persuasion, one may not develop the belief that they are equipped to accomplish a task proficiently (Cialdini, 2016).

1.7.4 Physiological States

According to Bandura (1977), an individual's perceived self-efficacy is influenced by the feedback provided by their physiological states when they encounter challenging situations. Negative physiological states like high stress levels can negatively impact one's assessment of their self-efficacy, as such states can be associated with an inability to perform a task. Conversely, positive physiological states can lead individuals to interpret their physical condition as linked to their capability to perform a task, consequently boosting their self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977).

Given the substantial number of orphaned learners, approximately 12,846, enrolled in Maseru secondary schools (Ministry of Education and Training, 2018), it becomes crucial for teachers to grasp their own self-efficacy beliefs. This understanding is essential for teachers to effectively assist orphaned learners in overcoming the challenges they encounter both at home and at school. Bandura's self-efficacy theory is particularly pertinent to this study, as it provides the framework for assessing teachers' confidence in their ability to successfully educate orphaned learners.

1.8 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This section outlines the research methodology employed in the present study. McGregor and Murnane (2010) define research methodology as a structured approach to addressing problems, encompassing techniques for describing, explaining, and forecasting phenomena. Research methodology aims at establishing a well-defined roadmap for conducting a study, focusing on the stages encompassed, data collection and analysis methods employed. It also underscores the measures taken to ensure the study's credibility and ethical conduct.

1.8.1 Research Paradigm

The present study embraced the interpretive paradigm. This paradigm posits that reality is shaped through social constructs and can differ from one person to another (Schwartz-Shea & Yanow, 2012). Creswell (2014) explains that the interpretive paradigm recognises that individuals interpret their experiences uniquely. Additionally, researchers following the interpretive paradigm typically conduct their investigations within the actual environments of their participants to gain a deeper understanding of the phenomena under scrutiny (Creswell, 2014). In line with this paradigm, the researcher interacted with the participants within their natural settings to gain a comprehensive insight into the meanings they attributed to their perceptions of their abilities in teaching orphaned learners.

1.8.2 Research Design

Research design is a blueprint that delineates the structure of a study (Chisaka, 2013). In this investigation, the multiple cross-sectional design was utilised. The multiple cross-sectional design entails selecting two or more sets of participants, with each group being sampled only once. The primary aim of this design is to gather data from various groups to develop a holistic comprehension of the phenomenon under investigation (Bryman & Bell, 2007).

1.8.3 Research Approach

The present study was conducted using a qualitative approach, aligning with the interpretive paradigm. As outlined by McMillian and Schumacher (2010), the qualitative approach seeks to comprehend how individuals interpret and give meaning to their experiences and the world around them. This method aims to grasp the societal reality of individuals, groups, and cultures by deeply engaging with the study's participants. It further allows the researcher to interact closely with the participants, understanding their lived experiences, perspectives, emotions, and the significances they ascribe (Creswell, 2003). The qualitative approach was found suitable for this study, as it facilitated extensive interaction between the researcher and secondary school teachers in Maseru, enabling an exploration of their perceptions regarding their self-efficacy in teaching orphaned learners.

1.8.4 Participants

The participants for this study were selected from teachers working in secondary schools located in the Maseru district. This choice was driven by the researcher's belief that teachers could offer a comprehensive and informed perspective on the phenomenon being investigated. In qualitative research, the usual range of participants varies from three to fifteen (Creswell, 2014). For this particular study, a total of twelve (12) teachers were involved as participants.

1.8.4.1 Selection of participants

Participant selection involves choosing a specific number of individuals from a larger defined group. A commonly utilised method for participant selection in qualitative research, particularly to gather insights from knowledgeable and adept participants concerning the phenomena of interest, is purposive sampling (Palinkas et al., 2015). Purposive sampling aims to deliberately choose individuals who can offer rich and comprehensive insights into the studied phenomena. In this study, the researcher employed purposive sampling to identify twelve participants who were likely to provide extensive and insightful information about the subject under investigation (Creswell & Clark, 2011; Creswell, 2014).

Purposive sampling is a technique where participants are selected based on specific criteria derived from the research question or objectives (Cohen et al., 2018). For this study, teachers with a minimum of five years of experience in secondary schools were chosen to participate. This decision was made on the assumption that these teachers would possess substantial knowledge about teaching and learning, particularly with orphaned learners. Additionally, teachers with five years of experience might hold distinct perceptions about their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. To ensure diverse viewpoints, both male and female teachers were included in the study. This approach aimed to capture a range of perspectives on their beliefs about their capabilities in instructing orphaned learners.

1.8.5 Data Collection Techniques

The present study employed semi-structured interviews as the data generation method. In this form of interview, the interviewer has a limited number of predefined questions (Pollock, 2019). Semi-structured interviews enable the researcher to gain insight into how participants perceive a phenomenon by posing follow-up questions and requesting explanations for their responses

(Creswell, 2003). This approach was chosen to explore participants' perspectives, convictions, and viewpoints concerning the subject under investigation (Nieuwenhuuis, 2010).

1.8.5.1 Piloting

A pilot study was carried out involving three teachers who shared similar characteristics with the participants of the main study. The objective of this pilot was to evaluate the feasibility of the actual study, as the pilot process ensured that the interview questions were clear and easily comprehensible (Polit, 2001). The pilot aided the researcher in determining whether the interview questions would yield a satisfactory variety of responses and whether the main study would generate valuable data for understanding teachers' self-efficacy concerning the education and learning of orphaned students.

1.8.6 Data Processing

As part of the data processing, the content of each interview was transcribed verbatim. According to Cohen et al. (2007), data processing involves a series of actions carried out on data, including organising it logically, transforming it into a usable format, integrating it with other pertinent data, and creating suitable formats for future utilisation. This process encompasses tasks like coding, categorising, tabulating, and charting research data to make it more manageable (Kothari, 2004). The researcher meticulously listened to the interview recordings multiple times to ensure the accurate transcription of participants' information, capturing every spoken word. Following transcription, the process of coding was initiated. As defined by Creswell (2010), coding is a method for categorising and structuring qualitative data to identify emerging themes and establish connections among them. Coding allowed the researcher to systematically arrange the data for further examination and analysis in an organised manner (Gibbs, 2007).

1.8.7 Data Analysis

As outlined by Cohen et al. (2007), qualitative research data analysis involves comprehending and interpreting the perspectives, viewpoints, and experiences of research participants regarding various situations. This process encompasses the identification of common themes, patterns, categories, and recurrent elements. Data analysis employs analytic techniques to transform data

into insights and understanding of the phenomena under investigation. In this study, the researcher examined the collected data to pinpoint themes that directly addressed the research question, in line with Elliott and Timulak's (2005) suggestion that irrelevant information unrelated to the essential and pertinent aspects of the phenomena should be excluded.

Subsequently, the researcher identified these themes using selective coding. In selective coding, the data is organised into themes based on the participants' viewpoints (Bohm, 2004). As such, themes elucidating teachers' levels of self-efficacy in teaching orphaned learners were identified and organised in a narrative structure to facilitate the understanding of the phenomenon being scrutinised.

1.8.8 TRUSTWORTHINESS

According to Simon (2011), validity in qualitative research corresponds to trustworthiness, while dependability is related to credibility. These aspects should be carefully considered by researchers throughout the study's design, data analysis, and quality assessment (Patton, 2001). Trustworthiness serves as a mechanism for researchers to persuade both themselves and their audience that their research findings are deserving of consideration. To ensure the trustworthiness of the research, the researcher employed four measures commonly used by qualitative researchers: credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability. These measures contribute to enhancing the rigor and credibility of the research findings.

1.8.9 Credibility

Credibility, conversely, refers to the extent to which the researcher's portrayal of participants' viewpoints aligns with the actual perspectives of the participants (Tobin & Begley, 2004). It pertains to the accuracy of the collected data (Gagani, 2019). According to De Vos (2005), the objective of credibility is to examine whether the research is truthful, believable, and whether the research findings substantiate the researcher's conclusions. In alignment with this objective, credibility in the present study was ensured through the selection of teachers with over five years of experience, particularly in public schools where orphaned learners are predominantly enrolled. This ensured that participants could provide substantial insights into their perceptions of self-

efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. To guarantee credibility in the current study, the researcher employed member checking. These strategies are described below.

1.8.9.1 Member Checking

In this study, member checking was conducted by sharing the gathered interview data with the participants. Member checking involves presenting the collected data to participants to verify the accuracy of the captured information. Its purpose is to allow participants to rectify any misinterpretations or factual inaccuracies made by the researcher (Creswell, 2014). Additionally, member checking permits participants to supplement any information they may have omitted. This process allowed them to validate their spoken words, affirm their initial statements, and include any additional details they deemed relevant. The aim was to ensure that the findings were either endorsed or not endorsed by the participants in accordance with their own experiences and to assess the alignment of these findings with their actual experiences, as suggested by Gunawan (2005.

1.8.10 Dependability

In this study, the researcher ensured dependability by implementing consistent and systematic procedures during data analysis, which encompassed coding, categorisation, and theme development. Dependability, as defined by Streubert (2007), pertains to the consistency and reliability of research findings and the extent to which research procedures have been comprehensively documented, enabling external reviewers to understand, scrutinise, and evaluate the research process. It predominantly centres on the reliability of the data collection methods (Leedy & Ormord, 2005).

1.8.11 Confirmability

In this study, the interview sessions with participants were meticulously transcribed word for word from tape recordings in order to ensure conformability, Conformability is concerned with the extent to which the findings of a study truly reflect the perspectives of the participants (Polit & Beck, 2017). Exemplary qualitative research is characterised by objectivity and the formulation of conclusions that demonstrate conformability (Polit & Beck, 2017). Conformability ensures that

research outcomes are rooted in participants' actual narratives and words, rather than being influenced by researchers' biases and presumptions (Gale et al., 2017). The meticulous transcription process aimed to eliminate bias and uphold the authenticity of participants' contributions.

1.8.12 Transferability

Transferability relates to the extent to which research findings can be broadly applied and generalised to diverse contexts or environments (Coglan & Miller, 2014). As stated by Merriam (2009), transferability denotes the degree to which the conclusions drawn from one study can be utilised to inform future research endeavors. The concept of transferability underscores that in order for research outcomes to be applicable to various contexts, researchers must thoroughly address all essential components of their work. Hence, in this study, the researcher took measures to ensure that the research process was clearly elucidated and that all fundamental aspects contributing to the phenomenon being studied were comprehensively presented. This approach bolsters the potential for the findings to be transferred and utilised in a broader research context.

1.9 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Creswell (2014) emphasises that researchers have a responsibility to address ethical concerns that might emerge during their studies, as they are tasked with safeguarding the well-being of their participants. Bouma and Ling (2004) further underscore that adhering to ethical standards is crucial to prevent unintended research dilemmas. In the context of this study, several ethical considerations were carefully taken into account. These encompassed obtaining permission to conduct the study, ensuring confidentiality and anonymity, promoting voluntary participation, preventing plagiarism, obtaining informed consent from participants, and upholding honesty in reporting the research outcomes.

1.9.1 Permission to conduct the study

Cohen et al. (2007) advise that researchers should secure formal approval prior to conducting research within the designated community. In alignment with this guidance, the researcher in this study obtained authorisation from both the Ministry of Education and Training as well as the

school principals of the institutions where the participants were selected. This measure was taken to ensure that the research was conducted within the bounds of ethical protocols and guidelines.

1.9.2 Voluntary participation

The participants were extended an invitation to take part in the study voluntarily. Prior to their participation, they were provided with a clear explanation of the study's purpose and objectives. This approach aligns with Fowler's (2009) recommendations, which highlight that, individuals involved in a study should be fully informed about its purpose and have the autonomy to decide whether to participate without any undue pressure. This was undertaken to ensure that participants could make well-informed and voluntary decisions regarding their involvement in the current research.

1.9.3 Confidentiality and Anonymity

Confidentiality refers to a circumstance in which the researcher possesses knowledge of the identities of research participants but implements measures to prevent these identities from being disclosed to others (Ramanathan, 2005). As highlighted by Savin-Baden and Mayor (2010), maintaining confidentiality necessitates the researcher to embody particular personal and professional attributes, such as integrity and respect for the rights of research participants. This is essential for building credibility, trust, and positive research relationships. In this study, pseudonyms were utilised instead of participants' actual names, ensuring that the identities of individuals who shared information could not be discerned. This precaution was taken to uphold the privacy and confidentiality of the participants and their contributions.

1.9.4 Beneficence

Beneficence, as outlined by Pieper and Thomson (2016), pertains to taking actions that contribute to the well-being and safety of others. The principle of beneficence involves maximising potential benefits while minimising potential risks. In the context of this study, researchers can uphold this principle by striving to enhance the benefits participants receive. In the present study, participants were provided with an overview of the research's purpose and objectives (Fowler, 2008). The researcher elucidated the study's aims and goals, highlighting how the participants could gain from

the outcomes. This approach ensured that participants were motivated to engage in the study. As a result, beneficence was observed in the study, as participants benefited from reflecting on their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners and considering ways to enhance the learning environment for these learners.

1.9.5 Plagiarism

Plagiarism encompasses the act of appropriating another person's work and presenting it as one's own (Sox, 2012). It involves utilising someone else's content without attributing or acknowledging their contribution (Helgesson & Eriksson, 2014). To prevent plagiarism in the current study, the researcher refrained from directly copying other authors' concepts by rephrasing them and offering proper citations within the text and in the reference list. Whenever information from other authors was used verbatim, quotation marks were employed to distinctly denote their words. This approach was taken to ensure the integrity and originality of the study's content.

1.9.6 Honesty

The study's findings were accurately reported, without any falsification or fabrication. Honesty in reporting research outcomes is a critical principle that guarantees the impartial presentation of both favourable and unfavourable findings, devoid of manipulation or distortion to suit a particular agenda. It ensures that researchers don't display bias by favouring certain outcomes over others when presenting their findings. This underscores the need for researchers to uphold honesty when conveying results, ensuring credibility and attributing proper credit to the sources of information. This principle was upheld in the current study.

1.10 DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS

Teacher: A teacher is an individual who facilitates the learning of students within an educational setting. Teachers design environments conducive to learning and engage students to foster critical thinking and acceptance of diverse perspectives (Farah, 2013).

Perception: Perception is an active cognitive process through which individuals attribute meaning to incoming sensory information. It plays a crucial role in directing attention, selecting pertinent

information, and structuring that information into a coherent mental representation (Mayer, 2009). Therefore, perceived self-efficacy pertains to the belief in one's capacity to organise and execute the necessary actions to achieve specific goals. It influences individuals' emotions, thoughts, motivation, and subsequently shapes the actions they opt to pursue (Bandura, 1997).

Efficacy: Efficacy refers to an individual's confidence in their ability to carry out the required actions to attain specific performance outcomes (Bandura, 1977).

Teaching: Schlechty (2012) characterises teaching as actively involving students in constructing knowledge and skills, leading to their comprehension and application of concepts and processes. Teaching entails engaging learners to enable them to participate actively in the learning process.

Orphan: Allen and Nakonechnyi (2023) define an orphan as a child under the age of eighteen (18) who has lost one or both parents. Orphans are categorised as double orphans (both parents deceased), maternal orphans (mother deceased but father alive), or paternal orphans (father deceased but mother alive).

Learner: According to the Ministry of Education and Training (2010) in its Education Act of 2010, a learner refers to an individual actively engaged in acquiring knowledge or skills, typically enrolled in an educational institution like a school.

Secondary schools: Within the educational hierarchy, secondary schools fall between primary and tertiary education levels. They encompass both lower and upper secondary stages. In the context of this study, the term 'secondary school' encompasses both levels as defined by the Ministry of Education.

1.11 ORGANISATION OF THE STUDY

This study comprises five distinct chapters, each contributing to the comprehensive exploration of the research topic. A concise description of each chapter is provided below:

Chapter One: Introduction. This chapter serves as the initial entry point into the study, introducing the research's context and problem statement. It establishes the study's significance, outlining its objectives, aim, and research questions. The theoretical framework guiding the

research is also presented. It concludes by summarising the study and providing a succinct overview of the methodologies employed in the investigation.

Chapter Two: Literature Review and Theoretical Framework. Chapter two is dedicated to a meticulous review of pertinent literature and a comprehensive elucidation of the study's theoretical foundation. Drawing on various sources and prior research, this chapter delves into a body of scholarly work relevant to the current study.

Chapter Three: Research Methodology. In this chapter, the research methodology employed in the study is outlined. This encompasses the philosophical underpinning of the research, its chosen research design, participant selection, data collection procedures, data processing, and analysis methods.

Chapter Four: Data Presentation and Analysis. Chapter four is dedicated to the presentation and analysis of the data amassed through interviews. This section involves the organised presentation of collected data and the systematic analysis that unveils patterns, insights, and implications.

Chapter Five: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations. The final chapter engages in discussions arising from the study's findings, culminating in comprehensive conclusions drawn from the research. Additionally, practical recommendations are provided based on the outcomes of the investigation, suggesting potential actions and areas for further research.

Collectively, these chapters construct a thorough and insightful exploration of the study's subject matter, guiding the reader through the research process from inception to conclusion.

1.12 SUMMARY

This chapter served as an introduction to the study, encompassing the study's context and problem statement. It further outlined the study's goals, objectives, research questions, and emphasised its significance. Theoretical framework principles relevant to the study were summarised. In addition, this chapter detailed the methods and methodology to be utilised and furnished definitions for key study terms. It concluded by presenting an overview of the study's structure and a summary of the

chapter. The subsequent chapter will focus on the review of pertinent literature and the theoretical
framework.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapter introduced this study by contextualising the problem of the study and exploring the methodology that was planned to be used in this study. The current chapter delves into the self-efficacy theory and examines how it can be applied as a theoretical framework for this study. Additionally, this chapter reviews existing literature on how teachers perceive their efficacy in teaching orphaned students. Arlene (2014) states that reviewing literature involves providing explanation, overview, and analytical assessment of the existing body of literature relevant to the topic being studied.

2.2 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

This study employed Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory as its conceptual framework. Bandura's (1977) theory of self-efficacy offers insights into the origins of efficacy beliefs and the role that self-efficacy plays in shaping individuals' behaviours. It underscores the significance of individuals' self-efficacy beliefs as a foundational element in attaining fovourable outcomes. The theory facilitated the researcher's grasp of the specific aspects of teachers' self-efficacy that are crucial in enhancing learners' learning experiences and their support within secondary educational settings.

Self-efficacy, as defined by Bandura (1994), corresponds to an individual's belief in their capacity to effectively overcome challenges. This concept encompasses one's confidence in effectively controlling motivation, conduct, and the social context. According to Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory, an individual's perception of their capabilities in tasks shapes their cognitive patterns and influences their success in accomplishing objectives. Individuals with elevated self-efficacy foresee success and are driven to complete tasks and achieve goals, whereas those with lower self-efficacy concentrate on potential obstacles and anticipate failure. Individuals possessing high self-efficacy perceive intricate tasks as opportunities for mastery, thereby fostering curiosity

and motivation (Bandura, 1994). This comprehension of self-efficacy has assisted researcher in comprehending teachers' convictions and their effects on teaching orphaned learners.

2.2.1 Sources of self-efficacy

As per Bandura (1977, 1994, 1997, 2011), there exist four origins of self-efficacy. These encompass mastery accomplishments, observational experiences, verbal encouragement, as well as emotional and psychological conditions. These origins mold an individual's self-efficacy convictions and their capacity to establish and accomplish forthcoming objectives (Penny, 2008; Gale et al., 2021). These self-efficacy sources function by means of an individual's cognitive processing and are pertinent to the educational setting, along with an individual's assessment of their competence (DeChenne et al., 2015).

2.2.1.1 Mastery experiences

Mastery experiences refer to a person's past successes or failures when attempting a particular activity (Bandura, 1977). Each accomplishment increases self-assurance, while each setback diminishes it (Woolfolk et al., 2005). When individuals have completed a task in the past, they gain confidence in their ability to do it again in the future, despite obstacles. Conversely, failure to complete a task leads to a belief that one cannot succeed in similar situations because an individual's level of efficacy depends on their past successes or failures. Mastery experiences significantly impact individuals' perception of their efficacy (Chen & Yeung, 2015). For example, if teachers consistently experience failure, such as poor student performance, they may lose confidence in their abilities.

On the other hand, a positive view of teachers' abilities boosts their confidence in achieving future goals (Tyler, 2006). Successful mastery experiences foster resilience, perseverance, and the belief that one has what it takes to overcome challenges (Bandura, 1977; Zulkosky, 2009). Teachers who consistently engage in effective teaching practices tend to exhibit higher levels of self-efficacy than those who do not (Shahzad & Naureen, 2017). Therefore, mastery experiences contribute to teachers' self-efficacy and enable them to develop strategies to enhance student engagement and motivation (Shahzad & Naureen, 2017).

2.2.1.2 Vicarious Experiences

Witnessing others perform tasks successfully can give individuals the confidence to succeed in similar activities (Zulkosky, 2009). Individuals strengthen their personal efficacy beliefs by comparing their capabilities to those of others (Bandura, 1989). Observing others who are similar to oneself achieve their goals through consistent effort can strengthen one's belief in their own ability to master similar tasks (Bandura in 1977). Watching successful performances can give individuals more confidence in their ability to accomplish similar tasks successfully (Cherry, 2017). Schunk (1991) reiterates that individuals benefit from observing models displaying higher motivation during instruction than those who do not observe a model. The most significant effects of observing a model occur when models are perceived as similar to oneself (Schunk & Meece, 2006).

Vicarious experiences can positively or adversely affect individuals' efficacy beliefs (Bandura, 1994). Observing others succeed gives observers the conviction that they can succeed while witnessing failure can instil doubt in their capabilities. In the context of teachers, vicarious experiences with other teachers regarded as similar can either heighten or hamper their efficacy beliefs (Wang'eri & Otanga, 2014). The relationship between the observer's abilities and those of the model determines how vicarious experiences influence self-efficacy. In situations where individuals have experienced repeated failure or have limited experience, vicarious experiences can have a more negative impact (Bandura, 1997). Therefore, the characteristics and similarities between the observer and the model are crucial in influencing the development of teachers' self-efficacy beliefs.

2.2.1.3 Verbal Persuasions

Verbal persuasion also plays a significant role in shaping self-efficacy beliefs. When individuals receive vocal encouragement and positive feedback about their performance, they are more likely to exert effort and persevere through challenges (Redmond, 2010; Luneburg, 2011). Vocal comments from others regarding performance on a task are interpreted as indicators of one's level of efficacy in completing it (Bandura, 1994). Encouragement, compliments, and praise from colleagues, principals, community members, and other stakeholders can boost teachers' self-efficacy beliefs (Bandura, 1994). However, the feedback provider's credibility and sincerity

influence verbal persuasion's impact (Gale et al., 2021). Whether positive or negative, the opinions of observers not respected or trusted by teachers may not impact their self-efficacy. Therefore, it is essential for verbal persuasion to be realistic and presented in a credible manner to foster growth in teachers' self-efficacy (Gale et al., 2021).

Negative feedback and criticism can undermine self-efficacy beliefs, just as positive feedback can enhance them (Bandura, 1986). People who believe they lack abilities tend to avoid complex tasks and quickly give up when faced with challenges (Bandura, 1994). Scholars state that when claims of unrealistic effectiveness are false, it frequently lowers a person's self-confidence and belief in their abilities (Bandura, 1994; Chen & Yeung, 2015). Verbal responses and persuasions can significantly impact teachers' efficacy beliefs, especially when faced with adversities and challenges (Bandura, 1977, 1986; Chen & Yeung, 2015). Teachers who receive constructive criticism and guidance can effectively influence their students' learning using verbal persuasion (Dibapile, 2012). By providing feedback that emphasises effort and offers specific suggestions for improvement, teachers can motivate and inspire students to excel (Shaughnessy, 2004). For example, teachers can guide learners on how best to solve particular problems upon realising that learners are struggling with such problems. This type of feedback acknowledges the students' efforts and provides them with a clear path to success.

Verbal persuasion is particularly influential for new teachers. Feedback from students, such as their excitement and engagement, can be a source of encouragement and motivation (Mulholland & Wallace, 2001). Similarly, feedback and advice from experienced teachers can provide valuable guidance and support for novice teachers (Nina et al., 2016). By receiving positive verbal persuasions and constructive feedback, beginning teachers can cultivate a heightened self-efficacy perception and feel empowered to improve their teaching practices.

It is significant to note that the impact of verbal persuasion on self-efficacy is contingent upon the source's context and credibility. Empty praise or insincere compliments may not have a lasting effect on teachers' self-efficacy (Gale et al., 2021). The credibility and trustworthiness of the feedback provider play a significant role in determining its influence. Therefore, feedback must come from credible and respected sources, such as fellow teachers, principals, and other education professionals.

In summary, verbal persuasion through encouragement, feedback, and guidance plays a crucial role in shaping teachers' beliefs about their capabilities. Constructive feedback and credible sources are particularly influential in enhancing self-efficacy. By understanding the impact of vicarious experiences and verbal persuasion, teachers and policymakers can create supportive environments that promote teachers' self-efficacy and improve teaching practices.

2.2.1.4 Emotional and psychological states

Bandura (1977) underscores the significance of emotional and psychological states in the formation of self-efficacy. An individual's emotional responses and psychological conditions, such as anxiety, stress, and mood, can exert a substantial impact on their perception of self-efficacy. For instance, when individuals confront heightened anxiety or stress while engaging in a specific task, they might question their competence to execute that task, ultimately diminishing their self-efficacy. Conversely, positive emotions and a self-assured demeanor can bolster self-efficacy and incentivise individuals to persevere when confronted with difficulties. This is because, teachers' emotional and psychological states profoundly impact their self-efficacy beliefs (Bandura, 1997). Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy (2007) found that teachers who reported higher levels of stress and burnout had lower levels of self-efficacy. This suggests that negative emotional states undermine teachers' confidence in teaching and managing their classrooms effectively.

On the one hand, Bandura (1994) state that individuals' emotional and psychological states can be influenced by their interpretations of their physiological responses. For example, when teachers experience physiological arousal, such as an increased heart rate or sweating, they may interpret these bodily reactions as signs of anxiety or nervousness, leading to decreased self-efficacy. On the other hand, if teachers interpret these physiological responses as signs of excitement or readiness, it can enhance their self-efficacy and performance. Bandura (1994) highlighted the importance of social persuasion in shaping these states. Positive feedback and support from others, such as colleagues, administrators, and students, can boost teachers' emotional and psychological states, enhancing their self-efficacy. Conversely, negative feedback and criticism can undermine teachers' confidence and contribute to a decrease in self-efficacy. Teachers' emotional and psychological states are crucial to developing and maintaining self-efficacy (Bandura, 1994). Understanding how internal and external factors influence these states can provide insights into strategies for supporting teachers and promoting their self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997).

2.3 Orphanhood and teachers' efficacy

Orphaned learners need care and support for them to be encouraged to learn. According to Ntuli et al., (2020), parents' death may impose emotional distress on orphaned learners; thus, teachers must provide care and support to such learners and create a conducive learning environment. Orphans tend to withdraw, isolate themselves and have long-term psychological issues like melancholy, rage, anxiety, and grief due to losing a parent (s) (Newlin et al., 2016; Ntuli et al., 2020). Often, orphans are left alone and become in charge of households (Mogotlane et al., 2010). When orphaned learners become in charge of households, especially the older ones, they become exposed to the stress of running such households and taking care of siblings (Van de Mark, 2015).

As indicated by Mwoma and Pillay (2016), orphaned students, much like other vulnerable peers, have a tendency to discontinue their education prematurely, missing out on opportunities to acquire essential skills and knowledge necessary for overcoming various adversities. Orphaned learners confront financial constraints, malnutrition, inadequate educational resources, and social isolation, all of which increase their susceptibility to academic underperformance (Campbell et al., 2016; Smedley & Pepperell, 2010). Ganga and Mphalala (2013) discovered that a deficiency in appropriate social and emotional support is among the factors that contribute to the withdrawal of isolated learners, such as orphaned students, from school and the development of antisocial behaviour.

Darago (2016) asserts that the global count of orphaned learners within educational institutions is on the rise due to multiple factors, including illnesses and accidents. Consequently, many orphaned students within school communities grapple with an array of challenges stemming from the loss of parental figures (Dibapile, 2012). Educators play a pivotal role in students' education, serving as guides, motivators, and sources of inspiration (Nelson, 2007). Their influence on students' learning and accomplishments is the most direct and influential among all the school-controlled variables (Nelson, 2007). Hence there exists a necessity for educators to uphold positive efficacy beliefs to comprehensively support orphaned learners.

Moreover, educators play a pivotal role in establishing a fovourable learning atmosphere within the classroom and discovering methods to aid students who come across challenges in both their academic and personal spheres (Hattie, 2009; Maranon, 2003; Stronger, 2010; Ward et al., 2008). As a result, innovative and resourceful instructors have a positive effect on students' performance by creating a robust and enduring learning environment that enhances their efficiency through strategies that encourage more substantial engagement and learning on the part of the students (Nelson, 2007).

The confidence teachers have in their own abilities also contributes to students' academic achievements (Barni et al., 2019). Thus, teachers require fovourable beliefs in their own competence in order to foster a supportive learning setting for orphaned learners who are seen as susceptible and prone to academic setbacks due to the difficulties they face both at home and at school (Galos & Aldridge, 2021). Woolfolk and Hoy (1990), along with Woolfolk (2007), suggest that there is proof indicating that teachers' self-efficacy impacts students' academic advancement and holistic growth. Thus, teachers' self-efficacy can be viewed as a crucial element influencing an individual's capacity to apply their skills and knowledge in diverse scenarios (Gorrell & Capron, 1994).

2.4 TEACHER'S EFFICACY IN TEACHING LEARNERS

Teachers' self-efficacy refers to the psychological concept encompassing teachers' confidence in their ability to organise and carry out the necessary actions to achieve specific teaching tasks within specific contexts (Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2001). This belief in their capabilities drives educators to create and deliver instruction that grants students access to content, facilitating the construction of new knowledge and understanding (Lewandowski, 2005). Studies, including those by Rashidi and Moghadam (2014) and Holzberger et al. (2013), underline the correlation between teachers' self-efficacy and student achievement, support, and instructional quality. Klassen and Chiu's (2010) meta-analysis shows a moderate positive link between teacher self-efficacy and student achievement across various subjects.

Teachers' self-efficacy not only influences their interactions with students but also predicts the quality of teacher-student relationships and the classroom environment, subsequently impacting students' outcomes (Miller et al. 2017). This efficacy fosters teachers' ability to manage students' engagement and learning, steering even unmotivated or challenging students in the desired direction (Woolfolk, 2004). Educators who develop close relationships with their students cultivate

positive classroom environments that support effective lesson planning, meaningful instruction, and adept classroom management (Woolfolk et al., 1990), thereby enhancing classroom management practices and establishing a supportive learning environment (Schwarzer & Hallum, 2008). Such an environment promotes cooperation and engagement between both teachers and students (Caprara et al., 2006).

Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs significantly impact students' achievement in multiple ways. Bandura (1997) emphasises that creating a conducive learning environment for enhancing students' cognitive competencies relies heavily on teachers' efficacy beliefs. Those with strong self-efficacy offer consistent, high-quality instruction, enhancing academic achievement (Baecher et al., 2012). Perceived self-efficacy, as outlined by Bandura and Adams (1977), influences one's activities, behaviour patterns, efforts, and persistence when confronted with challenges. Perceived teacher self-efficacy plays a vital role in shaping teaching behaviours and understanding the teaching process as well as aids in identifying training needs and addressing issues related to professional guidance (Gungor & Ozdemir, 2017).

Existing literature on perceived teacher efficacy focuses on inclusive education, care for vulnerable students, and the teaching profession (Campbell et al., 2016; Metin & Temel, 2019; Mosola, 2020; Tseeke, 2021). Metin & Temel's (2019) study suggests that teachers generally perceive high self-efficacy beliefs concerning teaching as a profession. However, when focusing on specific groups, such as orphaned learners, perceptions might differ. Campbell et al. (2016) found that Zimbabwean teachers perceived their roles mainly as teaching, learning, and discipline management, neglecting care for orphaned learners. This low perception of efficacy beliefs indicates that they underestimated their role in providing care and love to vulnerable students. Similarly, Tseeke's (2021) study revealed that teachers' perceived self-efficacy in addressing the needs of visually impaired learners was low due to challenges in skills, resources, and training. Teaching orphaned learners demands specific skills, which, when lacking, can lead to low self-efficacy perceptions. Teachers' perceptions are shaped by available resources and technical expertise (Tseeke, 2021), impacting how they handle different learners, especially vulnerable ones.

In conclusion, teachers' self-efficacy has a profound impact on their teaching effectiveness and student outcomes. Confidence in their abilities empowers them to create a positive learning

environment and effectively manage classroom dynamics, ultimately influencing student achievement and engagement. However, these perceptions are contingent on available resources, training, and skills, especially when dealing with vulnerable learners like orphans.

2.5 FACTORS THAT INFORM TEACHERS' EFFICACY IN TEACHING LEARNERS

2.5.1 Training

Staff developmental trainings are essential in keeping the teachers up to date with the changes affecting educational systems in their contexts. Grossman and Salas (2011) state that professional training stands out as a pivotal element for the success of an organisation. Further, Lee et al. (2004) stress the significance of training teachers to effectively adopt reformed-based practices, particularly in the context of ever-evolving educational systems. The dynamic nature of education necessitates continuous training to ensure alignment with changes. Enhancing teachers' abilities, expertise, and overall effectiveness relies heavily on teacher training (Al-zombi, Sultan & Abdel, 2011). The afore-mentioned statements imply the importance of training teachers continuously.

The importance of teacher training is underscored by its role in facilitating effective learning practices. Conversely, inadequate training contributes to subpar teacher performance (Senior et al., 2018). Trained teachers demonstrate competence by employing effective teaching methodologies to cultivate inclusive and conducive classroom environments, leading to elevated levels of student achievement (Senior et al., 2018). Recognising the transient nature of skills and knowledge, teachers must consistently update their capabilities to ensure learners' skill and knowledge development, as skills can become outdated over time (Shakoor et al., 2013). Gibbs and Coffey (2004) argue that proper investment in training is integral to the development of skills required for effective facilitation of learning. Consequently, an educational system's success hinges on directing resources and efforts towards training teachers (Leach & Liu, 2003).

Training equips teachers with not only skills but also motivation, fostering enthusiasm and dedication towards their roles (Sheridan et al., 2009). Owalabi (2012) and Oviawe (2020) emphasise that adequately prepared and trained teachers yield substantial impacts on student learning within the classroom setting. Consequently, highly qualified educators exhibit enhanced

confidence and self-efficacy compared to those with lower qualifications. However, some teacher training programs need to prepare educators for the realities of teaching diverse learners, including those with special needs and requiring care, love, and support (Wood & Goba, 2011). Hence the necessity of the current study on teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners.

2.5.2 Mentorship

Costa and Garmston (1994) highlighted that mere qualifications and experience do not solely enhance teachers' efficacy. They emphasise the importance of mentoring and cognitive coaching to encourage teachers to reflect on their experiences. They further maintain that mentorship programs are crucial for teachers' growth, enabling them to excel in their teaching roles by providing guidance and support. By participating in mentorship initiatives, teachers can optimise their performance, as these programs offer valuable insights and assistance, helping them navigate their teaching responsibilities effectively. Mentorship programs create an environment in which teachers can refine their instructional strategies. According to Danielson (1999), mentoring has a positive impact on novice teachers, motivating them to experiment with new approaches and develop their teaching methods. Furthermore, mentorship programs enhance job satisfaction and fuel teachers' ambitions for professional growth (Amos & Aabi, 2017).

The significance of mentorship programs lies in their role in equipping teachers with new skills, knowledge, and innovative teaching strategies. These initiatives guide and expose teachers to various techniques that can bolster their classroom practices (John et al., 2021). Recognised as a potent tool, mentoring is directly associated with teachers' efficacy (Yost, 2002). However, the absence of mentorship programmes can potentially hinder teachers' capacity to create inclusive learning environments (Brydges & Mkandawire, 2020). The implication drawn from these statements is that, mentorship is one of the essential programmes that may be of help in dealing with teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners.

2.6 THE INFLUENCE OF TEACHERS' EFFICACY IN HOLISTICALLY SUPPORTING LEARNERS

Teachers with high self-efficacy exhibit confidence in reaching all students, regardless of their academic abilities or background. They believe in their capacity to motivate and engage students, encouraging them to actively participate in learning (Shahzad & Naureen, 2017; Penny, 2008). These teachers are passionate about their profession, and their enthusiasm translates into effective planning and organisation of lessons (Woolfolk Hoy, 2004).

Teachers who possess strong self-efficacy beliefs are better equipped to identify and assist isolated learners, offering them care and support within the educational environment to address their psychosocial needs (Smedley & Pepperell, 2010). These efficacious teachers can identify and tackle challenges faced by isolated learners both at school and home, thereby positively impacting their academic achievements. This high level of efficacy empowers teachers to take on roles typically fulfilled by parents, such as providing emotional support and nurturing, leading to improved academic outcomes (Dibapile, 2012). Through genuine care and concern, teachers can inspire students to respond with heightened commitment and effort, which in turn contributes to enhanced social behaviour and academic performance (Friedman & Kass, 2008).

Teachers who possess the necessary knowledge and skills for inclusive education, particularly for vulnerable and isolated learners like orphans, can effectively support and mentor these students, fostering a sense of inclusion and love (Smedley & Pepperell, 2010). However, studies like Campbell et al. (2016) demonstrate that some teachers primarily perceive their roles as centered around teaching and discipline management, neglecting the care aspect for orphaned learners due to a lack of relevant knowledge and skills. Motsa and Marojele (2016) highlight the importance of teachers having the appropriate care delivery skills to effectively teach and support isolated learners. This could be because teachers often become the primary adult figures that orphaned learners can rely on to fulfill the role typically played by parents (Van Wyk & Lemmer, 2007). This then places a high responsibility on teachers to possess efficacy in addressing not only the academic but also the emotional and social aspects of orphaned learners' development. Consequently, teachers' efficacy significantly influences the support provided to isolated learners.

Teachers with strong self-efficacy are more likely to keep students engaged, dedicate more time to struggling students, and demonstrate a particular focus on what they can teach effectively (Good & Brophy, 2003). On the contrary, teachers with lower self-efficacy might find it challenging to support isolated learners, potentially avoiding difficult situations (McBride, 2002). High self-efficacy encourages teachers to become open-minded, creative, and motivated educators, enabling them to provide comprehensive support to orphaned learners (Fullan, 2014; Marzano et al., 2001; Slonge, 2002; Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2000). Through these qualities, teachers can offer holistic assistance to orphaned learners, fostering both their academic and personal development.

2.7 STRATEGIES THAT EFFICACIOUS TEACHERS USE TO SUPPORT LEARNERS

In the dynamic landscape of education, the role of teachers as facilitators of learning remains pivotal. As learners exhibit diverse learning needs and abilities, it becomes imperative for teachers to employ effective strategies that cater to these individual differences and foster meaningful learning experiences. These strategies include, creation of nurturing learning atmosphere, use of visual aids, use of innovative teaching approaches, use of learner centred pedagogy, use of mastery approach and use of individualised and collaborative learning.

2.7.1 Creation of a nurturing learning atmosphere

Teachers with high efficacy beliefs create a nurturing atmosphere. The teachers offer learners support and establish meaningful connections with such learners (Evertson & Poole, 2008; Friedman & Kass, 2002), which can positively influence student behaviour and engagement in the classroom (Hamre et al., 2008; Poulou, 2017). According to research conducted by Morris-Rothschild and Brassard (2006), teachers who possess a strong sense of efficacy in teaching play a significant role in cultivating positive interpersonal relationships among students. This dynamic shifts the classroom atmosphere into an inclusive learning environment where both teachers and students collaborate. This environment fosters a sense of security and freedom for learners, allowing them to engage in the learning process without apprehension. Moreover, it instills in students a sense of ownership over their learning journey (Dibapile, 2012). Creating a nurturing atmosphere fosters a sense of care and genuine concern, motivating learners to respond with increased commitment and effort. As a result, this supportive environment leads to better social

behaviour and academic outcomes (Friedman & Kass, 2002) for these learners. By creating this nurturing atmosphere, teachers with a high sense of efficacy can impact orphaned learners' performance and motivation for learning.

Efficacious teachers also recognise the importance of creating safe and orderly classroom environment. They establish clear and straightforward disciplinary rules that are consistently enforced, promoting a respectful atmosphere and improving learners' behaviour inside and outside the classroom (Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention, 2012). These teachers ensure every student has a designated seat and feels seen and valued within the classroom community (Harmon, 2017). Additionally, they possess strong classroom management skills, enabling them to handle the challenges of diverse classrooms and cater to the specific needs of isolated learners (Marsh & Seaton, 2013), leading to a positive learning environment (Poulou et al., 2018). When students feel safe and supported, they are more likely to participate actively in classroom activities and be receptive to new educational strategies (IIEP, 2022).

2.7.2 Using visual aids

Efficacious teachers use various visual aids to ensure that students understand the course content (Rushton et al., 2007; Stipek, 1998). Visual aids can include diagrams, charts, images, and other graphical representations that cater for different learning styles. By incorporating visual aids, teachers can make the learning process more engaging and accessible. These aids break down complex concepts into digestible components, making it easier for students to understand intricate ideas. Visuals have the power to simplify abstract concepts by providing concrete representations, which can be especially helpful for orphaned learners who might face additional challenges due to disruptions in their education. Moreover, the advantage of using visual aids is their ability to accommodate diverse learning styles (Rushton et al., 2007). Learners have different preferences when it comes to absorbing information thus visual aids address the needs of all learners who grasp information more effectively when presented in a visual format (Stipek, 1998). This inclusivity ensures that a broader spectrum of learners can engage with content, ultimately promoting a more inclusive learning environment.

In conclusion, efficacious teachers who adeptly employ visual aids create a more engaging, accessible, and interactive learning environment for learners. These aids accommodate different

learning styles, simplify complex concepts, enhance retention, and foster a sense of participation. By harnessing the potential of visual aids, teachers can help learners not only understand course content better but also improve their overall academic performance and emotional well-being.

2.7.3 Using innovative teaching approaches

Teachers with a high sense of efficacy embrace new ideas and teaching methods, such as differentiated instruction and constructivism, to enhance student learning and engagement (Martin et al., 2012; Suprayogi et al., 2017). These teaching methods, challenging lessons and establishing clear rules in the classroom contribute to improved learners' engagement and outcomes (Deemer, 2004; Good & Brophy, 2000). Learners benefit from lessons tailored to their needs, allowing them to participate, explore ideas, and construct their understanding actively. Additionally, establishing clear rules provides a sense of safety and predictability, enabling learners to focus on their studies and effectively interact with other learners.

Innovative teaching methods are in line with Bandura's theory of self-efficacy. As outlined in Bandura's theory (1977), individuals possessing high self-efficacy are more prone to approaching novel challenges with assurance and eagerness. In the teaching context, educators with elevated efficacy levels tend to readily adopt fresh concepts and instructional techniques, including differentiated instruction and constructivism. This aligns with Bandura's concept, as teachers who believe in their ability to adapt to and succeed with innovative approaches are more likely to incorporate them into their teaching practices. Therefore, by incorporating innovative teaching approaches, teachers can create a vibrant learning environment where even orphaned learners' participation can be enhanced.

2.7.4 Using learner-centered pedagogy

Efficacious teachers incorporate learner-centered pedagogy, which encompasses structured practices, clear objectives, active discussions, and inclusive lessons (IIEP, 2022). Classroom strategies aligned with learner-centered pedagogy encompass well-organised routines featuring explicit objectives, detailed lesson plans, regular reviews, and final assessments. These practices foster meaningful discussions within the classroom. Implementing learner-centered pedagogy involves engaging learners through questioning, encouraging interactions between teachers and

students (Patel-Junankar, 2017). This approach promotes students' active involvement and encourages them to ask questions to ensure comprehensive comprehension of the material. Learner-centered pedagogy also facilitates the creation of inclusive lessons by actively involving all students in the learning process (IIEP, 2022). This approach supports students' engagement in activities, essays, and presentations that connect to real-world contexts, fostering critical thinking skills.

Active discussions promote open dialogue and collaborative learning, enabling students to share ideas, ask questions, and develop deeper insights into any discussed topic. This creates inclusive lessons that cater for learners' diverse learning styles and backgrounds, ensuring that all students have equal opportunities to participate in learning. By implementing a learner-centered approach, teachers can create an environment that fosters critical thinking and encourages active student engagement, participation, and real-world connections.

A learner-centered pedagogical approach enhances academic success and encourages critical thinking (Patel-Junankar, 2017). Classroom practices in line with learner-centered pedagogy enable teachers to identify the different learning needs of all learners; thus, teachers can implement teaching strategies tailored to meet the different learning styles of all learners. The learner-centered pedagogy was critical because it supports teachers in developing methods to promote group and peer work, with problems to solve related to orphaned learners' concrete experiences from daily life (IIEP, 2022). Therefore, a learner-centered approach can actively involve learners in the educational process and ensure good academic performance (Penny, 2008; Tschaannen-Moran & Hoy, 2000; Woolfolk Hoy, 2004).

2.7.5 Using mastery-based approach

Efficacious teachers employ teaching practices aligned with a mastery-based approach rather than focusing solely on outcomes. They prioritise creativity, comprehension, and meaningfulness in their instructional methods, allowing students to develop a deep understanding of the subject matter (Deemer, 2004). Efficacious teachers design their teaching materials to resonate with the diverse backgrounds and experiences of their students (Deemer, 2004). This approach makes learning relatable and relevant, connecting academic concepts to the real-world situations that students encounter daily. By doing so, these teachers bridge the gap between abstract theory and

practical application, helping students grasp the significance of what they're learning (IIEP-UNESCO, 2022).

Efficacious teachers design engaging and interactive lessons that relate to students' backgrounds and provide innovative and creative demonstrations to enhance motivation and continuous challenge (IIEP-UNESCO, 2022). They recognise that the human mind is wired to learn through experiences and active participation. Thus, their classrooms are characterised with activity, as students collaborate, discuss, and solve problems together (IIEP-UNESCO, 2022). These mastery approach ensures that all learners engage in the learning process thus leading to comprehension of the content delivered in the classroom and that can ultimately lead to learners' academic achievement.

2.7.6 Using individualised and collaborative learning

Teachers with a high sense of efficacy tailor instruction to individual students, understand students' characteristics and facilitate collaborative learning (Sharma et al., 2011). Through individualised learning, learners become active participants in their education, benefiting from a more personalised learning environment. Additionally, collaborative learning encourages learners to interact, share ideas, and learn from one another. This also promotes understanding of the subject and nurtures essential social and communication skills. Moreover, efficacious teachers understand the importance of collaborative relationships in the classroom. They promote peer interaction, group work, and student participation by incorporating student input into lesson planning and implementation (IIEP, 2022). This involvement can create a sense of belonging and engagement among orphaned learners and their peers, fostering a supportive learning community (Pandolpho, 2020).

By tailoring individualised and collaborative instructions, teachers ensure that each student's learning pace, style, and preferences are accommodated, enhancing their understanding and engagement. They design engaging and interactive lessons that relate to students' backgrounds and provide innovative and creative demonstrations to enhance motivation and continuous challenge (IIEP, 2022). Therefore, using individualised and collaborative learning, teachers can provide the necessary support and inclusive learning environment for orphaned learners. These can effectively support the academic and emotional needs of orphaned students.

2.7.7 Positive discipline

The other strategy efficacious teachers employ to support orphaned learners encompasses positive discipline. Positive discipline, such as encouraging open communication, and reinforcing positive behaviour, empower learners to develop self-confidence and a positive attitude towards learning. With positive discipline, teachers rely not heavily on punishment but on building up their students (Yussif, 2023). Instead of solely focusing on correcting negative behaviour, positive discipline emphasises recognising and rewarding good behaviour. This can include verbal praise, certificates, small rewards, or other forms of acknowledgment. By reinforcing positive actions, students are motivated to continue exhibiting these behaviours (Yussif, 2013). Positive discipline aims to empower learners by fostering their self-confidence. When students are recognised for their efforts and achievements, they develop a sense of competence and believe in their ability to succeed academically and socially (Bandura, 1977).

Moreover, efficacious teachers using positive discipline encourage students to view mistakes as opportunities for growth and learning. Instead of punishing mistakes, teachers guide students to understand the lessons that can be gleaned from them, fostering a growth mindset (Yussif, 2023). By consistently applying positive discipline techniques, teachers can help students develop positive attitudes toward learning, problem-solving, and personal growth. This positive attitude extends to their overall life experiences (Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention, 2012). Efficacious teachers also use positive reinforcements to teach all learners, including orphaned, to understand and follow social rules within and outside the classroom to encourage self-discipline and mutual respect (Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention, 2012).

In essence positive discipline is an approach that prioritises building a supportive and empowering learning environment. By encouraging open communication, reinforcing positive behaviour, and focusing on growth and learning from mistakes, teachers can create a more engaged, motivated, and self-confident group of students, including orphaned learners. This approach aligns with psychological theories such as Bandura's social learning theory and contributes to the overall well-being and academic success of students.

2.8 SUMMARY

In this chapter, the focus was on reviewing body of literature that pertains to teachers' viewpoints regarding their effectiveness in teaching. At the core of this investigation was the utilisation of Bandura's self-efficacy theory, which provided a crucial framework for comprehending and assessing teachers' perspectives on their proficiency in instructing orphaned learners within Maseru secondary schools.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 INTRODUCTION

The preceding chapter concentrated on reviewing relevant literature concerning teachers' efficacy in instructing orphaned learners within secondary schools. It also expounded upon the theoretical framework utilised as the conceptual lens for the study. The chapter's organisation was aligned with the study's objectives, encompassing teachers' perceptions of their teaching efficacy with regard to orphaned learners, factors influencing this efficacy, the impact on holistic support, and the strategies efficacious teachers employ for aiding orphaned learners. Building upon the foundation laid in the previous chapter, the present chapter shifts the focus to the methodological approach adopted to address the research inquiries. According to Kallet (2004), research methodology encompasses the actions undertaken to investigate a research problem and the rationale behind implementing specific procedures. Consistent with Kallet's (2004) perspective, this chapter furnishes a comprehensive account, along with justifications, of the research paradigm and design, participant selection rationale, data collection methodologies, data processing and analysis approaches, ethical considerations, and the measures taken to uphold the reliability and credibility of this study.

3.2 RESEARCH PARADIGM

For this study, an interpretive paradigm has been adopted. A research paradigm embodies a researcher's perspective on the world (Kivunja & Kuyini, 2017). It encompasses the foundational beliefs and principles that guide a researcher's viewpoint, interpretations, and actions. In essence, it encapsulates the abstract concepts and principles that shape how a researcher comprehends the external world and how they analyse and interact within it. It is the lens through which a researcher perceives reality. This conceptual lens guides the researcher's considerations regarding the methodological aspects of their study, influencing the choice of research methodology and the approach to data analysis (Miskon et al., 2015).

In a similar vein, Khatri (2020) underscores that a research paradigm serves as a theoretical framework that aids researchers in examining the procedural aspects of their research endeavors. This framework informs the selection of research methodologies to be employed and guides the process of data evaluation. The establishment of a research paradigm lays the foundation for identifying an appropriate methodology for the study. Accordingly, a research paradigm establishes a connection between ontology, epistemology, methodology, design, and methodologies within a research endeavor (Khatri, 2020). Interpretive paradigm

Interpretivism, as described by Bhattacherjee (2010), represents a research paradigm grounded in the belief that social reality is not isolated or objective but is rather influenced by human experiences and social contexts. Thus, the interpretive paradigm underscores the importance of participants' viewpoints, the contextual setting, and the significance attributed by participants to specific issues (Creswell, 2013). This paradigm is centered around comprehending the world from the perspective of the individuals under study, exploring their experiences and interactions within their social environment (Ponelis, 2015). In the current study, this research paradigm enabled the researcher to gain insights into the world through the lens of participants' perceptions, capturing their subjective interpretations of their encounters (Thanh & Thanh, 2015). The overarching aim of the interpretive paradigm, as highlighted by Bertram and Christiansen (2014), is to unravel how individuals perceive and categorise their own realities.

Interpretivists derive and construct their understanding from collected data, drawing upon the experiences, perspectives, and insights of individuals to seek truth (Thanh & Thanh, 2015). They contend that reality is a socially constructed concept that varies from person to person. Consequently, individuals assign different meanings to their experiences (Creswell, 2014). Within the interpretive paradigm, multiple realities exist as people shape their own understanding based on their social milieu, cultural background, and interpersonal connections (Scotland, 2012). The adoption of the interpretive paradigm in this study facilitated the collection of comprehensive and in-depth data regarding how various teachers perceive their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. Through social interactions, the researcher gained deeper insights into the participants' subjective perspectives (Weber, 2004).

3.3 RESEARCH DESIGN

In this study, a multi-cross-sectional research design is employed. To effectively address a research problem, a researcher must establish a suitable research design. The research design serves as a comprehensive strategy that integrates various components of the study in a coherent manner. It guides the collection, measurement, and analysis of data (De Vaus, 2001). The primary objective of a research design is to ensure that the evidence gathered enables the researcher to systematically tackle the research question (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Essentially, the research design functions as a unifying framework that binds all elements of a research project together, akin to a work plan (Akhtar, 2016). It organises a researcher's selection of diverse methods and procedures into a structured approach (Ustafa, 2010), providing the overall structure that logically integrates various components of the study.

Multi cross sectional research design involves the collection of data from multiple individuals at a single point in time (Levin, 2006). By adopting this approach, the researcher gathers data from individuals participating in the research process (Levin, 2006). In the context of the current study, data was collected from various teachers in different schools and geographical locations. The utilisation of a multi-cross-sectional research design allows the researcher to capture diverse perspectives and information from a wide range of teachers.

3.4 RESEARCH APPROACH

The current study specifically employed a qualitative research approach. De Vos (2005) characterises a research approach as a methodological strategy employed for data collection. It pertains to the systematic approach that a study adopts to address its research questions. Research approaches can take various forms such as qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Creswell, 2014).

3.4.1 Qualitative Approach

Qualitative research involves the study of specific groups or settings to gather and interpret data, with the aim of comprehending social phenomena (Flick, 2014). Qualitative researchers delve into the meanings, interpretations, symbols, and practices within social life (Creswell, 2007). This approach allows for both surface-level and underlying interpretations of phenomena in social

contexts. Qualitative research employs an inductive method and centres on real-world events and people's lived experiences. Its primary objective is to gain an understanding of human thoughts, behaviour, attitudes, and perceptions in relation to specific social or non-social matters within their respective contexts. Analysing qualitative data necessitates considering the socio-historical context, accounting for the diverse subjective perspectives of participants (Pham, 2018).

The essence of qualitative research is to grasp the significance that individuals within a particular context or situation attribute to their social experiences (Chetty, 2013). Gay et al. (2006) define qualitative research as the collection, analysis, and interpretation of comprehensive textual and visual data to gain insights into a specific phenomenon. In essence, qualitative research seeks to uncover the nuanced aspects of human interactions, behaviours, and perspectives, providing a deeper understanding of the intricacies of social life.

3.5 PARTICIPANTS

The term "participants" refers to a group of individuals from whom the research collects its findings (Shukla, 2020a, 2020b). For the present study, participants were drawn from secondary school teachers in selected secondary schools in Maseru. These teachers are actively engaged in teaching and interacting with learners, including orphaned learners. Their experiences and insights on their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners make them valuable sources of information for this study. Teachers, having direct experience, hold more credible perspectives than mere observers. Thus, teachers were considered the most suitable source for addressing the research questions and advancing the study's knowledge.

The study involved collecting data from twelve (12) teachers, selected from both government and church-owned secondary schools in Maseru. Each of the six secondary schools contributed two teachers. The schools were deliberately chosen to include diversity, with two schools in urban areas, two in a semi-rural area, and two in rural areas. This diverse selection aimed to capture varying perceptions of teachers' efficacy in teaching orphaned learners based on different work environments and available resources. Additionally, the chosen teachers had a minimum of five years of teaching experience and relevant qualifications such as Masters of Education (M. Ed), Bachelor of Education (Honours) (B. Ed Honours), Post Graduate Diploma (PGDip), Bachelor of Science in Education (BSc. Ed), and Diploma in Education Secondary (DES).

Both male and female teachers were included in the study to ensure a range of perspectives. It was believed that each gender might bring unique viewpoints that could influence how they approach orphaned learners and perceive their own efficacy in this context. The choice of teachers with at least five years of experience was based on the assumption that such educators would possess substantial knowledge and expertise in teaching learners with diverse backgrounds, including orphaned learners. These participants were categorised as follows:

Table 3.1: Participants' characteristics

Participants	Qualifications	Experience	Sex	Name of School
Teacher 1	B. ED	17 years	Female	School A
Teacher 2	B. ED Honours	25 years	Male	School A
Teacher 3	PGDip in Curricular Studies	14 years	Female	School B
Teacher 4	B. ED	15 years	Male	School B
Teacher 5	B. ED	13 years	Male	School C
Teacher 6	Diploma in Education Secondary (DES)	14 years	Female	School C
Teacher 7	B. ED Honours in Inclusive Education	16 years	Female	School D
Teacher 8	Diploma in Education Secondary (DES)	20 years	Male	School D
Teacher 9	B. ED Honours	11 years	Female	School E
Teacher 10	BSc. ED	9 years	Male	School E
Teacher 11	M.ED	36 years	Female	School F
Teacher 12	Diploma in Education Secondary (DES)	5 years	Male	School F

3.6 DATA GENERATION METHODS

Data generation in qualitative studies involves the process of collecting data (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Qualitative research employs various methods for data collection, such as observations, interviews, and document analysis (Scotland, 2012). In the current study, semi-structured interviews were utilised as the chosen data collection method, as outlined in more detail below.

Semi-structured interviews aim to capture participants' ideas, beliefs, perspectives, opinions, and behaviours through a conversational exchange (Creswell et al., 2007). In accordance with Longhurst's (2009) description, semi-structured interviews as a thorough data collection approach that unfolds in a dialogue-style manner, providing participants the opportunity to delve into topics they consider relevant to the phenomenon under investigation. In this type of interview, the researcher employs pre-planned questions to prompt participants' responses. Probing questions can also be used to seek clarifications when necessary. The interview guide used in these interviews is provided in Appendix A.

During the semi-structured interviews, the researcher employed both handwritten notes and audio recordings to document participants' responses and actions. Audio recordings captured participants' verbal responses, while handwritten notes documented the contextual details of the interviews. These notes served as valuable background information for analysing the audio-taped data, as highlighted by Sutton and Austin (2015). By utilising both methods, the researcher aimed to comprehensively capture and preserve the nuances of participants' insights and interactions during the interviews.

3.7 PILOTING

In this study, a pilot study was conducted to validate the formulation of semi-structured interview questions and to assess the overall design of the interviews. A pilot study, as described by Teijlingen and Hundley (2001), serves as either a scaled-down version of a full-scale study or a preliminary trial that precedes the main research. This pilot study involves testing research instruments, including interviews, to ensure their effectiveness. It entails conducting a small-scale investigation resembling the actual study to identify and address initial issues related to the research problem.

The purpose of the pilot study was to ensure that the semi-structured interview questions were well-constructed and easily understood by the participants. It also aimed to evaluate the feasibility of the main study. By conducting the pilot study, the researcher aimed to determine if the interview questions designed could yield valuable information to access teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. The pilot study included three (3) teachers who shared similar characteristics with the participants of the main study, such as having teaching qualifications and a minimum of five years of teaching experience.

During the pilot study interviews, questions 1, 2, 4, and 5 were found to be straightforward to administer and comprehend. However, interview question three (3) required rephrasing as participants did not understand it initially. The original question "In your opinion, how do your beliefs in your abilities to teach orphaned learners' impact in teaching such learners successfully?" was revised to "How do your beliefs as a teacher enable you to holistically support orphaned learners?" This adjustment was made based on the feedback and understanding of the participants during the pilot study, ensuring that the question was clear and aligned with the study's objectives.

3.8 DATA PROCESSING

Data processing in research involves transforming collected data into organised and usable information for analysis. This procedure encompasses tasks like editing, coding, categorising, and tabulating the gathered data to facilitate its analysis (Kothari, 2004). Additionally, data processing includes actions such as transcribing recorded interviews, organizing visual materials, and structuring data according to its source (Creswell, 2014). The process also involves converting spoken words into written text to streamline analysis (Sutton & Austin, 2015), essentially transforming raw data into a more comprehensible format, often a report. Data processing can be carried out manually or through automated tools.

In the context of this study, the audio-recorded interviews were transcribed and carefully reviewed to grasp the data within the context of participants' perspectives. Each line of the transcribed text was assigned a unique number for reference purposes. During the transcription process, the researcher also listened to the recordings and corrected any spelling or other errors. Additionally, punctuation marks like commas and full stops were inserted to ensure clarity and coherence in the

transcripts, addressing any potential issues that could affect participants' meanings (Sutton & Austin, 2015).

Thorough analysis of the transcribed data allowed the researcher to identify patterns, themes, and groupings, which were then systematically noted. These themes provided insights into the relationships and trends emerging from the interview data (Cohen et al., 2007). Memo reading and analysis aided in recognising patterns and themes, providing a foundation for understanding the data more deeply. These themes were subsequently used to identify connections and associations within the data collected from the interviews. The process of coding involved highlighting and labeling sections of the text and interview transcripts to categorise their content. Documentary evidence was also organised and numbered to facilitate easy reference and access.

3.9 DATA ANALYSIS

Data analysis is the systematic process of interpreting and summarising collected data using logical and analytical reasoning to uncover patterns, relationships, and trends (Shamoo & Resnik, 2003). In qualitative research, data analysis involves transforming raw data into meaningful findings (Patton, 2002). This process includes deducing insights from data collected from various methods and sources. Similarly, Manion and Morrison (2007) describe qualitative data analysis as the method of penetrating and organising interview transcripts, observation notes, or other non-textual materials that researchers gather to deepen their understanding of a phenomenon. In the context of this study, data analysis was essential in exploring teachers' self-efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners.

Data analysis primarily encompasses categorising data, making sense of voluminous information by reducing its volume, identifying significant patterns, and finally deriving meaning from data to construct a coherent narrative (Wong, 2008). The purpose of qualitative data analysis is to interpret data and the resulting themes, facilitating an enhanced understanding of the phenomenon under study (Sargeant, 2012). Powell and Renner (2003) outlined the following steps in data analysis: categorising data, identifying relationships and connections among categories, and synthesising or deducing information. For the present study, thematic analysis was employed to analyse the data, as discussed below:

3.9.1 Thematic analysis

Thematic analysis is a qualitative data analysis method that involves delving into a dataset to identify, scrutinise, and report recurring patterns (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In the context of the present study, the data collected from semi-structured interviews was subjected to inductive thematic analysis. The researcher meticulously examined the data to identify common themes, ideas, and patterns of meaning that emerged consistently. Clarke et al. (2015) emphasise the importance of thoroughly engaging with the data, suggesting that the entire dataset should be read at least twice during this phase.

Once the researcher became familiar with the collected data, the process of generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing them, and subsequently defining and naming them was undertaken (Braun & Clarke, 2006). During the initial coding phase, the researcher identified significant elements in the data and labeled them according to their relevance to the research questions. Similar segments of data were grouped together to identify patterns (Clarke et al., 2015), and these groups were then assigned thematic labels, with the aim of uncovering insights about participants' perceptions, feelings, knowledge, practices, or values drawn from the dataset (Caulfield, 2019).

The next phase of thematic analysis involved the search for themes. As outlined by Clarke (2015), this stage includes creating a coherent and meaningful thematic map of the data, where the researcher clusters the codes to identify patterns. This phase concludes when the data has been mapped onto thematic categories that directly address the research questions (Clarke, 2015).

The subsequent phase focused on reviewing the identified themes within the context of the coded data or the dataset as a whole, as provided by the participants (Clarke, 2015). During this stage, the researcher assessed whether the themes accurately reflect the coded data and whether the dataset effectively addressed the research questions.

The fourth phase revolved around defining the themes. Clarke (2015) emphasises that themes need to be clearly defined to ensure conceptual clarity and accurate representation of the data. Lastly, the final phase involved drafting the research report, during which the researcher provided analytic interpretations based on the developed, defined, and reviewed themes. Thematic analysis is a

comprehensive process that allows for a deep exploration of the collected data, leading to meaningful insights and a rich understanding of the research phenomenon.

3.10 TRUSTWORTHINESS

Trustworthiness is a crucial aspect of qualitative research that ensures the credibility and value of the study's findings, methods, and interpretations (Pilot & Beck, 2014). It involves establishing procedures and measures to demonstrate the rigor and quality of the research (Amankwaa, 2016). Trustworthiness helps researchers build confidence in the validity and meaningfulness of their research outcomes for both themselves and their readers (Veal, 2013). Bryman (2012) outlines four key principles that contribute to trustworthiness in qualitative research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability. Each of these principles plays a specific role in enhancing the quality and reliability of the research:

3.10.1 Dependability

Dependability refers to the consistency and unwavering nature of the outcomes of research. It pertains to how well the methods of investigation are recorded, enabling an external observer to comprehend, assess, and evaluate the evolution of the research (Streubert, 2007). Dependability encompasses the uniformity of the tools employed for gathering data in research (Leedy & Ormorod, 2005). In this particular study, assurance of dependability was established by employing a voice recorder during interviews, guaranteeing the comprehensive collection of all information without any loss. This approach empowered the researcher to extract patterns from a complete dataset that had been gathered.

3.10.2 Confirmability

Confirmability entails the degree to which a researcher's findings faithfully mirror the genuine perspectives of participants without any bias (Polit & Beck, 2017). Polit and Beck (2017) emphasise that top-quality qualitative studies showcase their impartiality, with findings aligned with confirmability. Confirmability fundamentally revolves around assuring that research outcomes stem from participants' narratives and expressions, rather than being influenced by

researchers' concealed inclinations and anticipations (Gale et al., 2017). The researcher secured confirmability by meticulously elucidating each step of the data analysis process to demonstrate absence of bias, thereby attesting that the results accurately reflect participants' input.

3.10.3 Transferability

Transferability addresses the extent to which study findings can be extrapolated and utilised in diverse contexts or scenarios (Coghlan & Miller, 2014). In support, Merriam (2009) notes that transferability often relates to external validity, concerning the extent to which the results of one study can be pertinent to other studies. Ellis (2000) and Tracy (2010) underscore that, owing to the dynamic and varied nature of qualitative research, meticulous attention to research details is necessary to avoid leaving any loose ends. To ensure transferability, the researcher provided comprehensive information about participants and data collection methods, ensuring applicability of findings to future research.

3.10.4 Credibility

Credibility encompasses the consistency of research results (Trochim, 2006). Mills (2010) further includes that credibility pertains to how well a research interpretation is plausible and fitting, particularly in terms of alignment between participants and the researcher. Devos (2005) adds that credibility strives to demonstrate that the research was executed in a manner where participants were accurately chosen and depicted. Methods enhancing credibility involve prolonged engagement, triangulation, saturation point, rapport building, pilot testing, collaborative questioning, participant validation, and thorough coding (Bryman, 2004). To bolster trustworthiness in this study, the researcher employed participant validation and pilot testing.

3.10.5 Member Checking

Member checking involves verifying and confirming qualitative findings by presenting collected and analysed data to participants for review and endorsement (Doyle, 2007). Member checking aims to rectify transcription errors and mitigate potential biases arising from the researcher's dual role as data collector and analyst (Guest et al., 2006). Beyond error validation, member checking empowers participants to rectify misinterpretations made during data collection and supplement any emotions or insights overlooked during interviews (Babbie & Mouton, 2006; Simon, 2011).

In this study, member checking significantly contributed to data accuracy and sufficiency, allowing participants to validate accuracy and add insights possibly omitted during interviews.

3.11 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethical considerations within research encompass a collection of principles that function as safeguards for research procedures. These principles ensure that participation in research is voluntary, well-informed, and harmless for those involved (Bhandari, 2021). A heightened and expanded emphasis on ethical conduct among researchers during studies has emerged in response to societal demands for increased accountability (Campbell & Pretti, 2017; Haggerty, 2004). This underscores the need for researchers to adhere to a specific set of moral values that guarantee the well-being of participants. Creswell (2014) emphasises the necessity for researchers to attentively address ethical concerns that might surface during their investigations.

A wealth of literature exists concerning guidelines for constructing ethically sound research methodologies (Berg & Lune, 2017; Lincoln, 2011). In the present study, specific ethical considerations were adhered to. These encompass authorisation to conduct research within the target community, safeguarding confidentiality and anonymity, ensuring voluntary participation, obtaining informed consent, and maintaining integrity in reporting findings. These ethical dimensions will be elaborated upon below.

3.11.1 Authorisation to conduct the research in the target community

Assisted by the guidance of their supervisor, the researcher composed a letter addressed to the Ministry of Education (MOET) to formally seek authorisation for data collection within the designated schools. The request to collect data was approved, and supporting documentation can be found in Appendix C. Subsequently, the researcher corresponded with school principals, seeking permission to conduct interviews with teachers within their respective schools. Each correspondence was accompanied by a consent form provided to every participant for their consideration and agreement.

3.11.2 Voluntary participation

Voluntary participation entails a scenario where individuals have the freedom to choose whether or not to be involved in a study, without any form of coercion or pressure (Bhandari, 2021). It constitutes a crucial ethical consideration in research, signifying that "an individual provides consent knowingly, voluntarily, and in a clear manner" (Arminger, 1997, p. 330). As highlighted by Strydom (2011), the absence of voluntary participation introduces a conflict between the researcher's pursuit of knowledge and the responsibility to protect participants.

In research, it is imperative that participation remains voluntary and devoid of coercion or undue influence (Rubin & Babbie, 2005). Participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any point without needing to provide a rationale for their decision. In the present study, participants were explicitly informed that their involvement was entirely voluntary, and they retained the prerogative to discontinue their participation without the need for explanation. Notably, no participant was coerced into joining the research against their will; all participation was entirely voluntary.

3.11.3 Informed consent

The concept of informed consent revolves around three key elements: participants' sufficient understanding of the study, their voluntary agreement to participate, and the absence of coercion or pressure in their interaction with the researcher (Eyler & Jeste, 2006; Neff, 2008; Rose et al., 1999). According to Denzin and Lincoln (2011), informed consent forms the foundation of ethical research. It involves detailing the study's purpose, procedures, benefits, risks, and funding to potential participants before inviting them to join the study. This gives participants the opportunity to make an informed decision about their participation (Bhandari, 2021; DeMatteo & Festinger, 2005).

In the context of the current study, the researcher prepared consent forms, offering potential participants nearly all the elements of informed consent for their review and comprehension. This approach respected the participants' right to autonomy, as defined by Beauchamp and Childress (2001), which refers to their ability to make self-determined decisions according to their personal intentions. Furthermore, the researcher ensured confidentiality and anonymity for those who agreed to participate.

Confidentiality, in research, entails upholding the privacy and independence of participants (Gregory, 2003; Oliver, 2003). It means that any personally identifiable information acquired during the research process remains undisclosed without the participants' consent. Iphofen (2009) adds that confidentiality varies, with some data deemed mundane and not requiring stringent protection, while other data is considered highly personal and must not be shared. In this study, the researcher retained information about the participants but eliminated identifying details from the report, following Bhandari's (2021) recommendation. Descriptions of the participants' schools were also crafted to prevent their identification.

Anonymity involves safeguarding participants' identities, refraining from revealing their cultural, social, or personal backgrounds, and avoiding the use of their names or any sensitive information (Mugenda, 2003). Protecting participants' data against harm, both physical and psychological, is paramount (Mugenda, 2003). Anonymity means that either no identifying data about individual participants, such as names or addresses, is gathered, or researchers cannot link individual responses to participants' identities (Norman, 2005). In this study, anonymity was ensured by not collecting personally identifiable information and adopting pseudonyms. Pseudonyms are alternate names given to participants to prevent their information from being tied to their identities (Bhandari, 2021).

Corden and Sainsbury (2006) caution against allowing participants to choose their own pseudonyms, as they might select the names of real people, potentially leading to identification. Therefore, the researcher in this study did not permit participants to select their pseudonyms, and chose fictional names that were unrelated to their characteristics or chosen by them, thus maintaining anonymity, as advised by Grinyer (2002).

3.11.4 Honesty

Maintaining honesty in reporting research results encompasses refraining from plagiarism and data fabrication. On one hand, fabrication, as described by Mugenda and Mugenda (2003) and Kour (2014), entails creating, inventing, or falsifying data or outcomes. On the other hand, plagiarism involves utilising the work of other authors without proper attribution, including submitting their work as one's own (Bhandari, 2021). In the present study, the researcher diligently acknowledged the sources of data and information within the text and the reference list. This practice was

undertaken to prevent both plagiarism and fabrication. As a result, the study's findings were accurately and transparently reported, without any form of manipulation or deceit.

3.11.5 Beneficence

Beneficence in research underscores the necessity for the study to provide benefits to its participants (Liddell & Baron, 2021). In the context of the current study, the teachers derived benefits from their involvement as the research aimed to increase their awareness of self-efficacy's significance in motivating orphaned learners to engage in learning at school. Consequently, the study aimed to aid participants by prompting them to assess and enhance their teaching techniques and interactions with orphaned learners. Through this process, the study seeks to facilitate teachers' self-improvement in their teaching methods and approaches towards orphaned learners.

3.12 SUMMARY

This chapter delved into the research paradigm and design adopted for the study. It also elaborated on the participants, the criteria for their selection, and the methods employed to collect information regarding teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching. Additionally, this chapter elucidated the data collection, processing, and analysis procedures. Ethical considerations and the aspect of trustworthiness were also thoroughly discussed within this section. Moving forward, the subsequent chapter will be dedicated to the presentation, analysis, and interpretation of the gathered data.

CHAPTER 4: PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapter dealt with the research methodology used in the study. The chapter discussed the research methods, research design, and data analysis methods used in the current study. The current chapter will focus on presenting, analysing and interpreting data gathered on teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. The data collected is guided by research objectives as follows:

- To determine teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools,
- To investigate teachers' perceptions on the factors that inform their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools,
- To determine teachers 'perceptions on how their efficacy beliefs influence them to holistically support orphaned learners, and
- To determine strategies that efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners.

4.2 TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THEIR EFFICACY IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS

To get information about teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools, participants were asked to describe their beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners successfully. All twelve participants perceived their efficacy as high regarding teaching orphaned learners. Reasons that they gave for their positive perceptions on their efficacy beliefs include effective communication, classroom management, parenting, interpersonal, referral and counselling skills. They also reported perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their character and spiritual values. These themes are unpacked as follows:

4.2.1 Effective Communication Skills

Data collected indicated that participants have perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners as they have effective communication skills. Eleven out of twelve participants said they can teach orphaned learners as they can communicate well with such learners. These good communication skills enable orphaned learners to open up about their challenges. Teacher 2 from School A stated:

I call them, sit down with them and have them narrate what could be the issue. To achieve this, I establish close relationships with orphaned learners, ensuring they are comfortable enough to open up and talk to me about any issues they may face. This allows me better to understand the needs and problems of these learners.

These participants stated that practical communication skills enable them to know how and when to help orphaned learners. The participants further explained that they try to understand the orphaned learners' situations and how the challenges they go through affect them, and they use that information as guidance to know how to treat such learners in class. This implies that the participants consider it essential to build trust and create a comfortable environment where orphaned learners feel safe to open up and talk about the challenges that they face.

The eleven participants also explained that when they do not have the means to help orphaned learners, they talk to somebody whom they think would be in the best position to help such learners. They pointed out that they invoke their communication skills when there are allegations that orphaned learners are abused. They inform these learners of the necessary steps to take to avoid such abusive situations. These participants showed that they use their communication skills to assist orphaned learners in all situations they may be facing, provided they have the means to do so. They also indicated that where they cannot afford assistance to orphaned learners, they use their communication skills to source external aid for them.

These eleven participants further reported that to understand why a particular orphaned learner behaves in a specific manner, they talk to them and try to find the cause of that behaviour because sometimes all they need is someone to talk to. This approach ensures that these learners change their mindset to perceive their situations positively. Therefore, the participants stated that they help orphaned learners to see their orphaned hood not as a hindrance to their education. Teacher 6 from School C stated:

I prepare them for the learning process, and some of the things that I do is talk to them, especially if they have problems that hinder them from learning. In so doing, these orphaned learners realise that their issues may affect them positively, where they can source their strength.

Three out of eleven participants opined that they involve third parties with the main aim of helping orphaned learners. They asserted that they speak to their colleagues, including the principals, and make them aware that there are orphaned learners in their classrooms; thus, they should take care when approaching such learners and be mindful of their situations. In this, Teacher 9 from School D stated:

If I am a subject teacher in a class, I go to the class teacher and ask the class teacher to call the guardian so that we can talk to them and find out the problem with a particular orphaned learner. But as the class teacher, I call the guardian to talk about the child.

These findings highlight practical communication skills' significant role in teaching orphaned learners. Teachers can positively impact orphaned students' well-being and academic performance by building trust and creating a safe space for open communication.

4.2.2 Classroom Management

Data collected pointed to participants' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners as they have classroom management skills. Seven out of twelve participants emphasised the importance of instructional practices in teaching orphaned learners. This includes determining the approach to lessons, the effectiveness of such approach and its ability to engage and manage orphaned learners' behaviour and facilitate their comprehension of complex subjects in the classroom. These seven participants asserted that they actively listen to orphaned learners in class,

ensuring they give their full attention to their concerns, questions and issues. Participants also asserted that they adopt teaching methods that suit orphaned learners' academic needs to ensure that such learners understand the instructions. Teacher 7 from School C elaborated:

Recognizing that orphaned learners may come from diverse backgrounds, I tailor my instructions to meet these learners' needs. I employ teaching strategies, resources and materials to accommodate their learning styles and ensure that they receive personalized attention.

These findings underline the significance of instructional practices, active listening, engagement, and tailored instruction when teaching orphaned learners. The participants' insights reflect a thoughtful and effective approach to addressing the specific needs of orphaned learners, ultimately contributing to a more effective and supportive educational experience.

4.2.3 Parenting Skills

All twelve participants expressed perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their parenting skills. These participants stated they are responsible for meeting orphaned learners' necessities at school and home. This includes living with the orphaned learners and providing for amenities such as school fees, exam fees, and uniforms. They emphasised that neglecting these essential needs can significantly impact orphaned learners' sense of belonging and well-being. The participants further explained that they become parents and friends to these learners so that they become open and able to share their problems with them. When orphans experience difficulties such as not eating at home, the participants noted that ensuring these learners have access to food is essential, as a lack of necessities can negatively impact their ability to concentrate in class. Teacher 7 from School C expanded on this topic:

I pay attention to things that might hinder learners from learning. For example, if I notice one orphaned student sleeping in class, I walk up to the learner and request to talk with them outside the classroom without distracting the learning process. I then inquired if they had breakfast at home. If not, I go to the school kitchen and request food.

The participants further reported that teachers are responsible for raising orphaned learners because they are their parents more than their teachers, as learners spend more time with them at school. Teacher 6 from School E stated: "I become a parent to orphaned learners. I raise and teach them at the same time. I model them to be outstanding citizens." Participants further stated that they give orphaned learners the same love they provide to their biological children to ensure that such learners develop passion for the subjects they teach and learning in general. Therefore, these participants stated that they step into the role of parenthood to ensure that orphaned learners are appropriately raised. Teacher 2 from School A explained: "As a parent, I protect them from everything, and I do not expose them to any harsh circumstances; I protect their integrity."

Two of the twelve participants said they take money out of their pockets to either give orphaned learners or buy necessities such as school shoes, uniforms, and food. These participants stated that they also believe in things orphaned learners need when shopping. The participants also noted that when orphaned learners lack necessities for an extended period, they ask other teachers to help buy them. In this regard, teacher 10 from School E elaborated:

As a teacher, I am trained in all aspects of life; I am both a teacher and a parent, so to an orphaned learner who has nothing to eat at home, whatever I have, such as lunch, I share with them. Even as teachers, we come together to help such learners if I cannot provide for them. If the need persists, we raise funds here at school to help these learners to have something to eat. Also, some organisations offer sponsorships; after recognizing those who need sponsorships, we introduce them to sponsors so that they become like other learners.

Two of the twelve participants further reported that if they do not provide necessities for the orphaned learners, such learners may be affected psychologically and end up feeling like they are not part of the class. Therefore, these participants provide for orphaned learners' necessities to ensure that such learners continue learning. Consequently, the participants stated they take time to understand the support guardians can offer orphaned learners. They also examine the relationship between the guardians and the orphaned learners to ensure that such learners are being raised in a

nurturing environment. They aim to create an atmosphere where these learners can thrive and feel like they are growing up in a positive and conducive setting. Therefore, the participants stated that they approach orphaned learners as if such learners were their biological children.

One of the twelve participants further elaborated on the role of teachers as parental figures for orphaned learners. They emphasised that through this parental role, teachers gain insight into the appropriate extent of discipline and guide them to recognise their mistakes. The essence of assuming a parental role for learners is ensuring they feel loved and cared for even when they face reprimands. Teacher 3 from School B reported: "Since some orphaned learners seek attention, I interpret their behaviour as a desire for parental affection and fulfilment of basic needs. Hence, I become their support system in fulfilling these roles."

Therefore, this implies that parenting skills enable teachers to develop and build positive and supportive relationships with orphaned learners, thus enabling such learners to perform well. Teacher 1 from School A testified:

I always check up on these orphaned learners to assess if their situation improves; when such improves, they always come back to thank me for helping them move from a wrong position that made them feel destined to fail.

4.2.4 Interpersonal skills

Data collected pointed to participants' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their interpersonal skills. Seven out of twelve participants emphasised developing interpersonal skills to create a sense of acceptance in the classroom for orphaned learners. These participants recognised the significance of inclusivity and building connections between orphaned learners and other learners. They stated that they implement the same approach for orphaned and other learners, treating every learner equally regardless of their challenges, status or background. They also believe that no learner should be considered different or more important than others in the class.

The seven participants also stated that they treat every learner equally despite their backgrounds so that the orphaned learners get the same education as other learners. These participants further

opined that they do not sympathise with them because they are orphaned learners giving them small workloads, unlike others. Still, they give them the same workload as other learners and expect them to complete such work like other learners within the stipulated time. On the other hand, even though these seven participants recognise that they teach orphaned learners together with other learners, one teacher reported that his approach towards the said learners becomes different, even though this does not mean they are taught separately from other learners. Still, he considers how he talks about some things in class, which might wound them emotionally.

Moreover, these seven participants stressed that orphaned learners sometimes tend to isolate themselves and form bonds exclusively with fellow orphaned learners. To counter this trend, the participants stated that they work to raise awareness about disparities within the class and encourage students to share their resources so that those in need, including orphaned learners can benefit from their classmates' support. Teacher 2 elaborated: "I aim to instil unity and acceptance among them, urging them to stand together and lend each other a helping hand."

The connections that the teachers create between themselves and orphaned learners, as well as other learners, mitigate the feelings of isolation among orphaned learners and impact them to develop and maintain their engagement and focus in school. Thus, be more open towards them and other learners so that they can continue learning.

4.2.5 Referral Skills

Data collected showed that participants' perceptions of their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners were linked to their referral skills when dealing with such learners. Four out of twelve participants attested that referral skills enable them to help and support orphaned learners in their learning. With referral skills, participants stated that they could refer orphaned learners to other stakeholders such as counsellors, social workers, teachers, organisations like Higher Life Foundation and others who can better assist those learners with their problems. These referrals enable participants to outsource assistance for orphaned learners, especially when they feel they cannot give adequate help and support to these learners. Teacher 8 explained:

I can refer them to others who may help with some things that I cannot assist with so that their needs are addressed by those referred entities, such as the Ministry of Social Development and other individuals who have the means to support and assist them.

The findings suggest that participants' referral skills are vital to their perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. By effectively referring learners to appropriate support networks, they enhance their overall well-being and academic success. This aspect of their teaching practice demonstrates a comprehensive and collaborative approach to teaching and supporting orphaned learners, ensuring they receive the best possible care and assistance from various sources.

4.2.6 Character

Data collected showed that the participants perceive efficacy in teaching orphaned learners as they have good character. Three out of twelve participants posited that the characters that they have enable them to be able to deal with orphaned learners. The participants also recounted that their characters tolerate children, which allows the orphaned learners to feel comfortable around them and be confident enough to tell them their problems.

The participants testified that they are easy to talk to and work with. Teacher 1 explained: "I am easy to talk to but short-tempered. But when it comes to some things like dealing with orphaned learners, I set my temper aside so that I do not end up hurting them with my temper" These personality traits enable the participants to handle orphaned learners at all angles, understand the situations that these learners may be going through, be sensitive and accommodating towards such learners. Teacher 3 elaborated: "I sympathize with orphaned learners more because of the many challenges they have which other learners do not normally have."

These findings highlight the significance of teachers' personalities in creating a conducive learning environment for vulnerable learners, such as orphaned learners. Teachers' good characters enable them to see when orphaned learners have problems at home or school and assist them.

4.2.7 Counselling Skills

Data collected disclosed that participants perceive efficacy in teaching orphaned learners as they have counselling skills. Five out of twelve participants testified their ability to help orphaned learners identify, analyse and solve their problems. These participants explained that they become lay counsellors when orphaned learners have issues that prevent them from learning properly like other learners. The problems that orphaned learners experience affect them psychologically and emotionally, some become depressed. The participants stated that they counsel such learners. Teacher 7 from School C said: "I am a lay Counsellor, so when orphaned learners experience challenges such as depression, I counsel them."

The five participants further explained that they counsel orphaned learners until they are satisfied that they are fine and able to learn properly. This prepares the orphaned learners to be in the same environment as other learners and learn properly with clear minds and focus. Furthermore, the counselling that participants give to orphaned learners makes the said learners understand that their situation of orphan-hood does not mean that their lives are over. Still, they can continue going to school and learning despite their challenges.

The data indicates that the participants' counselling skills are vital in supporting orphaned learners academically and emotionally. Acting as lay counsellors, the participants create a safe and supportive space for these learners to express their feelings and concerns. This emotional support, problem-solving assistance, and encouragement contribute to the learners' well-being and academic progress. The findings underscore the importance of teachers' counselling abilities in addressing the specific needs of vulnerable learners, such as orphans and fostering a positive and conducive learning environment for their overall development.

4.2.8 Spiritual values

The data collected pointed out that participants' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners are linked to their spiritual values. Two out of twelve participants testified that they believe in their ability to teach orphaned learners because they understand that God created man with a purpose and that someone should show God's love by loving their neighbours. The participants further

reported that spiritual values enable them to show love to orphaned learners by addressing the needs that such learners may have. These spiritual values instil teachers with a strong desire to support and assist disadvantaged orphaned learners, thus ensuring that they have equal opportunities for learning like other learners. Teacher 3 from School B explained: "I teach these learners God and pray with them, thus catering to their spiritual needs."

In as much as teacher 3 stated that she teaches learners God and prays with them, this can be seen as imposing Christianity in learners, thus disregarding the fact that other learners may be from non-Christianity backgrounds. There is a diversity of religions among learners, including the orphaned; therefore, being specific on a particular religion can be considered discriminatory and inconsiderate of other faiths. In support of this assertion, Teacher 7 reiterated: "I encourage learners to be strong on spirituality, regardless of religion, so they know that when it is challenging, their problems shall come to pass, not the end of the world."

Therefore, participants believe that their spiritual values enable them to successfully teach orphaned learners by showing love towards such learners. However, teachers need to approach spirituality in a manner that respects the religious diversity of the learners and avoids imposing specific beliefs on them.

4.3 TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON THE FACTORS THAT INFORM TEACHERS' EFFICACY BELIEFS IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS

Participants were asked to describe what makes them believe they can successfully teach orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools to solicit information about factors that inform teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners. Factors that inform participants' beliefs in teaching orphaned learners are teaching experience, training, support, background, subjects taught, reading books, policies and mentorship. Data on each of these themes is presented below:

4.3.1 Teaching experience

In this study, data collected showed that participants' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners were informed by their teaching experiences. Five out of seven participants talked about the impact of seeing successful end products of orphaned learners and being able to successfully teach them and ensure their academic success, as well as ending up in institutions of higher learning. The participants postulated that in their schools, they have many orphaned learners; this regular contact with orphaned learners gives them technical experience in teaching such learners. In his submission, Teacher 6 said: "In my 14 years of teaching, I have taught orphaned learners, and some have been able to perform exceptionally well." Therefore, these experiences make the participants confident they can successfully teach orphaned learners.

The participants also explained that their successful experiences in teaching orphaned learners also contributed to how they handle learners with different characteristics and from other families with diverse backgrounds. These participants reported that they have a lot of experiences with learners who have lost their parents. In this, Teacher 12 from School F opined: "I have learned to deal with learners in a way that makes it easier for them to cope in class."

From these findings, positive teaching experiences strengthen teachers' beliefs in their capacity to teach orphaned learners. The data suggests that teaching experience is crucial in shaping participants' efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. Witnessing the success of these learners and gaining technical expertise in teaching them contribute to the participant's ability to create a positive and supportive learning environment.

4.3.2 Training

Ten out of twelve participants believed that formal education informed their ability to teach orphaned learners successfully. These participants referred to the education and training they obtained from institutions of higher learning during their initial teacher training phase. The participants reported that the formal education they received from the institution of higher learning enabled them to know how to teach, handle and interact with orphaned learners. They credited their qualifications for providing them with the knowledge and skills necessary to effectively cater to disadvantaged and orphaned learners and integrate them into the classrooms. Teacher 10 from

School E opined: "I was trained to teach orphaned learners. Without training, I would not be able to know how to teach and treat orphaned learners."

Three of the of the twelve participants three shared their relevant qualifications and courses that have equipped them to teach and support orphaned learners. These qualifications include Support Teaching which focuses on working with vulnerable children; Certificate in Psychosocial Support; and Micro-teaching which address teaching strategies for complex learners, including orphans, students with behavioural problems, and hyperactive learners. These programs enabled teachers to view orphaned learners holistically and understand the various factors that can impact their lives at home and school. Teacher 7 explained: "I know that orphaned learners often face challenges at home and school that negatively affect their academic performance, so I have to be considerate in dealing with them."

One of the twelve participants reported that although he underwent formal teaching training, back when he was in the university, the curriculum had no course or module on teaching orphaned learners. Hence, he had to learn this through the experience of teaching them. One participant stated that he did not receive training in teaching orphaned learners also requires him to read more about these learners, their social problems, and how to teach them and address their concerns.

Six of the twelve participants attributed their beliefs in teaching orphaned learners to informal training through workshops. Attending workshops and online courses helped participants upgrade their skills, enabling them to identify orphaned learners, provide counselling and navigate the unique challenges that these learners face. Teacher 3 elaborated: "I was trained in workshops. This has helped me to understand how orphaned learners approach life, which is different from other learners because orphaned learners have many challenges due to the loss of parent(s)." The six participants further stated that in the workshops, they received guidance on how to counsel orphaned learners from experts best. Teacher 4 from School B reiterated:

Due to the introduction of Life Skills Based Sexuality Education, I received training through workshops where I was taught that I have to know and understand orphaned learners' situations to be able to teach them. I acquired skills to deliver

this subject to orphaned learners. There was also Psychosocial Care and Support training that emphasised the need to care for and support orphaned learners, where we were taught to keep them closer to us so that they benefit from that relationship.

Out of the six participants, one participant explained that there are online courses that he is currently enrolled in, which makes him believe that he can successfully teach orphaned learners. This teacher reported that a short course, Hope for Humanity and Helping a Grieving Child which he was enrolled in, enabled him to teach orphaned and other learners in class without discrimination. Teacher 6 stated: "The short courses equipped me with the skills and knowledge to handle orphaned learners in and outside the class."

The findings reveal that the combination of formal education, specialised qualifications, informal workshops, and online courses significantly shaped the participants' abilities and beliefs in successfully teaching orphaned learners. This reflects the importance of continuous learning and adaptability to meet the diverse needs of learners, especially those facing unique challenges like being orphaned.

4.3.3 Support

The support received from colleagues, school management, Ministry of Education and Training as well as other stakeholders was mentioned by five participants as a significant factor informing their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners. Participants reported that the support system provides them with the necessary resources, teaching materials, and guidance to identify and help orphaned learners. The encouragement and assistance from others reinforced these participants' knowledge and approach to teaching orphaned learners. These participants opined that the support from others allowed them to identify and help orphaned learners. Teacher 11 opined:

The office is always open for us, teachers, to come and talk about the issues affecting orphaned learners. We sit with these learners, allow them to open up about their problems, and then go to the office to seek assistance.

Three of the five participants reported that support that support from colleagues and school management positively impacts them as it reinforces their knowledge of approaching orphaned learners. These participants explained that they get encouraged to do more for orphaned learners through the support they get from colleagues, school management, guardians and parents. Teacher 9 elaborated:

Through the unwavering support and encouragement from my colleagues, school management, guardians, parents, and the broader community, I have witnessed a transformative impact on my approach to teaching orphaned learners. The positive reinforcements I receive have strengthened my knowledge and understanding of these learners, enabling me to address orphaned learners' unique challenges effectively.

These findings show that the support that teachers get from others informs their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners successfully.

4.3.4 Background

Collected data pointed out that their backgrounds also informed participants' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners. Eight out of twelve participants reported that the experiences they encountered while growing up shaped them to be able to interact with and teach orphaned learners. These participants further noted that they grew up in a poor home, but they worked hard to succeed and achieve their goals. Therefore, this makes them believe they can teach orphaned learners because they understand their origins. Teacher 8 explained:

I clearly understand orphaned learners' situations because I had parents who were not on good terms, so in a way, I lived in a Child-Headed family where I struggled with necessities. When I grew up, I had to stop going to school and find means for my siblings to go to school and provide for their necessities, and this gave me an idea of the circumstances of orphaned learners as some have to look after their siblings and drop out of school. So, when you have been through something, you can understand when someone says they have no transport money and nothing to

eat. My experiences growing up in a poor home and working hard to achieve my goals have shaped me to be able to interact with and teach orphaned learners effectively. I can positively impact these learners' lives because I understand where they come from and the challenges they may face.

The data suggests that participants' backgrounds and life experiences significantly impact their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners. These experiences foster understanding and a strong identification with the learners' circumstances. As a result, the participants feel confident in their ability to positively impact these learners' lives and support them in their educational journey. The findings highlight the importance of teachers' personal experiences and backgrounds in shaping their approach to teaching and their ability to connect with and understand the diverse needs of their learners, particularly those facing unique challenges, such as orphaned learners.

4.3.5 Subjects Taught

Data collected showed that the subjects the participants teach also inform their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. Two out of twelve participants reported that their beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners were informed by the subjects they teach. These participants highlighted subjects such as Religious Knowledge and Life Skills Based Sexuality Education. They further stated that these subjects enable them to approach orphaned learners in a manner that addresses their challenges. Teacher 7 explained:

The subject I teach, Life Skills Based Sexuality Education, has played a pivotal role in shaping my beliefs and efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. The topics covered in this subject are designed to cater to the needs of every learner, including those who are orphaned. Utilising experiential learning methods, this subject equips me with the necessary skills to address these learners' unique challenges effectively. Through Life Skills Based Sexuality Education, I am committed to providing a supportive and inclusive learning environment, ensuring orphaned learners receive the guidance and understanding they deserve to thrive academically and emotionally.

These findings show that the subjects teachers teach can influence their beliefs and efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. Subjects designed to address the needs of diverse learners, including orphaned learners, can equip teachers with valuable skills and approaches to support and uplift these learners effectively. Such subjects play a vital role in creating a positive and nurturing learning environment that addresses the unique challenges and experiences of orphaned learners in the classroom.

4.3.6 Reading books

Reading books also emerged as another factor that informs teachers' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners successfully. Three out of twelve participants mentioned that books educate and inspire them to teach orphaned learners effectively. These participants reported reading books such as motivational and psychology related books informed them on how to approach and teach orphaned learners. In this, Teacher 8 from School D explained:

I read books to gain insight into orphaned learners' situations, lives, challenges, and ways to teach them effectively... This enables me to tackle their situations knowing what is applicable because I have read and discovered the situation.

This data emphasises the importance of continuous learning through reading. Books provide teachers with a wealth of information and perspectives, allowing them to expand their knowledge and understanding of orphaned learners' needs and experiences. As a result, teachers can enhance their teaching practices, create supportive learning environments, and cater to the specific needs of orphaned learners with greater confidence and efficacy.

4.3.7 Policies

Data collected showed that teachers' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners were informed by educational policies such as inclusive education policy. Two out of the twelve participants stated that the inclusive education policy guides them in effectively teaching orphaned learners by ensuring their inclusivity in the classrooms. Teacher 6 stated:

The Ministry developed an Inclusive Education Policy that helps teachers to create inclusive classroom environments to ensure that all learners come to school, learn in class, feel included, and perform to the best of their abilities and required standards.

The findings suggest that by aligning their teaching practices with the inclusive education policy, teachers can play a vital role in creating a supportive and nurturing learning environment for all learners, regardless of their circumstances. This can foster a sense of belonging and empowerment for orphaned learners, enabling them to reach their full potential academically and emotionally. Implementing such educational policies ultimately contributes to the broader goal of promoting inclusive and equitable education for all learners.

4.3.8 Mentorship

Mentorship also emerged as another factor informing participants' beliefs about their abilities to teach orphaned learners. Only one participant out of twelve explained that the mentorship from a seasoned teacher helped him while in teaching practice. Teacher 2 stated:

During my time in teaching practice, the mentorship that I received from seasoned teachers helped me believe in my abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners. This is because I was shown that orphaned learners require much attention, assistance and support in school. After all, they have more problems than other learners.

While the data suggests that mentorship is not typical, it is evident that it can be highly effective in supporting new teachers and helping them develop the skills they need to be successful in the classroom. Mentorship offers valuable guidance, insights, and practical strategies for teachers, especially in dealing with diverse learners like orphaned learners with specific needs and circumstances.

Only one participant identified mentoring as a factor that informed his efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. This suggests that some participants need to be made aware of the concept of

mentorship or its potential benefits. They might have not experienced or been exposed to mentorship during their training or early teaching experiences, so they did not consider it relevant. These findings suggest that mentorship is unique, especially for teachers in teaching practice. Still, it can be highly effective in supporting new teachers and helping them to develop the skills they need to be successful in the classroom

4.4 TEARCHERS PERCEPTIONS ON HOW THEIR EFFICACY BELIEFS INFLUENCE THEM TO HOLISTICALLY SUPPORT ORPHANED LEARNERS

To get information on how teachers' efficacy beliefs influence them to support orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools holistically, participants were asked how their beliefs in their abilities as teachers enable them to provide holistic support to orphaned learners. The data collected revealed the following: confidence, motivation, happiness, patience, preparation, openmindedness and empathy. These themes are unpacked as follows:

4.4.1 Confidence

The study found that teachers' beliefs can influence their ability to support orphaned learners holistically, and confidence emerged as a critical factor. Out of the twelve participants, six reported that their belief in their ability to teach orphaned learners gave them the confidence to teach such learners. These participants explained that their confidence enabled them to stand before these learners and lead with conviction, resulting in positive outcomes. Additionally, their confidence improved their relationships with others, as they were able to advise fellow teachers and guardians on how to approach and treat orphaned learners. They emphasised that their confidence also played a crucial role in fostering a sense of confidence in the orphaned learners. By believing in their abilities and providing support, teachers empower orphaned learners to overcome any challenges they may face, regardless of their background. Teacher 7 offered further elaboration on this point:

Confidence helps me believe that I can teach and support orphaned learners. This confidence enables me to be proactive and address the myriad of challenges that orphaned learners may face. My belief in my abilities to teach orphaned learners

instils confidence that I can master supporting orphaned and ensure their challenges do not negatively affect their academic performance.

In essence, these findings underscore the critical role of teachers' confidence, in shaping their approach to teaching and supporting orphaned learners. Teachers who demonstrate self-assuredness not only improve their own teaching effectiveness but also contribute to learners' overall well-being and success.

4.4.2 Motivation

Seven out of the twelve participants expressed that their beliefs in teaching orphaned learners fuel their motivation and determination to excel in their role. These participants mentioned they are motivated to support these learners beyond the classroom, ensuring they master the concepts taught and achieve exceptional results. This motivation drives teachers to persistently work with the learners, identify and address their specific challenges, and continually enhance their teaching abilities. Their dedication and commitment create a learning environment that facilitates academic growth and provides fulfilment for teachers and learners. Teacher 6 from School C elaborated:

Because I am motivated, I can get the results I want from orphaned learners... And that motivates them when they do their work, and my subject becomes easy for them... When some of these orphaned learners are not performing well, they will see that I follow up on their work so that they will perform well. Therefore, this makes their learning to be effective.

One of the seven participants who feel motivated by their efficacy explained that the passion for teaching gained through self-efficacy rub onto learners, make them passionate about their school work, and energise them to perform exceptionally. Teacher 4 elaborated: "When these learners realise that teachers are passionate about teaching them, they forget about their orphanhood and passionately dedicate themselves to their work."

The findings reveal that teachers' efficacy beliefs are pivotal in fuelling their motivation and determination. Believing in their abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners, teachers feel inspired to invest extra effort and time in supporting their learning journey. This commitment

enables them to work with the said learners persistently, identify their specific challenges, and address them proactively, thus fostering a robust teacher-learner bond and academic success.

4.4.3 Happiness

One of the twelve participants mentioned that her belief in teaching orphaned learners also contributed to her happiness as a teacher. This happiness enables this teacher to establish positive relationships with the orphaned learners, making them feel accepted and included. This sense of acceptance and belonging fosters a nurturing and supportive learning environment for orphaned learners. Teacher 6 explained, "I become happy as a teacher, and this enables me to have good relations with orphaned learners and approach them in a manner that makes them feel welcome and not isolated."

The findings point out that teachers' beliefs in their abilities to make a difference in the lives of orphaned learners bring them a sense of happiness in their profession. This positive mindset translates into interactions with the said learners. When teachers have positive beliefs about their students and teaching abilities, it can lead to greater happiness. This, in turn, influences how they interact with their learners, creating a positive and supportive learning environment that benefits all learners, including those who may face unique challenges like orphaned learners.

4.4.4 Patience

Data collected showed that participants' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners influenced them to be patient. Two out of twelve participants explained that they can keep their composure with their patience. This is because it is through patience that teachers can help orphaned learners with their needs. The two participants reported that they still persevere in the face of difficulties encountered while teaching these learners. Hence their patience breeds resilience. They further stated that with their patience, they help orphaned learners be resilient and develop coping mechanisms to persist, bounce back from every problem, and continue learning. These participants explained that they make orphaned learners aware of the challenges they can face to become resilient and not fall prey to situations that render them even more vulnerable. For instance, they should avoid entering into relationships with older people to make a living. Teacher

1 elaborated: "Being able to teach and guide orphaned learners gives me patience which enables me to understand them and help them with challenges they may be facing."

These findings reveal that teachers' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners profoundly impact their level of patience, which, in turn, play a vital role in creating a supportive and resilient learning environment for those learners.

4.4.5 Preparation

Collected data showed that participants' beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners influenced them to prepare and plan. Two participants explained that with preparation, they could strategically approach orphaned learners and use all the relevant learning material to teach such learners successfully. These participants also reported that the approaches they operate through preparation and planning enable the orphaned learners to release their full academic potential. Teacher 6 elaborated:

I plan my lessons effectively and leave no room for failure; hence I have become an organised teacher. This helps learners, including orphaned, because I can properly deliver the content due to prior planning and preparation. Even when learners ask questions, I can respond.

Therefore, this implies that preparation influences teachers to be able to support orphaned learners holistically.

4.4.6 Open-mindedness

Data collected show that participants' beliefs influence them to be open-minded. Being open-minded was found to have an influence on teachers' holistic support to orphaned learners. Of the twelve participants, two asserted that their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners enable them to be open-minded. These participants explained that by being open-minded, they become ready to approach orphaned learners with an open mind hence being able to address these learners' needs. Teacher 4 elaborated, "My ability to teach orphaned learners enables me to be mentally ready and open to different ways of teaching orphaned learners and holistically support them."

The data suggest that teachers' beliefs are crucial in shaping their attitudes and behaviour towards orphaned learners. Teachers with solid efficacy beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners are likelier to approach their students with an open mind. This open-mindedness makes them more receptive to the learners' unique needs and challenges, leading to a more supportive and inclusive learning environment.

4.4.7 Empathy

The collected data indicate that participants' beliefs influence their empathy towards orphaned learners. Two out of twelve participants explained that beliefs in their abilities as teachers enable them not to be judgemental and understand where orphaned learners come from. Consequently, this allows participants to assist the orphaned learners through necessities, advice and other forms of help. Teacher 7 elaborated: "Being empathetic enables me to understand where orphaned learners come from and relate to their problems."

These findings suggest that teachers' beliefs are pivotal in shaping their empathy towards orphaned learners. Teachers who believe positively in their abilities are probable to approach these learners with compassion and understanding. By being empathetic, teachers can holistically support orphaned learners.

4.5 STRATEGIES THAT EFFICACIOUS TEACHERS USE TO SUPPORT ORPHANED LEARNERS

Participants were asked what strategies they use to support orphaned learners. In their responses, the following themes were generated: zero tolerance towards discrimination, provision of counselling, using extra-curricular activities for orphaned learners' social integration, use of competitions and positive reinforcements and retaining orphaned learners through progression. These themes are unpacked as follows:

4.5.1 Ensuring zero tolerance toward discrimination

Ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination emerged as one of the strategies that participants use as teachers to support orphaned learners in class, help them remain in school, and achieve academic success. Eight out of twelve participants explained that they do not discriminate orphaned learners from other learners in class. They teach orphaned and other learners in class and reprimand them like other learners. This is because treating orphaned learners differently will isolate them, and other learners might avoid them. The eight participants asserted that they integrate orphaned learners with other learners by ensuring that other learners and teachers do not harass such learners. The participants also posited that in class, they try to avoid examples that remind orphaned learners of the pain of losing their parents. They further stated that they ensure that other learners do not discriminate against orphaned learners. Teacher 7 reiterated: "I ensure that in my class, all learners care for each other and do not discriminate against one another as they are one family."

The data collected further show that the said participants ensure that orphaned learners are not discriminated against by employing the same teaching methodologies for all learners including orphaned. In so doing, orphaned learners feel included and understood, knowing they have someone who relates to them, just like everyone in the class. Teacher 9 stated:

First of all, all learners must be the same and with orphaned learners... I do not always make them feel that they are orphaned. Therefore, I teach them with other learners as they are the same. Orphaned learners do things that others do in my class at that time. When I group them for discussion, I do not group them in isolation; I group them with other learners so that other learners will help them to feel like they are not orphaned and do not remain isolated in class.

Teacher 5 from School C further reiterated: "I provide an environment where orphaned learners can engage with other learners through group work, discussions and presentations."

These data highlight the significant impact of teachers' approach towards ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination in the classroom. Teachers foster a sense of inclusivity and belonging by

treating orphaned learners equally and integrating them with their peers, which is crucial for their emotional well-being and academic success.

4.5.2 Provision of Counselling

Data collected showed that teachers use counselling as one of the strategies to support orphaned learners, help them to remain in school, and achieve academic success. Six out of twelve participants described that even when orphaned learners have sponsorship and their necessities are provided for, they develop depression, become lonely and feel lost due to loss of parent (s). To counteract the depression, participants stated that they provide counselling and make orphaned learners accept their orphanhood. According to these six participants, counselling can ease feelings of self-doubt and loss. As a result, orphaned learners can continue attending school and performing well academically. Teacher 7 reported:

I am a lay counsellor and orphaned learners come to me and open up about their problems. After opening up about their issues, I can provide them with counselling to ensure that their issues do not negatively affect their academic performance and mental health. Therefore, being a teacher and a counsellor helps because I can give all learners, including orphaned, psychological support and ensure their academic success.

The data indicates that counselling supports orphaned learners' emotional well-being and academic success. The challenges of losing a parent(s) can profoundly impact these learners, leading to feelings of depression, loneliness, and uncertainty about their future. Therefore, counselling supports orphaned learners emotionally, psychologically, mentally, and physically.

4.5.3 Using extra-curricular activities for orphaned learners' social integrations

Data collected indicated that participants use engaging orphaned learners in extracurricular activities as one of the strategies to support them in class, help them to remain in school, and achieve academic success. Six out of twelve participants reported encouraging and inviting

orphaned learners to actively participate in extra-curricular activities, including sports, art, music, and clubs. These participants explained that the extra-curricular activities make orphaned learners feel like they belong in the school. The six teachers opined that to encourage more engagement in extracurricular activities such as sports, they buy sports equipment such as soccer balls and jerseys. When orphaned learners play, their confidence improves, and they end up performing well in the activities that they are involved in. Participants further explained that they translate orphaned learners' extracurricular activities performance into class.

They elaborated that when they involve orphaned learners in clubs such as the English, Science, Debate, and Student Christian Movement, such learners can learn some things they would not learn from class lessons. Therefore, these clubs can support these learners socially, academically and mentally. Teacher 7 elaborated, "When orphaned learners participate in extracurricular activities and excel, they get encouraged and motivated that they can also excel in the classroom."

These findings reveal that the use of extracurricular activities is one of the strategies used by participants in supporting orphaned learners to engage such learners in the learning process and ensure their academic success. Encouraging orphaned learners to engage in extracurricular activities can play a pivotal role in integrating such learners within the school environments.

4.5.4 Use of competitions and positive reinforcements

Data collected indicated that motivating orphaned learners is one of the strategies participants use to support them in the learning process and ensure their retention and academic success. Three out of twelve participants reported that they motivate orphaned learners through personal experiences to show them that they, too, can succeed. Teachers stated that they also invite motivational speakers such as previous orphaned learners and professionals to motivate orphaned learners to instil in them the desire to remain in school and achieve academic success. Teacher 4 elaborated: "The testimony that the motivational speakers give can make orphaned learners realise that what they are going through is not the end of the world, and through perseverance, they can succeed."

Data collected further indicated that teachers utilise competition to motivate orphaned learners in class, help them remain in school, and achieve academic success. Three out of twelve participants

stated that they encourage orphaned learners to enter competitions they hold at school and those they have between schools. The three teachers explained that in these competitions, orphaned learners can meet learners with different and exceptional capabilities, making them desire to win. As they win, they get motivated to remain in school. The three participants also reported that orphaned learners feel part of the school by entering these competitions even if they do not win. Teacher 10 elaborated:

Our school has competitions, and through these competitions, learners, including orphaned ones, get awards when they perform well. This helps all learners to stay motivated and remain in school. With these competitions, we alternate participants so that everyone has a chance to participate in the contest. Participation in these competitions enables orphaned learners to integrate within the school environment and interact socially with other learners.

Teacher 10 further reiterated:

We enter competitions with other schools, and orphaned learners become part of the team representing the school because we treat orphaned learners like other learners. We select participants based on their performance and capability.

Participants further reported that they use positive reinforcements as a way of motivating orphaned learners. Four out of twelve participants asserted that when learners, including orphaned, have performed well, they praise them for their excellent grades. They further described that they provide them with rewards to acknowledge their performance. The four teachers attested that these reinforcements motivate and drive these learners, including orphaned learners, to work hard, help them to remain in school, and achieve academic success. When orphaned learners realise that they are treated the same way as other learners, they get a sense of belonging and desire to remain in school. Teacher 3 elaborated: "I reward my learners when they have done something good, and this drives them to obtain good grades and continue learning."

Teacher 8 further elaborated:

When I realise that a certain learner performs exceptionally well in other activities like sports, I say to such a learner, if you can do this in extracurricular activities, then you can extend that ability to the classroom and perform well.

These findings from the data suggest that motivational strategies play a crucial role in supporting orphaned learners and fostering their academic success. Through motivational speakers, competitions, and positive reinforcements, teachers create an inclusive and empowering learning environment that encourages orphaned learners to overcome obstacles and actively engage in their education. These motivational approaches can contribute to orphaned learners' retention and academic achievement.

4.5.5 Progression

Allowing orphaned learners to progress to the next class without failing emerged as one of the strategies teachers use to support orphaned learners. One out of twelve participants elaborated that in her school, orphaned learners do not repeat a class; even if they fail, they are promoted to the next class. This can encourage such learners to want to remain in school and strive to achieve academic success. Teacher 12 elaborated: "In our school, vulnerable and orphaned learners do not fail a class because when they do, they forfeit the sponsorship, so we promote them to the next class."

The data collected suggest that only one participant considers allowing orphaned learners to progress to the next class, which can be a strategy to support these orphaned learners to not drop out of school and ensure that they feel like they belong in the school. However, this strategy cannot be considered beneficial to orphaned learners as allowing them to progress to the next class without passing may hinder them from progressing to institutions of higher learning.

4.6 Summary

This chapter dealt with the presentation, analysis and interpretation of data collected, based on the study's objectives. The chapter provided valuable insights into teachers' perceptions, beliefs, and practices concerning the teaching and support of orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools. The findings presented in this chapter will serve as a foundation for the forthcoming discussion and conclusions in Chapter 5, which will also provide a comprehensive understanding of the implications and recommendations arising from the study.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSIONS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 INTRODUCTION

This study delved into an exploration of teachers' perceptions regarding their effectiveness in instructing orphaned learners within Maseru secondary schools. Chapter four undertook the task of showcasing, analysing, and interpreting the data acquired from six secondary schools situated in Maseru. The present chapter is dedicated to engaging in a comprehensive discussion of the outcomes derived from this study. Drawing conclusions from the central findings, this chapter will also put forth recommendations. Furthermore, it will address the study's limitations, providing a well-rounded understanding of the research's scope and implications.

5.2 DISCUSSIONS

The following research questions guide the discussions: 1) How do teachers perceive their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools? 2) What are teachers' perceptions on the factors that inform teachers' efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools? 3) How does the perceived teachers' efficacy influence them to support orphaned learners holistically? 4) What strategies do efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners? These questions are discussed as follows:

5.2.1 Teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners

Eight themes relating to teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners emerged during data analysis. These themes include perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to teachers' communication, classroom management, parenting, interpersonal, referral and counselling skills. Participants also reported perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners as a result of their characters and spiritual values. These themes are discussed as follows:

5.2.1.1 Effective Communication Skills

Participants reported a high sense of efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their ability to communicate with such learners practically. Some participants reported that they could communicate effectively with orphaned learners, while others felt they needed to be adequately equipped with practical communication skills. Participants who reported a high sense of efficacy believed in their ability to have open communication lines with orphaned learners, which leads to discovering issues and challenges orphaned learners face. By maintaining open lines of communication, teachers understand orphaned learners' problems and needs, provide appropriate support and guidance. Effective communication skills enable teachers to offer targeted assistance and ensure that orphaned learners focus on their education without distractions. This is in line with Woolfolk's (2004) findings that efficacious teachers maintain open lines of communication with learners, enabling them to manipulate student engagement and learning regardless of the learners' diverse challenges. Dibapile (2012) further stipulates that teachers' communication skills can influence student engagement as learners are able to open up about their problems and seek assistance from teachers. This can ensure that the problems that learners face do not negatively impact on their learning. With effective communication skills, teachers can identify challenges that orphaned learners may be experiencing and thus pave the way for proactive problem-solving, while ensuring that orphaned learners' obstacles do not negatively impact their academic journey.

5.2.1.2 Classroom Management Skills

Participants also reported high self-efficacy perceptions in teaching orphaned learners due to their classroom management skills which enable instructional practices. Some participants reported having classroom management skills through invoking instructional practices, while the others failed to express their abilities in instructional practices. Teachers who reported the presence of classroom management skills recognised the significance of instructional practices in engaging orphaned learners and helping them understand complex topics. These teachers demonstrated commitment to individualised instruction and tailored their teaching methods to the specific needs of orphaned learners. This is in line with Poulou et al.'s (2018) findings that efficacious teachers are able to control their classroom, use constructive instructional strategies, create engaging lessons as well as adopt teaching methods that respond to diverse needs of learners. With classroom management skills, teachers can ensure orphaned learners' academic success regardless of the challenges that orphaned learners face by invoking teaching strategies that ensure learners' engagement in the classroom.

5.2.1.3 Parenting Skills

All of the participants expressed a strong belief in their ability to effectively teach orphaned learners due to their ability to act as parental figures towards such learners. The participants reported that in addition to providing academic instruction, they also take on the responsibility of meeting orphaned learners' basic needs, such as providing food, paying school fees, and providing uniforms. This extra care and support can make the said learners feel valued and loved thus enabling them to engage in the learning process within the classrooms without any distractions. This is in line with Wood and Goba's (2011) finding that efficacious teachers are capable of recognising the needs of orphaned learners and taking on the roles typically fulfilled by parents in situations where the parents are no longer present. Smedley and Pepperell (2010) also stipulate that teachers are responsible for building and maintaining caring relationships with isolated learners such as orphaned learners, a role typically fulfilled by parents. By assuming the parental responsibilities towards orphaned learners, teachers can ensure academic success of such learners as they can engage in the learning process without distractions such as lack of necessities

5.2.1.4 Interpersonal Skills

The participants highlighted perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners that arises from their strong interpersonal skills in teaching such learners. Some participants believed that possessing such skills enabled them to teach orphaned learners effectively, while others did not share the same belief. Teachers who acknowledged having interpersonal skills mentioned that they put in conscious efforts to create a sense of acceptance and belonging among the orphaned learners. Such teachers reported having closer relationships with their learners and interacting to improve their behavioural functioning. This is in line with Woolfolk et al. (1990) assertion that efficacious teachers maintain close relationships with their learners thus creating a positive learning environment. With this, teachers can integrate orphaned learners within their classrooms.

By integrating orphaned learners into the classroom, teachers can minimise isolation and discrimination, thus creating a supportive learning environment where all learners can thrive. High efficacy beliefs in teachers contribute to forming interpersonal relationships, as stated by Morris-Rothschild and Brassard (2006).

5.2.1.5 Referral Skills

Participants reported high self-efficacy perceptions in teaching orphaned learners, which is attributed to their referral skills in dealing with such learners. Teachers recognised their limitations in providing comprehensive help and support to orphaned learners and acknowledged the importance of involving other professionals and organisations. By referring orphaned learners to counsellors, social workers, and relevant foundations, teachers ensure that these learners receive the necessary assistance and support outside the classroom. This approach addresses the specific needs of orphaned learners and allows them to integrate into the school environment, similar to their peers. In support, Stoiber (2011) emphasises that teachers with a high sense of efficacy were more likely to make appropriate referrals for their learners with regards to some challenges that learners may be facing.

These findings are consistent with the research by Johnson and Birkeland (2003), which highlighted the significance of teacher referrals in connecting learners to appropriate resources and services. Teachers' belief in their referral skills reflects their understanding of the importance of a collaborative support network for vulnerable learners. As Stoiber (2011) stated, a relationship exists between teachers' efficacy beliefs and their ability to refer these learners for appropriate services. Teachers who believe in their referral skills demonstrate a proactive approach to meeting the needs of orphaned learners, thus aligning with the findings of other studies that emphasise the importance of teacher collaboration and the involvement with external professionals on behalf of learners (Ingersoll & Kralik, 2004; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2018).

5.2.1.6 Counselling Skills

Participants also reported high self-efficacy perceptions in teaching orphaned learners due to their abilities to counsel such learners. Some participants reported high perceived efficacy, while others perceived themselves as having low efficacy. Teachers who reported high efficacy recognised that orphaned learners' psychological and emotional challenges can hinder their learning progress. Therefore, these teachers highlighted the importance of addressing the challenges faced by orphaned learners as well as supporting them.

By offering counselling sessions, teachers help orphaned learners identify, analyse, and solve their problems, ultimately preparing them to engage in the learning process with a clear mind and focus.

Accordingly, Dahir (2008) recognised the importance of counselling skills in educational contexts and that these teachers' beliefs in their ability to counsel learners support learners' socio-economic well-being. Studies by Jennings and Greenberg (2009) and Durlak et al. (2011) have shown that teachers who possess counselling skills and provide social-emotional support contribute to positive student outcomes, including improved behaviour, increased engagement, and enhanced academic achievement. Therefore, this proactive approach to counselling addresses the psychological and emotional challenges orphaned learners face and contributes to their overall well-being and academic success.

5.2.1.7 Character

Participants highlighted that they perceive themselves as having high self-efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their characters towards such learners. Some participants reported a high efficacy in teaching orphaned learners due to their characters, while others reported low efficacy. Available literature predominantly focuses on teachers' personality traits that enable them to cultivate positive and supportive relationships with their learners. Research by Roorda et al. (2011) and Wubbels et al. (2016) shows that positive teacher-student relationships characterised by trust, support, and understanding significantly contribute to student well-being and academic success. Teachers with good personality traits, such as being approachable and empathetic, create a conducive learning environment where orphaned learners feel comfortable sharing their challenges and seeking assistance. Hughes et al. (2018) and Jennings and Greenberg (2009) emphasise the importance of teachers' socio-emotional competence and ability to create positive classroom climates.

5.2.1.8 Spiritual values

Participants further reported high efficacy perceptions in teaching orphaned learners, which is due to invocation of their spiritual values towards such learners. Teachers' efficacy beliefs arising from spiritual values were considered influential on their teaching effectiveness. Some participants reported a high sense of efficacy, while others reported a low sense of efficacy in spirituality. These teachers who believed in spirituality perceived their role in teaching orphaned learners as an opportunity to express their religious beliefs and values. By incorporating spiritual elements into their teaching, these teachers aimed to meet the spiritual needs of the orphaned learners. The

participants believed that their responsibility was to show love and care for their less fortunate neighbours.

While participants perceived a correlation between their spiritual values and their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners, no substantial research had been conducted to establish a clear connection between spiritual values and teachers' efficacy. As a result, the participants' perceived efficacy in teaching orphaned learners, rooted in spiritual values, cannot be considered existing as there seems to be no body of knowledge to support the correlation between perceived teachers' efficacy and spirituality. Moreover, the issue of spiritual values can be sensitive considering the religious diversity that may exist among teachers and learners, including orphans. Therefore, intensive research is required to substantiate this matter.

5.2.2 Factors that inform teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners

The data analysis revealed eight themes relating to factors that inform teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners. These themes are: teaching experiences, training, support, background, subjects taught, reading books, policies and mentorship. These themes are discussed as follows:

5.2.2.1 Teaching experiences

Teachers' work experiences emerged as informing factors shaping their perceptions of efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. A significant portion of teachers with elevated efficacy perceptions, expressed that their confidence and effectiveness in instructing orphaned learners developed over time due to positive outcomes and successful experiences. This pattern of findings aligns harmoniously with Bandura's self-efficacy theory (1977), which underscores the impact of mastery experiences on self-efficacy. Essentially, accomplishments seen as triumphs tend to elevate self-efficacy, whereas perceived failures can diminish it. This underscores the pivotal role that personal experiences play in molding teachers' convictions and self-assurance in their capacity to educate particular student demographics (Henson, 2001; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Moreover, Bandura's theory further posits that having surmounted challenges contributes to a belief in one's ability to overcome obstacles, irrespective of setbacks. These experiences equip teachers with the adaptability to cater for learners with diverse attributes and backgrounds,

facilitating the customisation of teaching methodologies to meet the distinctive requirements of orphaned learners.

5.2.2.2 Training

Participants reported that formal education and training significantly inform their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners. Most participants reported that formal education and training greatly enabled them to teach orphaned learners successfully. Teachers who have received relevant qualifications and courses related to teaching disadvantaged children, including orphaned learners, feel better equipped to teach them. Additionally, informal training through workshops and online courses helps teachers upgrade their skills and learn new strategies for teaching and supporting orphaned learners. In support, Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk, (2001) highlight the importance of teachers' qualifications and training in building their confidence and competence.

Bandura's self-efficacy theory (1977) suggests that providing individuals with relevant training and experiences can positively impact their self-efficacy beliefs. If people receive proper training and have opportunities to gain mastery experiences, they are more likely to develop higher self-efficacy in their respective domain. Therefore, it is important that teachers should continuously keep updating their skills and knowledge (Shakoor et al. 2013) due to the inevitable obsolescence that transpires over time.

5.2.2.3 Support

Participants reported that their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners are also informed by the support that they receive from various stakeholders, including colleagues, learners, school management, guardians, and the wider community. Participants attributed their high efficacy beliefs to the support they received from these stakeholders, while others reported a low efficacy. Participants reported that support from their colleagues enables them to learn from their colleagues' experiences. This aligns with Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory under vicarious experiences in that when colleagues offer support or share their experiences with each other, they can learn from their successes, challenges, and insights.

The support provided by various stakeholders as mentioned earlier helps teachers to feel that they are not alone thus that reinforces their knowledge and approaches to teaching. These findings are

consistent with prior research highlighting social support's significance in promoting teacher efficacy (Henson, 2001; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). The teaching materials from MOET, encouragement, resources, and guidance provided by these stakeholders further reinforce teachers' belief in their ability to teach orphaned learners effectively.

5.2.2.4 Background

Participants reported that their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners was further informed by their own personal experiences. For instance, teachers who grew up in difficult circumstances or have encountered orphaned learners may have a greater sense of efficacy than those who have not. These experiences enable teachers to empathise with the challenges faced by orphaned learners and provide them with the necessary support. Additionally, teachers who have overcome adversity in their own lives are more likely to understand and connect with orphaned learners. This finding is consistent with previous research that suggests teachers' backgrounds shape their attitudes and perceptions toward learners from diverse backgrounds (Ladson-Billings, 1994; Villegas & Lucas, 2002). Teachers' own backgrounds can be pivotal in enabling them to understand orphaned learners' situations and be in a position to know how best to approach them and engage them in the learning process.

5.2.2.5 Subjects taught

Participants reported that their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners is also informed by the subjects that they teach. The way certain subjects are taught, such as Religious Knowledge and Life Skills Based on Sexuality Education, can affect how teachers view their effectiveness. While some teachers expressed confidence in supporting orphaned learners due to teaching these subjects, others did not. These subjects are essential for teachers to be equipped with the skills and knowledge to help orphaned learners overcome their unique challenges. The subjects equip teachers with necessary skills and knowledge of how best to teach orphaned learners thus instilling confidence in their ability to teach such learners. Deemer (2004) states that confident teachers are more likely to be creative and innovative.

5.2.2.6 Reading Books

Participants further reported that reading books that offer insight and knowledge about teaching orphaned learners inform their efficacy in teaching such learners. When teachers read books offering insight and knowledge about teaching orphaned learners, it boosts their confidence in their teaching ability. A quarter of the participants reported reading books enable them to respond to the needs of orphaned learners thus inform their efficacy belief in teaching such learners. In contrast, others did not comment on their efficacy after reading books. Teachers who actively seek out resources and information on teaching strategies for orphaned learners are better equipped to meet their unique needs. This is in line with research (Tschaannen-Moran & Hoy, 2000; Woolfolk et al., 2005) which suggests that efficacious teachers are willing to try new ideas and strategies with their learners. This supports the idea that reading books can instill high self-efficacy beliefs in teachers which can give teachers the confidence to impart knowledge to their learners in a manner that responds to the different needs of learners in the classroom (Shahzad & Naureen, 2017). Through reading books that deal with orphaned learners, teachers can be in a position to understand such learners' situations and know how best to teach and approach them.

5.2.2.7 Policies

Participants reported that education policies such as the Inclusive Education Policy inform their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. Policies provide clear guidelines and support thus enabling teachers to be better equipped to teach orphaned learners. Policies like Inclusive education policies ensures teachers' ability to address the diverse learners' needs, including those who experience challenges, like orphaned learners. This is line with Mieghem et al. (2018) findings that teachers' attitudes towards their efficacy are informed by their knowledge and skills related to inclusive education that caters for learners from diverse backgrounds.

5.2.2.8 Mentorship

Participants further reported that mentorship inform their efficacy perceptions in teaching orphaned learners. Experienced teachers' mentorship was considered as having positive impact on teachers' efficacy belief in teaching orphaned learners. One participant reported feeling highly efficacious as a result of mentorship, while others did not mention mentorship as a factor informing their efficacy beliefs which indicates that mentorship is not commonly used thus some teachers

may have not been exposed to it during teaching practice. Being mentored by seasoned teachers during teaching practice can help new teachers understand the unique needs of orphaned learners and develop effective strategies to support their learning. Similarly, Tom & Wycliff (2021) suggest that mentorship provides guidance, teaching, and exposure to strategies that inform classroom practices. These findings align with Abi's (2021) argument that mentorship enables teachers to succeed in their teaching tasks and maximise learners' performance.

5.2.3 The influence of teachers' efficacy beliefs in holistically supporting orphaned learners

During data analysis, seven themes relating to the influence of teachers' efficacy beliefs in holistically supporting orphaned learners emerged. These themes were: confidence, patience, preparations, open-mindedness, empathy, motivation and happiness. These themes are unpacked as follows:

5.2.3.1 Confidence

Participants expressed that their beliefs in their abilities to teach orphaned learners influence them to be confident in teaching such learners. This finding is in line with Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory which states that having a perceived sense of self-efficacy can help build an individual's confidence. This confidence enables teachers to stand in front of their learners with conviction. Additionally, this confidence extends to the learners, as it helps them develop a positive mindset and believe they can overcome any challenges they may face. This is supported by Lunenburg's (2011) notion that self-efficacy builds confidence in one's ability to complete a task.

5.2.3.2 Patience

Participants noted that their efficacy beliefs influence them to maintain patience while teaching and supporting orphaned learners. This patience allows teachers to keep their composure even in challenging situations, where they must constantly be alert and address the learners' needs. These findings align with Dibapile (2012) that efficacious teachers have to be patient with learners. Teachers' patience also helps foster resilience in the learners, enabling them to cope with difficulties and persevere in their learning journey. In support, Shaughnessy (2004) states that if teachers encourage learners and become patient with them, such learners will be motivated to learn.

5.2.3.3 Preparation

Participants reported that their efficacy beliefs influence their ability to prepare and plan effectively for teaching orphaned learners. This finding aligns with Hoy (2003) and Mojavezi and Tamiz (2012) that efficacious teachers are more organised. This preparation ensures teachers strategically approach the learners and use appropriate learning materials to facilitate successful teaching. Well-planned lessons enhance the learners' academic performance by creating a conducive environment for understanding and knowledge retention. Teachers' preparedness aligns with Poulou et al.'s (2018) findings that efficacious teachers can organise and carry out behaviours that lead to a positive learning environment.

5.2.3.4 Open-mindedness

Participants reported that their efficacy beliefs influence them to be open minded in teaching orphaned learners. Teachers highlighted the importance of having an open mind. By having open mind, teachers are able to gain insight into each student's needs and adjust their teaching styles accordingly. Teachers' open mindedness creates a connection between teachers and learners thus allowing for relatable real-life examples that aid in comprehension. This is in line with Marzano et al. (2001) and Slonge's (2002) assertions that efficacious teachers have specific traits and behaviours that empower them to excel in any situation, ultimately benefiting the learners' performance. Being open minded influence teachers to be able to identify the needs of orphaned learners and ensure that the learning methods are in manner that respond to the orphaned learners due to the challenges that they experience.

5.2.3.5 Empathy

Some participants shared that their beliefs in their ability to make a difference influence them to be empathetic towards orphaned learners. Teachers stressed the importance of their efficacy in fostering empathy and providing holistic support for these learners. Empathy is important for teachers because it helps them understand the unique challenges faced by orphaned learners, enabling them to offer appropriate assistance. According to a study by Davis et al. (2003), sympathetic teachers foster supportive relationships with their learners and a positive classroom environment. Teachers who demonstrate empathy can create a safe and supportive environment that addresses the emotional needs of orphaned learners. This is consistent with the findings of

Caprara et al. (2006) and Klassen and Chiu (2010), who highlight the importance of demonstrating empathy in creating an inclusive classroom environment. By being non-judgmental and relating to the challenges faced by orphaned learners, teachers can help these learners feel supported and valued.

5.2.3.6 Motivation

Participants expressed that they feel motivated to holistically support orphaned learners because they believe in their ability to teach well. This determination leads them to offer additional support to ensure that their learners understand the lessons. By persisting in their efforts to help their learners and solve their problems, the teachers are able to improve the student's academic performance. These findings align with Bandura's (1977) theory, which suggests that individuals who have confidence in their own abilities are more inclined to persist in the face of challenges. They are less discouraged by obstacles and remain dedicated to achieving their desired outcomes, often emerging stronger from setbacks.

When teachers are motivated as a result of their self-efficacy beliefs, they develop a passion for teaching. Teachers with a passion for teaching are likely to inspire orphaned learners to have a similar passion for their school work regardless of the challenges that they face. This is in line with Friedman and Kass's (2008) findings that efficacious teachers exhibit care and concern to their learners which can instill passion for schools work in the student and enable them to respond positively to the learning process regardless of the challenges that they face.

Passionate teachers' support can motivate orphaned learners to strive for exceptional performance, as they feel acknowledged and encouraged. This highlights the importance of teachers' investment in their learners' education and its impact on learner outcomes. Vallerand (2010), emphasises the importance of passion in promoting student engagement as passionate teachers can inspire learners to develop a similar passion for learning, leading to increased motivation and exceptional performance.

5.2.3.7 Happiness

One participant highlighted that her self-efficacy influences her to be happy in her profession thus enabling her to holistically support orphaned learners. Happy teachers establish positive

relationships with their learners, creating an atmosphere where orphaned learners feel accepted and included. The acceptance and accommodation provided by these teachers can significantly impact the well-being and engagement of orphaned learners. These findings are supported by Biswas-Diener (2008), who suggests that happy teachers are more emotionally available, compassionate, and nurturing toward learners. Positive teacher-student relationships foster a sense of acceptance and belonging among orphaned learners, enhancing their overall well-being and engagement.

5.2.4 Strategies that efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners

Five themes relating to the strategies that efficacious use to support orphaned learners emerged during data analysis. These themes include; ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination, provision of counselling, using extracurricular activities for orphaned learners' social integration, use of competitions and positive reinforcements and retaining orphaned learners through progression.

5.2.4.1 Ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination

Participants reported that as a strategy of supporting orphaned learners, the ensure that their classroom environments are free of discrimination against orphaned learners in order to ensure that such learners can engage in the learning process without any distractions. The participants emphasised the importance of treating orphaned learners no differently from their peers. By integrating them with other learners and discouraging discrimination, teachers help orphaned learners feel accepted, included, and motivated to stay in school. Accordingly, when teachers do not tolerate discrimination in their classrooms that ensure that learning occurs in an inclusive classroom environment (IIEP-UNESCO, 2022). In sustenance, Pianta (1999) emphasises the importance of non-discrimination in the classroom environment as that can ensure that orphaned learners become fully engaged in the learning process without any distractions in the classroom.

5.2.4.2 Provision of counselling

Participants reported that as a strategy to support orphaned learners, they provide them with counselling in order to recognise the emotional and psychological challenges faced by such learners. Through counselling, teachers offer support, guidance, and a safe space for these learners

to express their feelings, accept their circumstances, and find the motivation to continue their education. Through the provision of counselling support, teachers establish a secure environment for orphaned learners to openly discuss their challenges, seek guidance, and cultivate resilience. This approach is consistent with Woolfolk's (2004) perspective, which suggests that efficacious teachers possess the ability to influence student engagement and learning outcomes, even for those who may be struggling. Hence, it becomes imperative for teachers to offer counselling services to orphaned learners, aiming to address their emotional needs and promote their overall well-being and academic advancement. McBride (2002) further emphasises that teachers need to possess high levels of efficacy to effectively address the cognitive, emotional, and social dimensions of orphaned learners' growth and academic achievements.

5.2.4.3 Using extra-curricular activities for orphaned learners' social integrations.

Participants reported that they encourage orphaned learners to engage in extra-curricular activities for social integrations as such foster their sense of belonging and effective engagement in the learning process. Engaging orphaned learners in extra-curricular activities such as sports, art, music, and clubs helps them develop a sense of belonging and boosts their self-confidence. These activities also provide opportunities for social, academic, and personal development, enhancing their educational experience. Additionally, participating in clubs allows orphaned learners to learn and socialise in a supportive environment, fostering their academic and personal growth. Accordingly, Mahoney et al. (2005) posited that participation in these activities can contribute to acquiring skills, personal growth and social relationships. The findings underscore the positive impact of extra-curricular activities on supporting orphaned learners and promoting their retention and academic success. In support, Eccles & Barber (1999) discovered that extra-curricular activities impact the academic performance, psychological well-being and social development of learners in school.

5.2.4.4 Use of competitions and positive reinforcements

Participants highlighted as a strategy for supporting orphaned learners, they use classroom competitions in order to inspire and motivate orphaned learners to work hard. Participating in competitions allows orphaned learners to showcase their skills, talents, and academic achievements. These experiences boost their self-esteem, motivate them to strive for success, and

instill a sense of pride in their academic accomplishments. Competitions allow these learners to showcase their abilities and integrate into the school community. The findings suggest that competitions catalyse orphaned learners' engagement and academic success. In support, Dweck (2006) emphasises the importance of fostering a growth mindset in learners, encouraging them to embrace challenges and see failures as opportunities for growth.

Participants further reported that they use positive reinforcement, such as praises and rewards in order to motivate orphaned learners to excel academically. These findings align with Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory in that positive verbal persuasion of learners can enhance their performance and encourage them to learn. This is because when individuals receive vocal encouragement and positive feedback about their performance, they are more likely to exert more effort and persevere through challenges (Bandura, 1977). In support, Hattie and Timperley (2007) and Redmond (2010) stated that positive reinforcements help learners understand their progress and make the necessary adjustments. By applying consistent reinforcement strategies, teachers can create a learning environment where orphaned learners feel equally valued and challenged, ultimately contributing to their retention and academic success.

5.2.4.5 Retaining orphaned learners through progression

One participant out of twelve expressed allowing orphaned learners to progress to the next class as one strategy to support these learners as allowing orphaned learners to fail and repeat a class can lead to low orphaned learners' retention rates. However, this strategy reflects the attributes of a teacher with low self-efficacy as such teachers shy away from diversity and consider difficult tasks as personal threats (Bandura, 1977). Allowing orphaned learners to progress to the next class regardless of the fact that they have not passed show the teacher's inability to effectively teach such learners. This strategy has the potential to be detrimental to orphaned learners. If they are consistently allowed to progress without acquiring the fundamental knowledge and skills, they are likely to struggle as they advance through their education. This struggle could lead to poor academic performance and hinder their chances of successfully pursuing higher education opportunities.

While the suggestion of allowing orphaned learners to progress to the next class might stem from a well-intentioned desire to prevent high dropout rates, it should not be upheld. The potential implications for the educational development and long-term success of orphaned learners need to be carefully considered. An effective education system should aim to strike a balance between supporting learners' needs and ensuring that they acquire the necessary skills and knowledge for their future.

5.3 **CONCLUSIONS**

In relation to the research question which says "To determine teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary school", the current study concludes that teachers believe that they are able to teach orphaned learners. The perceived self-efficacy in teaching orphaned learners is due to teachers' skills in effective communication, classroom management, parenting, referral, counselling as well as interpersonal skills. This further concludes that teachers' perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners is attributed to their character and spiritual values towards orphaned learners. These efficacy beliefs play a significant role in supporting these orphaned learners and significantly impact teachers' ability to teach orphaned learners effectively. By leveraging their abilities and adopting a holistic approach, teachers strive to empower orphaned learners and ensure they receive the education and support they need to succeed academically and personally.

With respect to the research question that states "To investigate teachers' perceptions on the factors that inform their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools", the study concludes that teachers' efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners are informed by a combination of factors including their teaching experiences, training, support, background, subject taught, reading books, policies, and mentorship. These factors shape teachers' confidence and competence in effectively teaching orphaned learners and addressing their unique needs. The factors also reinforce teachers' knowledge and ability to address the challenges orphaned learners face.

On the research question which says "To determine teachers' perceptions on how their efficacy beliefs influence them to holistically support orphaned learners", the current study concludes that teachers' efficacy beliefs enable them to be; confident, patient, prepared, open minded and empathetic. The study concludes that teachers' efficacy beliefs influence them to be motivated and happy in their profession. Teachers' efficacy beliefs empower them to support and assist orphaned

learners, including meeting their basic needs and seeking external help when necessary. These efficacy beliefs further enable teachers to positively impact orphaned learners' academic performance, behaviour, well-being, and overall outlook on life.

Lastly on the research question which says "To determine strategies that efficacious teachers use to support orphaned learners", the study concludes that the strategies employed by efficacious teachers to support orphaned learners encompass; ensuring zero tolerance towards discrimination, providing counselling, use of extracurricular activities for orphaned learners' social integrations, use of competitions and positive reinforcements and retaining orphaned learners through progression. These strategies support orphaned learners as they aim to create a supportive and inclusive learning environment; making them feel accepted, engaged, and motivated, thus enabling them to remain in school and achieve academic success.

5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The limitations of this study are that it used a limited number of participants to collect data and as such the conclusions cannot be generalised to the whole population of teachers in the Maseru district. The views expressed during the interviews only reflect the opinions of the participants who participated in this study. However, the collected data was meticulously analysed to accurately depict participants' perceptions of their effectiveness in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru secondary schools.

Another limitation of the study is that it utilised purposive sampling, meaning that the participants were selected based on subjective considerations. Nevertheless, the researcher gathered comprehensive and detailed data due to the participants' experience and qualifications.

5.5 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

Based on the findings of the current study, the following recommendations are made to various stakeholders who provide services to orphaned learners. These stakeholders are teachers, principals, institutions of higher learning and the Ministry of Education and Training.

5.5.1 Recommendation to the teachers

For teachers' efficacy beliefs to be enhanced, teachers need to keep updating their skills, including counselling and psychosocial support skills, to teach orphaned learners effectively. This is in order to respond to the ever-changing needs of orphaned learners. Teachers should establish support networks where teachers can share experiences, best practices, and strategies for teaching orphaned learners. This network can include regular meetings, online forums, and peer mentoring programs. These platforms can also encourage the creation of policies that foster the inclusivity of orphaned learners within the schools' environments. Teachers should prioritize developing a deep understanding of the unique challenges that orphaned learners face in order to be able to create a more supportive and inclusive learning environment. They should create classroom atmosphere that encourages open communication and regularly checking in with orphaned learners to ensure that they feel valued and included. In essence, the findings of the study show that teachers in Maseru Secondary schools are not aware of their efficacy beliefs in teaching orphaned learners, thus I recommend that teachers ought to be aware and have high efficacy beliefs in order to be able to teach orphaned learners and ensure their academic success despite the challenges that such learners face.

5.5.2 Recommendations to the principals

Principals should establish a supportive and inclusive school culture. They should foster a school culture that values diversity and inclusivity. This can be done through organizing of workshops, seminars, and training sessions for teachers to increase their awareness and understanding of the unique challenges that orphaned learners may face. Such workshops, training sessions and seminars can encourage open discussions and dialogue about their concerns and experiences in teaching these learners.

Principals should also provide professional development opportunities to teachers. They should offer regular professional development opportunities to teachers that focus on strategies for effectively teaching orphaned learners. These sessions can include evidence-based instructional methods, trauma-informed teaching approaches, and ways to create a safe and supportive learning environment. Principals should also collaborate with social workers and counsellors as such professionals can offer valuable insights and support to address the emotional and psychological needs of orphaned learners, helping teachers better understand and cater to their learners' needs.

5.5.3 Recommendations to the Higher Institutions

Higher education institutions such as universities and colleges that train teachers should develop specialised training programmes to equip student teachers with skills that address the needs of different types of vulnerable learners including orphans. These programmes can include teaching strategies that foster resilience and promote the emotional well-being of vulnerable learners. Moreover, higher education institutions should hold collaborative workshops involving teachers from Maseru secondary schools and experts from the said institutions, such as psychologists and social workers, to enhance teachers' understanding of the psychological, emotional, and social needs of orphaned learners. This can enable teachers to provide appropriate support and create inclusive learning environments.

5.5.4 Recommendations to the Ministry of Education and Training

It is recommended that the government of Lesotho, through the Ministry of Education, offer support systems and resources to secondary school teachers. This can be done by ensuring that secondary schools in Maseru have dedicated counselling services to provide emotional support, guidance and mentorship to learners at risk, including orphaned learners. There should be external professionals, such as social workers deployed in secondary schools in Maseru that work closely with teachers to address the individual needs of orphaned learners.

It is recommended that the Ministry of Education and Training (MOET) should allocate additional resources, learning materials, and technology, to secondary schools with a high population of orphaned learners. These resources will help teachers implement innovative teaching methods and enhance student engagement. It is also recommended that MOET should provide more sponsorship to all orphaned learners enrolled in secondary school. On top of the school fees that the Ministry is already paying for orphaned learners, it should also cater for necessities such as food and toiletries. With these basic needs catered for, orphaned learners will not feel the burden of lacking necessities and will focus on their learning.

The Ministry of Education and Training should form partnerships and collaborate with Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs). This collaboration can offer additional resources to orphaned learners as well as mentorship and extra-curricular activities that can enrich the learning experiences of orphaned learners. Lastly, the Ministry of Education should develop new policies

and improve existing policies within its framework that address the needs of orphaned learners and emphasize the importance of teacher support and efficacy in teaching them. After implementing the new policies, the Ministry should establish an evaluation mechanism that ensures that the developed policies not only exist on paper but are put into practice. This should also be the case with the already existing policies that have been developed. Lastly, the Ministry should launch advocacy campaigns to raise awareness among stakeholders, including policymakers, school administrators, parents, and the general public, about the challenges orphaned learners face and the crucial role of teachers in their education.

5.6 SUMMARY

The current chapter focused on discussing the findings acquired in this study. Conclusions were drawn from the findings, and recommendations for teachers, principals, higher institutions and the Ministry of Education and Training were made.

REFERENCES

- Abi, T. (2021). The relationship between leadership style and organisational commitment in the educational sector in Kuwait. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 22(2), 192–207.
- Akhtar, I. (2016). Research Design. Research in Social Science: Interdisciplinary Perspectives. In: Research in Social Science: Interdisciplinary Perspective, (pp.17). Social research foundation.
- Allen, R. J., & Nakonechnyi, A. (2023). Orphans, Displaced, and Institutionalized Children. In R. Baikady, S. Sajid, J. Przeperski, V. Nadesan, M. R. Islam, & J. Gao (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Global Social Problems*, 1-13. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-68127-2_284-1
- Al-zoubi, A., Sultan, M., & Abdel, M. A. (2011). The relationship between transformational leadership and teachers' job satisfaction in the northern region government schools in Jordan. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(6), 72-80.
- Amankwaa. L. (2016). Creating Protocols for Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research, *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23, 121-127
- Ambrose, S. A., Bridges, M. W., DiPietro, M., Lovett, M. C., & Norman, M. K. (2010). *How learning works: Seven research-based principles for smart teaching*. Jossey-Bass.
- Amos, M. A., & Aabi, M. N. (2017). The role of teacher leadership in fostering student creativity. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 61(3), 227-238.
- Ansell, N., & Young, L. (2004). Enabling households to support successful migration of AIDS orphans in Southern Africa. *AIDS Care: Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of HIV/AIDS*, 16(1), 3-10.
- Arlene, F. (2014). Conducting Research Literature Reviews. SAGE Publishers.

- Arminger. B. (1997). Ethics of Nursing Research: Profile, Principles, Perspective. *Nursing Research*, 26(5), 330-336.
- Babbie, E., & Mouton, J. (2006). The Practice of Social Research. Oxford University Press.
- Baecher, L., Artigliere, M., Patterson, D. K., & Spatzer, A. (2012). Differentiated instruction for English language learners as "variations on a theme": Teachers can differentiate instruction to support English language learners. *Middle School Journal*, 43(3), 14-21.
- Bahmanabadi, S., & Baluchzadeh, F. (2013). Determining the role of achievement objectives in mediating the relationship between classroom assessment structure and academic performance: A descriptive study. *Iranian Journal of Medical Education*, 13(2), 123-133.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Towards a unifying theory of behavioural change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Prentice Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Regulation of cognitive processes through perceived self-efficacy. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(5), 729-735.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy: Towards a unifying theory of behavioural change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. W. H. Freeman & Company.
- Bandura, A. (2011). The social and policy impact of social cognitive theory. In M. M. Mark, S. I. Donaldson, & B. Campbell (Eds.), *Social psychology and evaluation* (pp. 31–71). The Guilford Press.

- Bandura, A., & Adams, N. E. (1977). Analysis of the self-efficacy theory of behavioural change. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 1(4), 287-310.
- Barni D, Danioni F & Benevene P (2019). Teachers' Self-Efficacy: The Role of Personal Values and Motivations for Teaching. *Frontier Psychology*, 10, 1645.
- Barni, D., Danioni, F., & Benevene, P. (2019). Teacher leadership and job crafting: The mediating role of job resources. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 57(5), 533-548.
- Barni, D., Danioni, F., & Benevene, P. (2019). Teacher leadership and job crafting: The mediating role of job resources. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 57(5), 533-548.
- Beauchamp, T. L., & Childress, J. F. (2001). *Principles of Biomedical Ethics* (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Berg, B. L., & Lune, H. (2017). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences* (9th ed.). New York: Pearson.
- Berry, A., Depaepe, F., & Driel, J. (2016). Pedagogical Content Knowledge in Teacher Education. In International Handbook of Teacher Education (pp. 347-386). Springer.
- Bertram, C., & Christansen, I. (2014). *Understanding Research: An Introduction to Reading Research*.

 Van Schaik Publishers.
- Bhandari. P. (2021). A guide to Ethical Considerations in research. www.scribbr.com
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2010). Social science research: Principles, methods, and practices. USF Open Access

 Textbooks Collection. Global Text Project https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/oa_textbooks/3

- Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 5(1), 7–74.
- Bohm, A. (2004). Theoretical Coding: Text Analysis in Grounded Theory. In A. Bryant & K. Charmaz (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Grounded Theory* (pp. 127-145). SAGE Publications.
- Bouma, G.D., & Ling, R. (2004). The Research Process (5th ed.). Oxford University Press
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101
- Brydges, N., & Mkandawire, P. (2020). Teacher leadership in challenging school contexts: A case study. School Leadership & Management, 40(1), 81-98.
- Bryman, A. (2004). Social Research Methods (2nd Ed). Oxford University Press
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods. Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2007). *The nature of quantities research: Business research methods* (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Campbell, C., Andersen, L. M. A., Madanhire, C. N. C., & Gregson, S. (2016). Can schools support HIV/AIDS-affected children? Exploring the "ethic of care" amongst rural Zimbabwean teachers. *PLOS ONE*, 11(1), 1-22.
- Campbell, D. J., & Pretti, J. J. (2017). Integrating sustainability into business curricula: An assessment of sustainable business courses in the United States. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 166, 639–651.
- Cannorer, M. (2005). School leadership and student outcomes. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 41(5), 671–690.

- Caprara, G. V., Barbaranelli, P. S., Steca, P., & Malone, P. S. (2006). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs as determinants of job satisfaction and students' academic achievement: A study at the school level. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44(6), 473–490.
- Caulfield, J. (2019). How to do thematic analysis, www.scribbr.com
- Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention & The Department of Basic Education. (2012). *Positive discipline* and classroom management. Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention.
- Chen, Z., & Yeung, A. S. (2015). Self-Efficacy in teaching Chinese as a Foreign Language in Australian Schools. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(8), 24–42.
- Chetty, P. (2016). Importance of research approach in research, www.projectguru.in
- Chisaka, B. C. (2013). The qualitative research paradigm. In B. C. Chisaka, *Action Research: Some Practical Ideas for Educational Practice*. Save the Children.
- Chizhik, E. W. (2018). Teacher leadership in practice: A mixed-methods examination of teachers' roles, practices, and perceptions. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 54(3), 422-457.
- Cialdini, R. (2016). Pre-suasion: A revolutionary way to influence and persuade. Simon & Schuster.
- Clarke, V., Braun, V., & Hayfield, N. (2015). Thematic Analysis. In Smith, J.A., ED., *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods*, SAGE Publications, 222-248.
- Coghlan, D., & Brydon-Miller, M. (2014). The Sage Encyclopedia of Action Research. SAGE.
- Cohen, J., Raudenbush, S., & Ball, D. (2002). Resources, instruction, and research. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 25(2), 119-142.
- Cohen, L, Manion, L & Morrison, K. (2007). Research Methods in Education (6th Ed.) Routledge.

- Cohen, L, Manion, L & Morrison, K. (2018). *Research Methods in Education* (8th ed.). Routledge, https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315456539
- Cohen, L., Manion, L. and Morrison, K. (2002). Research Methods in Education. Routledge.
- Corden, A., & Sainsbury, R. (2006). Exploring 'Quality': Research Participants' Perspectives on Verbatim Quotations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice*, 9(2), 97–110. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570600595264
- Costa, A., & Garmston, R. (1994). Cognitive coaching: A foundation for Renaissance schools. *Educational Leadership*, 51(1), 15–18.
- Creswell, J. (2002). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (2nd ed.) SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches (3rd ed.). SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2010). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., Ebersohn, L., & Ferreira, R. (2007). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*. Pearson.

- Creswell, J.W. (2011). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research. New Jersey: Pearson Education International, www.scirp.com
- Creswell, J.W. and Creswell, J.D. (2018). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Sage.
- Dahir, A. L. (2008). Teacher self-efficacy and moral disengagement in Turkish pre-service teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(5), 1178-1187.
- Danielson, C. (1999). The many faces of leadership. *Educational Leadership*, 57(7), 14–19.
- Darago, A. M. (2016). Teacher leadership and its impact on student achievement in urban elementary schools. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 54(6), 773-791.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). Teacher Education and the American Future. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 61(2), 35-47.
- Davis, H. A., DeMoss, K., & Jackson, J. L. (2003). The role of teacher empathy in fostering student engagement: A dynamic systems analysis. *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, 38(2), 19-29.
- De Vaus, D. A. (2001). Research Design in Social Research. SAGE Publications.
- DeChenne, E., Koziol, N., Needham, M., & Enochs, L. (2015). Modelling Sources of Self-efficacy for Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics Graduate Teaching Assistants. *CBE-Life Sciences Education*, 14(3), 35.
- Deemer, D. M. (2004). Academic performance and job satisfaction of nurse faculty. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 43(8), 361–366.

- DeMatteo, D., & Festinger, D. S. (2005). *Motivation and change: A workbook for patients, therapists, and researchers*. Wiley.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). The sage handbook of qualitative research (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Devos, G. (2005). Doing qualitative research in education settings. State University of New York Press.
- Dibapile, W. T. S. (2012). A review of the literature on teacher efficacy and classroom management. Educational Psychology and Counselling Publications and Other Works, 9(2), 79-92.
- Doyle, L. (2007). The impact of job characteristics on nursing job satisfaction: A study of long-term care nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 15(7), 731–740.
- Drah, B. B. (2012). Orphans in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Crisis, the Interventions, and the Anthropologist. *Africa Today*, 59(2), 2-21.
- Dudovskiy, J. (2018). Positivism—Research Methodology. Research Methodology, 1-16.
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82(1), 405-432.
- Dweck, C. S. (2006). *Mindset: The New Psychology of Success*. Random House Publication.
- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L. (1999). Student council, volunteering, basketball, or marching band: What kind of extracurricular involvement matters? *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 14(1), 10–43.

- Elliott, R., & Timulak, L. (2005). Descriptive and interpretive approaches to qualitative research. In J. Miles & P. Gilbert (Eds.), *A handbook of research methods for clinical and health psychology*. Oxford University Press.
- Ellis, T. J. (2000). How much of a role does money play in determining satisfaction with work? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 15(2), 187–204.
- Epstein, J., Sanders, M., Simons, B., Salinas, K., Jansorn, N., & van Voorhis, F. (2002). *School, Family, and Community Partnerships: Your Handbook for Action*. Corwin Press.
- Evertson, C. M., & Poole, D. (2008). Classroom Management for Elementary Teachers (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Eyler, L. T., & Jeste, D. V. (2006). Social engagement and aging. In *Handbook of Aging and Mental Health: An Integrative Approach* (pp. 87-105). Springer.
- Farah, A. I. (2013). School Management: Characteristics of Effective Principal. *Global Journal of Human Social Science Linguistics & Education*, 13(13).
- Flick, A. (2014). Conducting Research Literature Reviews (5th ed.). SAGE Publishers.
- Fowler, F. J. (2009). Survey Research Methods (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452230184
- Friedman, I. A., & Kass, E. (2002). Teacher self-efficacy: A classroom-organisation conceptualization.

 Teaching and Teacher Education, 18(6) 675-686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(02)00027-6

 *6
- Fullan, M. (2014). The Principal: Three Keys to Maximizing Impact. John Wiley & Sons. colleagues, school management, guardians, parents, and the broader community

- Gagani, Ray Ferdinand. (2019). Credibility in Qualitative and Quantitative Research in Education: A Humean Approach. *American Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences Research*, 3(6), 134-139.
- Gale, J., Alemdar, M., Cappelli, C., & Morris, D. B. (2021). A mixed methods study of self-efficacy, the sources of self-efficacy, and the teaching experience. *Frontiers in Education*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.750599
- Gale, N. K., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2017). Experiences of using qualitative methods in health research: Perceptions of young people with diabetes. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 491–498.
- Galos, S., & Aldridge, J. M. (2021). Relationships between learning environments and self-efficacy in primary schools and differing perceptions of at-risk learners. *Learning Environments Research*, 24(4), 253–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-020-09323-0
- Ganga, E., & Mphalala, M. (2013). Teacher leadership and its impact on teacher and student outcomes. South African Journal of Education, 33(4), 1-15.
- Gay, L.R., Mills, G, E., & Airasian, P. (2006). *Educational Research Competencies for Analysis and Applications*. Columbus Merrill Greenwood.
- Gibbs, G. (2007). Thematic Coding, Categorising and Analysing Qualitative Data. SAGE Publications. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781849208574
- Gibbs, G., & Coffey, M. (2004). The impact of training of university teachers on their teaching skills, their approach to teaching, and the approach to learning of their students. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 5(1), 87–100.

- Gjendia, C., & Gardinier, L. (2018). Teacher leadership and instructional improvement in urban schools. *Urban Education*, 53(6), 731-757.
- Gökçe, D. D. (2019). Learning Climate and Self-Efficacy Beliefs of High School Learners in an EFL Setting. *Research on Youth and Language*, 13(1), 19-35.
- Good, T. L., & Brophy, J. E. (2000). Educational Psychology: A Realistic Approach (6th ed.). Wiley.
- Good, T. L., & Brophy, J., E. (2003). Looking in the classroom (9th ed). Allyn & Bacon.
- Gorrell, J., & Capron, J. (1994). The nature and impact of teacher leadership. *Education and Urban Society*, 27(2), 148-167.
- Gregory, I. (2003). Ethics in Research: Continuum. Bloomsbury Publishers.
- Grinyer, A. (2002). The Anonymity of Research Participants: Assumptions, Ethics and Practicalities, Social Research Update, 36.
- Grossman, R., & Salas, E. (2011). The role of leadership in team training. In E. Salas, C. A. Bowers, & E. Edens (Eds.), *Improving Teamwork in Organisations: Applications of Resource Management Training* (pp. 163-183). Taylor & Francis.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59-82.
- Gunawan, J. (2015). Ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, 1(1), 10-11.
- Gungor, C., & Ozdemirb, S. (2017). An analysis of primary school teacher's perception of school principals' distributed leadership behaviours. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 17(4), 1181-1214.

- Haggerty, L. A. (2004). Ethics creep: Governing social science research in the name of ethics. *Qualitative Sociology*, 27(4), 391–414.
- Hair, J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J. and Anderson, R.E. (2010) *Multivariate Data Analysis*. (7th ed.). Pearson
- Hamre, B. K., Pianta, R. C., Downer, J. T., DeCoster, J., Mashburn, A. J., & Jones, S. M. (2008). Quality in kindergarten classrooms: Observational evidence for the need to increase children's learning opportunities in early education classrooms. *Early Education and Development*, 19(1), 131–153.
- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (2012). *Professional capital: Transforming teaching in every school.*Teachers College Press.
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses related to achievement. Routledge.
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The Power of Feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77, 81-112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487
- Helgesson, G., & Eriksson, S. (2015). Plagiarism in research. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, 18, 91-101.
- Henson, R. K. (2001). Teacher self-efficacy: Substantive implications and measurement dilemmas. *Educational Psychologist*, 36(3), 139–153.
- Holfelder, A. (2019). Towards a sustainable future with education? *Sustainable Science*, 14, 943-952.
- Holzberger, D., Philipp, D., & Kunter, M. (2013). How Teachers' Self-Efficacy Is Related to Instructional Quality: A Longitudinal Analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(3), 774-778.

- Hoy, W. K. (1998). School characteristics that matter to teachers. *Journal of School Leadership*, 8(3), 185-199.
- Hoy, W. K. (2003). An analysis of enabling and mindful school structures: Theoretical, research, and practical considerations. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 44(1), 87-109.
- Hughes, J. N., Luo, W., Kwok, O., & Loyd, L. K. (2018). Teacher-student relationship and behaviour problems: Does ethnicity matter? *Journal of School Psychology*, 68, 112-125.
- IIEP-UNESCO. (2022). Teacher Leadership and Its Impact on Educational Quality: A Global Perspective. International Institute for Educational Planning, UNESCO.
- Ingersoll, R. M., & Kralik, J. M. (2004). *The impact of mentoring on teacher retention: What the research says*. Education Commission of the States.
- Iphofen, R. (2009). Ethical Decision Making in Social Research: A Practical Guide. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Iwaloye, B. O., Gamede, B. T., & Uleanya, C. (2022). The impact of poverty trap on learners' academic achievement in rural secondary schools in the Zululand District: A case of Nongoma secondary rural schools. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 12(3), 263-273.
- Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 491-525.
- John, T., Tom, W., & Wycliffe, J. (2021). Teacher leadership and its impact on student learning outcomes in a high-stakes testing context. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 100, 103-151.
- Johnson, S., & Birkeland, S. (2003). Pursuing a "Sense of Success": New Teachers Explain Their Career Decisions. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40, 581-617.

- Jung, M. H., Gonzalez, F. J., & Critcher, C. R. (2020). The vicarious construal effect: Seeing and experiencing the world through different eyes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 118(4), 617–638. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000179
- Kafwa, V. N. (2005). Effectiveness of AIDS Education Programs in Secondary Schools in Busia District. [Unpublished MPhil Dissertation]. Moi University.
- Kallet R. H., (2004). How to write the methods section of a Research Paper. *Creative Education*, 10(12), 1229-1232.
- Khatri, K. (2020). Research Paradigm: A Philosophy of Educational Research. *International Journal of English Literature and Social Sciences*, 5, https://doi.org/10.22161/ijels.55.15
- Kivunja, C., & Kuyini, A. B. (2017). Understanding and Applying Research Paradigms in Educational Contexts. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6, 26-41.
- Klassen, R., & Chiu, M. M. (2010). Effects of teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction: Teacher gender, years of experience and job stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102, 741-756. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0019237
- Kothari, C. R. (2004). *Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques* (2nd ed.) New Age International Publishers.
- Kour, M. (2014). Understanding Research Methodology: A Guide for Students and Practitioners in the Social Sciences. Routledge.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994). The dream keepers: Successful teachers of African American children.

 Jossey-Bass.

- Leach, L., & Liu, L. (2003). From expert student to novice professional. *Professional Development in Education*, 29(1), 1–19.
- Lee, O., Hart, J. E., Cuevas, P., & Enders, C. (2004). Professional development in inquiry-based science for elementary teachers of diverse student groups. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(10), 1021-1043.
- Leedy, P. & Ormrod, J. (2001). Practical research: Planning and design (7th ed.). SAGE Publications
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical Research: Planning and Design* (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Levin, K., A. (2006). Study Design III: cross-sectional studies. *Evidence-based Dentistry*, 7(1), 24-5.
- Lewandowski, K. H. (2005). A study of the relation of teachers' efficacy and the impact of leadership and professional development. [Unpublished Master's dissertation]. University of Pennsylvania.
- Liddell, C & Baron, A. (2021). Non-maleficence & Beneficence in Research Ethics.

 www.study.com/academy/lesson
- Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Longhurst, R. (2009). Semi-structured interviewing. In N. Clifford, S. French, & V. Valentine (Eds.), *Key Methods in Geography* (2nd ed., pp. 136–150). SAGE Publications.
- Lunenburg, C. F. (2011). Self-efficacy in the workplace: Implications of motivation and performance.

 International Journal of Management, Business, and Administration, 14(1), 1-6.
- Mahoney, J. L., Larson, R. W., & Eccles, J. S. (2005). Organised activities as contexts of development: Extracurricular activities, after-school, and community programs. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Maranon, J. A. (2003). Teacher leadership in a changing school landscape. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 17(5), 201-206.
- Marsha, M. A., & Seaton, M. (2013). The impact of teacher leadership on student outcomes in high-stakes testing contexts. *Journal of Educational Research*, 106(1), 1-11.
- Martin, N. K., Sass, D. A., & Schmitt, T. A. (2012). Teacher efficacy in student engagement, instructional management, student stressors and burnout: A theoretical model using in class variables to predict teachers' intent to leave. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(4), 546-559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.12.003
- Marzano, R. J., Pickering, D. J., & Pollock, J. E. (2001). Classroom Instruction That Works: Research-Based Strategies for Increasing Student Achievement. ASCD.
- Mayer, R. E. (2009). Multimedia Learning: Psychology for the Digital Age. Cambridge University Press.
- McBride, B., Bae, J., & Wright, M. (2002). An examination of family-school partnership initiatives in rural prekindergarten programs. *Early Education & Development*, 13(1), 107-125.
- McBride, R. (2002). Teacher leadership and student achievement: An exploratory study. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 5(4), 315–327.
- McGregor, S. L. T., & Murnane, J. A. (2010). Paradigm, methodology, and method: Intellectual integrity in consumer scholarship. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 34(4), 419-427.
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2010). Research in Education: Evidence-Based Inquiry (7th ed.).

 Pearson.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation* (3rd ed.). Jossey-Bass.

- Metin, M., & Temel, S. (2019). The mediating effect of teacher leadership on the relationship between school culture and organisational commitment. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 22(3), 305-321.
- Mieghem, V., Verschuren, P., Petry, K., & Struyf, E. (2018). The impact of teacher leadership on job satisfaction and organisational commitment: A moderated mediation model. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46(3), 468-487.
- Miller, A. D., Ramirez, M. E., Murdock, T. B (2017). The Influence of teachers' self-efficacy on perceptions: Perceived teacher Competence and Respect and Student effort and Achievement.

 *Teaching and Teacher Education, 64, 260-269.
- Mills, A. J. (2010). Action Research: A Guide for the Teacher Researcher (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Ministry of Education and Training (2016). Education Sector Plan (2016-2023). Government Printing.
- Ministry of Education and Training (2018). *Education Statistic Report* (No. 25 of 2020). Government Printing.
- Ministry of Education and Training. (2010). Education Act (No.3 of 2010). Government Printing.
- Miskon, Bandara & Fielt, (2015). Applying the Principles of Interpretive Field Research: As an Example of an IS case study on shared services, *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 10(23), 18078-18086.
- Mogotlane, S.M., Chauke, M.E., Van Rensburg, G.H., Human, S.P., & Kganakga, C.M. (2010). A situational Analysis of Child-headed households in South Africa. *Curationis*, 33(3), https://doi.org/10.4102/curationis.v33i3.4

- Mojavezi, A., & Tamiz, M. (2012). The impact of teacher self-efficacy on the student's motivation and achievement. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 2(3), 483-491. https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.2.3.483-491
- Morries-Rothchild, L., & Brassard, M. R. (2006). Clinical assessment and diagnosis in social work practice.

 Oxford

 University

 Press.
- Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Silk, J. S., & Houltberg, B. J. (2017). The impact of parenting on emotion regulation during childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(4), 233-238. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12238
- Morris-Rothchild, L., & Brassard, M. R. (2006). Clinical Assessment and Diagnosis in Social Work Practice. Oxford University Press.
- Mosola, L. L. (2020). Enhancing Teachers' Self-Efficacy for Supporting Visually Impaired Learners in Lesotho Schools through School Support Networks. Unpublished Master's dissertation. The University of the Free State.
- Motsa, K. A., & Marojele, M. M. (2016). The role of teacher leadership in improving school climate. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 54(1), 2-17.
- Mphutlane, G. G. (2018). Lesotho Secondary School Principals' Perceptions of their Sense of Efficacy regarding their Managerial Competencies. [Unpublished Master's dissertation]. The National University of Lesotho.
- Mugenda, O. M. & Mugenda A. G (2003). Research Methods, Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches.

 ACT, Nairobi

- Mulholland, J., & Wallace, J. (2001). Teacher leadership and school improvement: Case studies of best practice. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 1(3), 189-205.
- Mwoma, T., & Pillay, H. (2016). Teacher leadership in schools: A review of empirical research. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 44(6), 957–977.
- Neff, K. D. (2008). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. Self and Identity, 2(2), 85–101.
- Nelson, K. (2007). Young Minds in Social Worlds: Experience, Meaning, and Memory. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.4159/9780674041400
- Newlin, M., Reynolds, S., & Nombutho, M. M.-W. (2016). Children from child-headed households: Understanding challenges that affect their academic pursuits. *Journal of Human Ecology*, 54(3), 158–173.
- Nieuwenhuis, J. (2010). Qualitative Research Designs and Data Gathering Techniques. In K. Marse (ed.). First Steps in Research. Van Schaik Publishers.
- Nina, K. C. F., Ramos, E. M. L. S., Ramos, M. F. H., Silva, S. S., Fernandez, A. P., & Pontes, F. A. R. (2016). Sources of Self-Efficacy in Teachers. *Revista de Psicologia*, 25(1), 1-20.
- Norman, D. A. (2004). *Emotional design: Why we love (or hate) everyday things.* Hachette Book Group.
- Norman, D. A. (2005). Emotional design: Why we love (or hate) everyday things. Basic Books.
- Ntuli, B., Mokgatle, M., & Madiba, S. (2020). The psychosocial wellbeing of orphans: The case of early school leavers in socially depressed environment in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. *PloS one*, 15(2), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229487
- Oliver, P. (2003). The Student's Guide to Research Ethics. Open University Press.

- Opoku, K. B., Van Niekerk, S., & Khuabi, A. A. (2021). Teacher leadership practices and their association with school improvement in disadvantaged contexts. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 49(3), 502-523.
- Oviawe, J. I. (2020). Application of Graham Model of Reflection in Improving Teaching Understanding among Technical Education Students in Ambrose Alli University Ekpoma Edo State. *Sumerianz Journal of Education, Linguistics and Literature*, 3(2), 8-15.
- Owolabi, O. T., & Adedayo, J. O. (2012). Effect of teacher's qualification on the performance of senior secondary school physics students: Implication on technology in Nigeria. *English Language Teaching*, 5(6), 72-75.
- Oyedele, V., Chikwature, W., & Manyange, P. (2016). Challenges facing orphaned students and the effects on academic performance in O-level commerce at Samaringa cluster secondary schools.

 International Journal of Academic Research and Reflection, 4(3), 37-43.
- Pajares, F. (1997). Current directions in self-efficacy research. In M. Maehr & P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), Advances in motivation and achievement (pp. 1-49). Connecticut: JAI Press.
- Pandolpho, B. (2020). Simple Ways to Promote Student Voice in the Classroom: Giving students some say over what happens in class can promote engagement and a strong sense of community.

 www.edutopia.org
- Panlinkas, L., Horwitz, S., Green, C., Wisdom, J., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposive sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research.

 **Administration & Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services Research, 42(5), 533–544.

 **https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

- Patel-Junankar, D. (2017). Learner-Centered Pedagogy: Teaching and Learning in the 21st Century. In G, Kayingo & V. M. Hess. (2017). *The Health Professions Educator: Practical Guide for New and Established Faculty* (ed.). Springer Publishing
- Patton, M. (2008). Utilization-focused evaluation (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Patton, M. Q. (2001). Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Paulus, F. M., Müller-Pinzler, L., Westermann, S., & Krach, S. (2013). On the distinction of empathic and vicarious emotions. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 196.
- Penny, A. R. (2008). Teacher leadership and student engagement: Examining the link between teacher leadership behaviours and student engagement in secondary schools. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 7(4), 345–371.
- Penuel, W. R., Briggs, D. C., Davidson, K. L., Herlihy, C., Hill, H. C., Farrell, C., & Sherer, D. (2016). Findings from a study of research-practice partnerships in education and implications for the future. *Harvard Educational Review*, 86(4), 550–575.
- Pham, L. (2018). A Review of key paradigms: positivism, interpretivism and critical inquiry.

 www.researchgate.net
- Pianta, R. C. (1999). Enhancing relationships between children and teachers. American Psychological Association.
- Pieper, I., & Thomson, C. (2016). Beneficence as a principle in human research. *Monash Bioethics Review*, 34(2), 117-135.
- Polit, B., Beck, C.T., & Hungler, R. (2001). Essentials of Nursing Research: Methods, Appraisals and Utilization. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2014). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice (9th ed.). Wolters Kluwer Health.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice (10th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.
- Pollock, D., Allard, S., Yan, A., & Parker, M. (2019). The Role of Data and Synthesis Centres in Convergence Research. Proceedings of the Association for Information, Science & Technology, 56(1),745-746, https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.158
- Ponelis, S. (2015). Using Interpretive Qualitative Case Studies for Exploratory Research in Doctoral Studies: A case of Information Systems Research in Small and Medium Enterprises, *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 535-550
- Poulou, M. (2017). Understanding students' emotional experiences: Evidence from a qualitative study. *Educational Psychology*, 37(8), 977–1001.
- Poulou, M., Reddy, L. A., & Dudek, C. M. (2018). Perceived teacher autonomy-support and emotion regulation strategies in middle school students: A multilevel examination of individual and classroom level effects. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1533.
- Poulou, M., Reddy, L. A., & Dudek, C. M. (2018). Relation of teacher self-efficacy and classroom practices: A preliminary investigation. *School Psychology International*, https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034318798045
- Powell, E. & Renner, M. (2003). *Analysing Qualitative Data. Madison*, WI: University of Wisconsin Extension, https://learningstore.uwex.edu/assets/pdf/12.pdf

- Ramanathan, V. (2005). Situating the researcher in research texts: Dilemmas, questions, ethics, new directions. *Journal of Language Identity and Education*, 4(4), 291-293.
- Rashidi, N., & Moghadam, M. (2014). The effect of teachers' beliefs and sense of self-efficacy on Iranian EFL learners' satisfaction and academic achievement. *The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language*, 18(2), 1-23.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Ball, D. (2003). The role of teacher leadership in improving student achievement in high-poverty schools: Insights from research and practice. In W. A. Firestone & C. Riehl (Eds.), *A new agenda for research in educational leadership* (pp. 451-475). Teachers College Press.
- Redmond, B, F. (2010). Self-Efficacy Theory: Do I think I can Succeed in my Work? Work Attitude and Motivation. The Pennsylvania State University.
- Redmond, B. F. (2010). Self-efficacy theory: Do I think I can succeed in my work? Work attitudes and motivation. State University.
- Redmond, M. R. (2010). The role of teacher leadership in improving student achievement in high-poverty schools. *Journal of School Leadership*, 20(5), 552–576.
- Richland, J. B. (2017). Teacher leadership and its role in fostering a positive school climate. *Educational Psychology Review*, 29(4), 649-670.
- Roorda, D. L., Koomen, H. M. Y., Spilt, J. L., & Oort, F. J. (2011). The influence of affective teacher–student relationships on students' school engagement and achievement: A meta-analytic approach.

 Review of Educational Research, 81(4), 493–529. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654311421793
- Rose, D., Sundberg, N. D., & Flint, R. (1999). On user studies and information needs. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, 50(12), 1151-1154.

- Ross, S. (1998). The psychology of learning and motivation: Motivation in learning and teaching.

 Academic Press.
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2005). Research methods for social work (5th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Rushton, S., Morgan, J., & Richard, M. (2007). Teacher's Myers-Briggs personality profile: Identifying effective teacher personality traits. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 432-441.
- Sargeant. J (2012). Qualitative Research Part II: Participants, Analysis, and Quality Assurance. *Graduate Medical Education*, 4(1), 1-3.
- Savin-Baden, M., & Major, C. H. (2010). New Approaches to Qualitative Research: Wisdom and Uncertainty. Routledge.
- Schlechty, P. C. (2012). Engaging students: The next level of working on the work (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Schunk, D. H. (1991). Self-efficacy and academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 26(3-4), 207-231.
- Schunk, D. H., & Meece, J. L. (2006). Self-efficacy development in adolescence. In F. Pajares & T. Urdan (Eds.), *Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents* (pp. 71-96). Information Age Publishing.
- Schwartz-Shea, P., & Yanow, D. (2012). Interpretive Research Design: Concepts and Processes.

 Routledge.
- Schwarzer, R., & Hallum, S. (2008). Perceived teacher self-efficacy as a predictor of job stress and burnout: Mediation analyses. *Applied Psychology*, 57(1), 152-171.
- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the Philosophical Underpinnings of Research: Relating Ontology and Epistemology to the Methodology and Methods of the Scientific, Interpretive, and Critical Research Paradigms. *English Language Teaching*, 5. http://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v5n9p9

- Senior, B., Hetvie, S., & Winful, V. (2018). The role of teacher leadership in promoting school effectiveness: A review of empirical evidence. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(4), 414-428.
- Shahzad, K., & Naureen, S. (2017). Impact of teacher self-efficacy on secondary school students' academic achievement. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 4(1), 48-72.
- Shahzad, S., & Naureen, S. (2017). Perceived teacher-student relationship, motivation, and academic engagement among high school students. *Journal of Educational Research*, 20(1), 1–14.
- Shakoor, R., Ghumman, A. R., & Mahmood, T. (2013). Role of teacher leadership in educational institutions' effectiveness. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 3(11), 181-186.
- Shamoo, A. E., & Resnik, B. R. (2003). Responsible Conduct of Research. Oxford University Press.
- Sharma, R. (2011). Teacher leadership in educational change: A case study of a secondary school in India. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 39(2), 188-205.
- Sharma, U., Loreman, T., & Forlin, C., (2011). Measuring Teacher Efficacy to Implement Inclusive Practices. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-3802.2011.01200.x
- Sharma, U., Loreman, T., & Forlin, C., (2011). Measuring Teacher Efficacy to Implement Inclusive Practices. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-3802.2011.01200.x
- Shaughnessy, M. F. (2004). Teacher leadership and its impact on student achievement. *American Secondary Education*, 32(3), 59–74.

- Shazadi, K., Khatoon, R., Aziz, I., & Hassan, Z. (2011). Role of head teacher in enhancing teachers' commitment to the organisation. *Academic Research International*, 1(1), 143-150.
- Shukla, S. (2014) Research An Introduction (Gujarati). Kshiti Prakashan
- Shukla, S. (2016) *Research Methods (Gujarati*). Kshiti Prakashan.
- Shukla, S. (2020a). Concept of Participants and Sample. Kshiti Publication.
- Shukla, S. (2020b) Research Methodology and Statistics. Kshiti Publications.
- Simon, M. (2011). Validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Curationis*, 16, 35-38.
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self-efficacy and relations with strain factors, perceived collective teacher efficacy, and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(3), 611-625.
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2018). Teacher stress and self-efficacy are predictors of engagement, emotional exhaustion, and motivation to leave the profession. *Creative Education*, 9(10), 1889-1906.
- Slonge, S. (2002). The role of teacher leadership in school improvement. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 30(2), 67–81.
- Smedley, S. A., & Pepperell, R. (2010). *Understanding research methods for evidence-based practice in health*. Routledge.

- Sox, H., & Rathod, S. (2012). Textual Plagiarism: How should it be regarded? *Education*, www.semanticscholar.org
- Stipek, D. (1998). Motivation to learn: From theory to practice (3rd ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Stoiber, K. C. (2011). Qualitative research and IRBs: Where should we go from here? *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(4), 287-301.
- Streubert-Speziale, H. J., & Carpenter, D. R. (2007). Qualitative research in nursing: Advancing the humanistic imperative. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Stroebe, M. S., Hansson, R. O., Stroebe, W., & Schut, H. (Eds.). (2001). Handbook of bereavement research: Consequences, coping, and care. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10436-000
- Stronger, J. (2010). Fostering teacher leadership in schools: Key factors and considerations. *Teachers and Teaching*, 16(6), 693-710.
- Strydom, H. (2011). Ethical aspects of research in the social sciences and human service professions.

 Oxford University Press.
- Suprayogi, M. N., Valcke, M., & Godwin, R. (2017). Factors influencing teachers' adoption and integration of information and communication technology into teaching: A review of the literature.

 *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 16, 451-490.
- Sutton. J. & Austin. Z. (2015). Qualitative Research: Data collection, Analysis management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy* 68(3), 226-231. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Teijlingen, E. R. V. & Hundley, V. (2001). The importance of Pilot Studies. Official Newspaper of the Royal College of Nursing, 16(40), 33-36

- Thanh, N. C. & Thanh, T. T. L. (2015). The interconnection between Interpretivism Paradigm and Qualitative Methods in Education, *American Journal of Education Science*, 1(2), 24-27.
- Tobin, G. A., & Begley, C. M. (2004). Methodological rigour within qualitative framework. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 48(4), 388-396.
- Tom, A., & Wycliff, A. (2021). The relationship between servant leadership and job satisfaction: The mediating role of psychological & Psychotherapy, 11(1), 3–6.
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research.

 Qualitative Inquiry, 16(10), 837–851.
- Trochim, W. M. (2006). The research methods knowledge base (2nd ed.). Atomic Dog Publishing.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teacher Education and Practice*, 17, 783-805.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, W. K. (2000). A multidisciplinary analysis of the nature, meaning, and measurement of trust. *Review of Educational Research*, 70(4), 547–593. https://doi.org/10.2307/1170781
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Johnson, D. (2011). Exploring literacy coaches' self-efficacy beliefs: Potential sources and effects. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(4), 751-760.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk, A. E. (2007). The influence of teacher efficacy on teaching: Enduring effects, change, and implications for teacher education. In J. B. Schunk & B. J. Zimmerman (Eds.), *Motivation and self-regulated learning: Theory, research, and applications* (pp. 143-164). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Tschannen-Moran, M., Woolfolk Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. K. (2008). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 202-248.
- Tseeke M. (2021). Teachers' Perceived Self-efficacy in responding to the needs of learners with Visual Impairment in Lesotho. *Southern African Journal of Education*, 41(suppl.2), 51-59.
- Tyler, T. (2006). Teacher leadership in high-needs schools: Assessing the impact on student achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 38(2), 210–228.
- Udofot, I. (2010). Teacher leadership in action: An exploration of teachers' perceptions. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 38(3), 303–319.
- Ustafa A., (2010), Research Methodology, A.I.T.B.S Publishers.
- Vallerand, R. J. (2010). On passion for life activities: The dualistic model of passion. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology*, 42, 97-193.
- Van de Mark, S. (2015). Teacher leadership in the 21st century: A case study of a high-performing, high-poverty urban elementary school. Teachers College Press.
- Van Wyk, M. M., & Lemmer, E. M. (2007). An investigation into the relationship between teacher leadership and school effectiveness. *South African Journal of Education*, 27(1), 25-39.
- Veal, A. J. (2013). Research methods for leisure and tourism: A practical guide (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Villegas, A. M., & Lucas, T. (2002). Educating culturally responsive teachers: A coherent approach.

 State University of New York Press.
- Walton E., & Engelbretcht P. (2022). Inclusive Education in South Africa: Path dependencies and emergencies. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1-19. Full article: Inclusive education in South Africa: path dependencies and emergences (tandfonline.com)

- Wang'eri, T., & Otanga, H. (2014). Sources of Personal Teacher Efficacy and Influence on Teaching Method among Teachers in Primary Schools in Coast Province, Kenya. *Global Journal of Interdisciplinary Social Science*, 3(3), 190-195.
- Ward, J. D., Tucker, T., & Hyndman, J. (2008). Teacher leadership and school improvement: Shifting paradigms. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 7(3), 283–307.
- Wayne, A. J., & Youngs, P. (2003). Teacher Characteristics and Student Achievement gains. A Review of Educational Research, 73, 89-122. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543073001089
- Weber, R. (2004). The Rhetoric of Positivism versus Interpretivism: A Personal View. *MIS Quarterly*. 28. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148621
- Wiens, T. W. (2019). Teacher leadership as a means for educational reform: The case of Alberta, Canada. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 47(1), 37–53.
- Williams. C. (2007). Research Methods. *Journal of Business and Economic Research*, 5(3), 65-72.
- Wong, L. P. (2008). Data analysis in Qualitative Research: A Brief Guide to Using Vivo. 3(1), 14-20. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Wood, P., & Goba, C. (2011). Understanding teacher leadership in primary science. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 22(5), 461-474.
- Woolfolk, A. (2004). Educational psychology (9th ed.) Allyn &Bacon.
- Woolfolk, A. (2007). Educational psychology (10th ed.). Pearson.
- Woolfolk, A. E., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Prospective teachers' sense of efficacy and beliefs about control.

 *Journal of Educational Psychology, 82(1), 81–91.

- Woolfolk, A., E., Hoy W., K., & Spero, R., B. (2005). Changes in teacher efficacy during the early years of teaching: A comparison of four measures. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(4), 343–356.
- Woolfolk, A.E., & Hoy, W.K. (1990). Prospective teachers' sense of efficacy and beliefs about control. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1), 81–91.
- Wubbels, T., Den Brok, P., van Tartwijk, J., & Levy, J. (2016). Interpersonal relationships in education.

 An overview of contemporary research. *Advances in Psychology Research*, 124, 219-245.
- Wyne, M., & Young, M. (2003). Transformational teacher leadership in primary schools. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 31(3), 273–288.
- Yosef, T., Assefa, T., & Zinabie, H. (2023). Psychological impacts of orphan-hood in Southwest Ethiopia. *Heliyon*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e1530
- Yost, R. (2002). "I Think I Can": Mentoring as a Means of Enhancing Teacher Efficacy. *The Clearing House: Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 75(4), 195-197.
- Yu-Liang, J. (2009). Teacher leadership and organisational commitment: The mediating effects of teacher empowerment and trust in principal. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 45(5), 655–689.
- Yussif. (2023). Positive Discipline: Why Is It Important in Classroom Management? https://classroomanagentexpert.com
- Zulkosky, K. (2009). Self-efficacy: A Concept Analysis. Nursing Forum, 44(2), 93-102.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Interview questions

Interview questions

- 1. Please tell me about your beliefs in your abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners?
- 2. Please describe what makes you believe that you can successfully teach orphaned learners?
- 3. How do your beliefs in your abilities as a teacher enable you to holistically support orphaned learners?
- 4. What strategies do you use to maintain a supportive learning environment for orphaned learners?
- 4.1 What strategies do you use to help orphaned learners to remain in school (retention of such learners?
- 4.2 What strategies do you use to help orphaned to achieve academic success?

The National University of Lesotho

Telephone: +266 22340601/3631

Fax: +266 22340000

http://www.nul.ls



P.O. Roma 180

Lesotho Africa

22nd March 2023

District Education Manager

Maseru

Lesotho

Dear Madam

Re: Request to collect data from Secondary schools in Maseru

Tsele Ishmael Setai is a Masters' student in the Faculty of Education, National University of Lesotho. One of the requirements of this programme is to conduct a study on topical issues in education. It is because of this requirement that he is conducting a study on Teachers' Perceptions of their Efficacy in Teaching Orphaned Learners in Maseru Secondary Schools. You are therefore requested to allow him to collect data from sampled schools. The sampled schools are attached therein for ease of reference.

Thank You in advance.

Mathedano

Regards,

Rets'elisitsoe Matheolane (PhD)



THE GOVERNMENT OF THE KINGDOM OF LESOTHO MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING – MASERU

P.O.BOX 47 MASERU 100

TEL:22322816

The principal

..... high school

Maseru 100.

11th April 2023

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: PERMISSION TO CARRY OUT RESEARCH STUDY

Permission is hereby granted TO **TŠELE ISHMAEL SETAI (Mr)** to undertake a study whose topic is – "Teacher Perceptions of their efficacy in teaching orphaned learners in Maseru Secondary schools".

It is the hope of the Ministry of Education and Training that the findings of this study will help it in its efforts to provide quality education.

I hope this will reach your favourable considerations.

Yours Sincerely

Teboho Moneri (Mr) - Regional Inspector Central

MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING REGIONAL INSPECTOR - CENTRAL

1 1 APR 2023

TEL: 22327916, P.O. BOX 47 MASERU 100 LESOTHO

APPENDIX D: L	etter to	the	princip	als
---------------	----------	-----	---------	-----

P.O Box 9907 Maseru 100 Lesotho

The Principal

Maseru

Lesotho

Date

Dear sir/madam,

Re: CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE STUDY

I, **Tsele Ishmael Setai**, am a Masters student at the National University of Lesotho. One of the requirements of my studies is that I complete a dissertation on topical issues in education. In line with this requirement, I am conducting a study on **Teachers' Perceptions of their Efficacy in teaching Orphaned Leaners in Maseru secondary schools**. A request to collect data for this study was approved by Regional Inspector Central in the Ministry of Education and Training. I therefore request two teachers from your school to voluntarily participate in this study. The information they will provide will be used for academic purposes only and their names and that of the school will be kept anonymous. Descriptions made will also be done in a manner that will not reveal their identity or that of their school.

Date	
Signature	

APPENDIX E: Consent letter to the participants

Qoaling
P.O Box 9907
Maseru 100

Maseru Lesotho Dear sir/madam

Re: CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE STUDY

I, Tsele Ishmael Setai, am a Masters student at the National University of Lesotho. One of the requirements of my studies is that I complete a dissertation on topical issues in education. In line with this requirement, I am conducting a study on Teachers' Perceptions of their Efficacy in teaching Orphaned Leaners in Maseru secondary schools. A request to collect data for this study was approved by Regional Inspector Central in the Ministry of Education and Training as well as the Principal of this school. I therefore request you to voluntarily participate in this study. The information you provide will be used for academic purposes only and your name and that of your school will be kept anonymous. Descriptions made will also be done in a manner that will not reveal your identity or that of your school.

If you agree to participate in this study, please sign on the spaces provided below				
Mr. T.I. Setai	Date			
Name of the participant	Signature			
Date	_			

APPENDIX F: Sample of Transcriptions

TEACHER 7 Transcription

Interviewer- "Please tell me about your beliefs in your abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners?"

Participant- "Yes I do believe in my abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners. This is because I ensure that all learners are treated the same. Recognizing that orphaned learners may come from diverse backgrounds, I tailor my instructions to meet these learners' needs. I employ teaching strategies, resources and materials to accommodate their learning styles and ensure that they receive personalized attention. For orphaned learners, I take the responsibility of identifying them and be aware of their orphan-hood if I am a class teacher. Therefore, my responsibility as a teacher is to make them feel that they are not orphaned as I teach them together with other learners and consider them the same as other learners in my class. When I group learners for discussion, I do not group orphaned learners in isolation but I group them together with other learners. This is to ensure that the orphaned learners do not feel isolated in class due to their orphan-hood. As a teacher, one must approach such learners taking into account their psychological problems and how they respond to things. Sometimes, when I assign orphaned learners to groups I realise that they are not happy and then I take the responsibility of finding out what the problem could be. I do this out of the classroom. Then, they will open up and tell me their problems and then I provide counselling regarding the said problems. So in a nutshell, I prepare them to be in one environment with other learners."

Interviewer- "You said there are instances where you find that these orphaned learners are not happy, so when you talk to them and realise that there are problems that emanate from home, how do you address those problems?"

Participant- "I pay attention to things that might hinder learners from learning. For example, if I notice one orphaned student sleeping in class, I walk up to the learner and request to talk with them outside the classroom without distracting the learning process. I then inquire if they had breakfast at home. If not, I go to the school kitchen and request food."

Interviewer- "And then, please tell me about your beliefs in your abilities to successfully teach orphaned learners?"

Participant- "I know that orphaned learners often face challenges at home and school that negatively affect their academic performance, so I am considerate in dealing with them. In my background, it is true that I had both parents while growing up, but lacking basic necessities and being poor groomed me to be able to work with such learners. This enables me to identify certain needs that a certain orphaned learner has. "

Interviewer- "And then?"

Participant- "I have raised orphaned learners and put them through school thus I know how such learners can miss their parents. The fact that orphaned learners have certain needs that their parents would provide for if they were still alive makes such learners miss them. Therefore, I see to it that I help such learners."

Interviewer- "And then?"

Participant- "I think they are all."

Interviewer- "Please describe what makes you believe that you can successfully teach orphaned learners?"

Participant- "The subject I teach, Life Skills Based Sexuality Education, has played a pivotal role in shaping my beliefs and efficacy in teaching orphaned learners. The topics covered in this subject are designed to cater to the needs of every learner, including those who are orphaned. Utilizing experiential learning methods, this subject equips me with the necessary skills to address these learners' unique challenges effectively. Through Life Skills Based Sexuality Education, I am committed to providing a supportive and inclusive learning environment, ensuring orphaned learners receive the guidance and understanding they deserve to thrive academically and emotionally.

Interviewer- What else?

Participant- "Even the Education Act enables me to teach the orphaned learners in all circumstances. Reading motivational books also enables me to teach such learners."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "Others include social media which gave me exposure to ways in which other people address the challenges that orphaned learners face as well understand the depth of orphaned learners' problems. This exposure enables me to be able to address different needs of orphaned learners and see to it that I help them.

Interviewer- "And then, please describe what makes you believe that you can successfully teach orphaned learners?"

Participant- "Education has enabled me to know how to approach the orphaned learners."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "Also, the community social groups that my mother works with shaped me to have empathy towards other people especially those that are vulnerable such as orphaned learners. Again the fact that my father grew up without a mother enabled me to be empathetic to orphans; in this instance orphaned learners and understand how they live as I understood my father's situation while growing up."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "My Confidence also helps me believe that I can teach and support orphaned learners. This confidence enables me to be proactive and address the myriad of challenges that orphaned learners may face. My belief in my abilities to teach orphaned learners instils confidence that I can master supporting orphaned and ensure their challenges do not negatively affect their academic performance. Moreover, being empathetic enables me to understand where orphaned learners come from and relate to their problems."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "I think I have exhausted them all."

Interviewer- "How do your beliefs in your abilities as a teacher enable you to holistically support orphaned learners?"

Participant- "My beliefs motivate me to create a conducive platform for orphaned learners to share their problems with me so that I can help them. The motivation that I get from such beliefs enables me to be able to assist orphaned learners where I can; regarding their different problems."

Interviewer- "What impact does this have on orphaned learners?"

Participant- "It has a positive impact because when I approach them they become comfortable, open and tell me everything such as the challenges that they may be facing. And then I apply counselling to such learners."

Interviewer- "And then?"

Participant- "It helps to be sociable because I am able to help raise funds for orphaned learners so that they have basic needs. When I am sociable to them, their welfare becomes good."

Interviewer- "And then?"

Participant- "I think I have exhausted them."

Interviewer- "What strategies do you use to maintain a supportive learning environment for orphaned learners?"

Participant- "One of the strategies I use is to create oneness amongst learners in the classroom thus they become a family and sympathise with each other. Where one learner encounters a certain problem, all learners in the class explore ways in which they can afford assistance to such a learner. I also encourage learners to join the Student Christian Movement so that they can be equipped on ways in which they can help each other and tackle some of the problems that they may have. I further encourage orphaned learners to join sociable clubs such as Science Club or Debate Club so that they feel as part of the school environment. When I assign class works or group work, I

ensure that orphaned learners do not become isolated as I group them with other learners. I also assign responsibilities to orphaned learners in order to ensure that they become integrated into the classroom and feel a sense of belonging. I also motivate orphaned learners in order to ensure that they keep up the good in different areas that they excel in. There is this one orphaned learner in my class who is very skilled with football and got an award. In order to encourage him, I paid for his quarterly fee as I noticed that such was not paid for.

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "I think they are all."

Interviewer- "What strategies do you use to help orphaned leaners to remain in school (retention of such learners)?"

Participant- "Sometimes times orphaned learners drop out of school because of school fees which they do not have money to pay for. Therefore, as teachers we ask for assistance from Social Welfare Department to pay their fees. When I am a class teacher, I make a request in the staff meeting to raise funds for such orphaned learners to pay their fees, buy them some of the things that they need such as shoes, jerseys, uniform and others. Again I stay in contact with their guardians in order to keep them at school. I also regularly meet with such learners to check up on them. When they are absent from school, I take the responsibility of making a follow up as to why they are not in school. Moreover, I ensure that in my class, all learners care for each other and do not discriminate against one another as they are one family in order to ensure that orphaned leaners have sense of belonging and remain in school."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- I am a lay counsellor and orphaned learners come to me and open up about their problems. After opening up about their issues, I can provide them with counselling to ensure that their issues do not negatively affect their academic performance and mental health. Therefore, being a teacher and a counsellor helps because I can give all learners, including orphaned, psychological support and ensure their academic success.

Interviewer- "What strategies do you use to help orphaned learners to achieve academic success?"

Participant- "I encourage orphaned learners to participate in extracurricular activities because when they excel, they get encouraged and motivated that they can also excel in the classroom. Moreover, I encourage orphaned learners to have home time tables that they can use to study while at home. Most of the time, such learners do not have books so I lend them mine and also print learning materials for them. I also make sure that they come early for morning study and also stay for the afternoon study. I encourage learners centred method where learners find things for themselves thus giving them exposure and the ability learn from their own findings."

Interviewer- "What else?"

Participant- "I encourage them to ask questions in class. I also look at areas where they excel and those where they struggle. In subjects where they struggle, I ask other teachers to give them extra work, remedial classes and regular feedback in order to enable them to master such subjects. In staff meetings, I talk about the orphaned learners to make other teachers aware of their situations. I think that is all."

Interviewer- "Those were the questions I had, thank you so much."

TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THEIR EFFICACY IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS IN SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN MASERU

ORIGINA	ALITY REPORT			
90 SIMILA	% ARITY INDEX	3% INTERNET SOURCES	1% PUBLICATIONS	7% STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMAR	Y SOURCES			
1	Submitt Student Pape	ed to Eiffel Corp	oration	7%
2	digitalco	mmons.liberty.	edu	<1%
3	ulspace.			<1 %
4	vital.sea	ls.ac.za:8080		<1 %
5	impact of mathem context	beer(Jones, D ar of using stories in atics teaching in ', Brunel Universite acation PhD The	n pre-school n the Saudi Ara sity School of S	abian
6	scholars Internet Source	scompass.vcu.ed	du	<1 %
7	stars.lib	rary.ucf.edu		<1%

The National University of Lesotho

Telephone: +26622340601 Fax: +26622340000 http://www.nul.ls



P.O. Roma 180 Lesotho Africa

lgmatee78@gmail.com/ lg.matee@nul.ls

Extension number: 3761

Faculty of Education

21st August 2023

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: Certification of Language Editing

This is to certify that **Tšele Ishmael Setai's** Master of Education thesis entitled "**TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THEIR EFFICACY IN TEACHING ORPHANED LEARNERS IN MASERU SECONDARY SCHOOLS**" has been language edited by Lihotetso Matee, an English Language Education lecturer in the Department of Language and Social Education, Faculty of Education, National University of Lesotho.

Thank you.

Lihotetso Matee (Department of Language and Social Education)